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The Mission of Arbor Acres
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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC,
May 2021

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Corporation)

Narrative Description of the Organization and Its Operation

The name of this organization is Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
(“Arbor Acres™). Its business address is 1240 Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, 27104.
Arbor Acres is a continuing care retirement community,

Affiliation(s)

Arbor Acres is the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC
(“Home Care”). Home Care was established to provide home care services to the residents of
Arbor Acres as well as individuals in Forsyth and surrounding counties.

Arbor Acres is organized under the sponsorship of the Western North Carolina Annual Conference
of The United Methodist Church. The extent of the affiliation between Arbor Acres and the
Conference is set out in a Statement of Relationship, a copy of which follows the narrative section
of this Disclosure Statement. The Conference is not responsible for the financial and contract
obligations of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres holds membership in LeadingAge and LeadingAge NC,
the national and state industry associations organized to support education, advocacy and research,

Non-Profit/For Profit Status

Arbor Acres is a North Carolina non-profit corporation, exempt from the payment of federal
income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Home Care is a limited liability
company that has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under the Internal Revenue Code (IRC)
regulations. Home Care is wholly owned by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care is considered a
disregarded entity under current IRC regulations.

Accreditation(s)
Arbor Acres is accredited through the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities
and the Continuing Care Accreditation Commission of LeadingAge.

FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Facility)

Narrative Description of the Facility and Its Operation

Arbor Acres is a non-profit continuing care retirement community providing a continuum of
residential accommodations. These include independent living facilities with 3 mid-rise residential
wings containing 76 units (studio, efficiency and one-bedroom connecting room units); 12
courtyard homes, 44 Stockton Building apartments, and 123 houses. The main building complex
contains the 3 mid-rise residential wings and the following support facilities: Business offices,
Piner Hall, Fitness Center, arts and crafts room, bistro, recreational areas, dining rooms, beauty
shop, several parlors, kitchens, housekeeping, laundry, and maintenance service areas,

In addition to independent living units and support facilities mentioned above, Arbor Acres also
has licensed beds in two arcas of the campus: Strickland Place at Fitzgerald (herein after referred
to as the Health Center) and the Asbury Place Building. Arbor Acres is licensed for 189 beds (83
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skilled beds and 106 Adult Care Home beds). Support facilities in the Health Center include
offices, family rooms, dining rooms, activity areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit
(SPA), and beauty shop.

Arbor Acres operates under the supervision of a Board of Directors responsible for the
establishment of operational policy. Daily operation of Arbor Acres is supervised by a President
and CEO. Operation of the facility is the immediate responsibility of 11 departments:
Marketing/Public Relations, Human Resources, Finance, Resource Development, Environmental
Services, Buildings and Grounds, Dining Services, Nursing, Chaplaincy, Wellness Services, and
Continuing Care.

Legal Description
Arbor Acres is a corporation chartered by the State of North Carolina.

Identification and Background of Officers, Directors, Management Staff. Owners Including
Addresses, and Professional Services

The present Officers and Directors of Arbor Acres, together with the principal business affiliation
and address of each, are as follows:

Board of Directors Principal Business Affiliation, Address
Ms, Pamela H. Ball Textile and Apparel Consultant, Retired
Board Chair 559 Westover Avenue

Mr. John W, Willingham
Board Chair Elect

Ms. Cynthia S. Graham
Secretary

Mr. Jack Lauer

Treasurer

Ms. LaTanya Afolayan

Mr. Samuel M, Black

M. Arthur L. Bloom

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

President, Indera Mills
P.O. Box 309, 350 W. Maple Street -
Yadkinville, NC 27055

Executive Director, Strickland Family Foundation
175 Warwick Green Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

CFO, Pine Hall Brick Company
3025 Lakeshore Drive
Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Vice Chancellor for University Advancement, WSSU
PO Box 30316
Winston-Salem, NC 27130

Retired from banking
PO Box 25185
Winston-Salem, NC 27114

Executive and Business Coach
123 S. Pine Valley Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104



Ms. Courtney H. Douglas Bustness Co-owner
2843 Bitting Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Ms. Christin M., Dunn Accountant
323 Windsor Qaks Court
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Dr. John Earle Resident
1244 Arbor Road, Box 458
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Mrs. Susan C. Elster Philanthropic Advisor, Winston-Salem Foundation
150 Plymouth Avenue
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Mr. Donald F. Eppert Resident
1352 Susanna Wesley Drive, #113
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Mr. David C. Hinton CPA; Business Owner
123 Fayette Street
Winston-Salem, NC 27101

Dr. Vincent W. Howell Pastor
230 Pennywhistle Lane
Clemmons, NC 27012
Ms. Carroll McCullough Resident

1244 Arbor Road #B-307
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Ms. Drewry H. Nostitz Philanthropist; Community Supporter & Volunteer
2820 Thornfield Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Mr. Chris Pearce VP IT/CIO, Forsyth Technical Community College
3238 Pennington Lane
Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Mr. J, Hill Stockton President, Norman Stockton
P.O. Box 5066
Winston-Salem, NC 27113

Ms. Wendy Walker-Fox Executive Director, Piedmont Triad Workforce Dev. Board

1398 Carrollton Crossing Drive
Kernersville, NC 27284

Ex Officio



Bishop Paul L. Leeland Residing Bishop, Western NC Annual Conference
The United Methodist Church
P. O. Box 18750
Charlotte, NC 28218

The Rev. Dr. Sam Moore District Superintendent, Yadkin Valley District
The United Methodist Church
1031 Reynolda Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Ms. Judy Reeder Resident Council President
1244 Arbor Road, Box 451
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Arbor Acres is managed on a day-to-day basis by Andrew W. Applegate, President/CEQ. Andrew
Applegate (License #NC2975) became President/Chief Executive Officer of Arbor Acres United
Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. on October 1, 2016. Previously he served as Vice President
and Executive Director of Asbury Solomons, Solomons, Maryland (2003-2016), the Evangelical
Lutheran Good Samaritan Society in various communities in Nebraska, Illinois and Florida (1989-
2003). Mr. Applegate is a graduate of the University of Nebraska at Lincoln (BA, Education,
Health Occupations Specialization), the University of Phoenix (MA, Organizational
Management), Southeast Community College (Nursing Home Administration Specialization) and
is an alumnus of the Larry Minnix Leadership Academy of LeadingAge.

Hannah Yoon (Administrator License # 2999) graduated from UNCG in December, 2011 with a
Bachelor of Science in Recreation and Parks Management. She studied abroad in Norway
through UNCG. She worked as a Recreational Therapist at Cypress Cove at HealthPark, then as
the Dementia Care Program Manager in Fort Meyers, Florida. She served as the Director of
ArborView our memory care unit, from October, 2014 until August, 2018. She began her
Administrator’s training here at Arbor Acres in 2017 and completed it in August of 2018.

Arbor Acres has no present intention of purchasing goods, leases or services of an aggregate value
of five hundred dollars ($500.00) or more within any year from any of the persons listed above or
any person having a ten percent (10%) or greater interest or beneficial interest in any professional
service, firm, association, trust, partnership or corporation which provides goods, leases or services
to Arbor Acres; nor is it intended that any of said persons shall provide goods, leases or services
to residents of Arbor Acres. In addition, no company has a 10% or greater interest in any person
listed. If any resident of Arbor Acres shall obtain any goods, leases or services from any of said
persons, it will be because the resident voluntarily elects and chooses to do so, not because the
doing of such business is intended by Arbor Acres or is expected of the resident, Atbor Acres does
not know the monetary value of such business, if any, as may be transacted between individuals
who happen to reside at the facility and firms or businesses owned or partially owned by
individuals who happen to serve as officers or directors of the facility, nor does Arbor Acres have
any information from which to make an estimate.

Criminal Violation Statement



To the best of the facility’s knowledge, based on information furnished to Arbor Acres by each of
the persons listed above, none has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a
felony charge, or been held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final judgment, if the felony or
civil action involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of property;
or is subject to a currently effective injunction or restrictive court order, or within the past five
years, had any State or federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an action
brought by a governmental agency or department, if the order or action arose out of or related to
business activity of health care, including actions affecting a license to operate a foster care facility,
nursing home, retirement home, home for aged, or facility subject to paragraph (3)c of G.S. Section
58-64-20(a)(3)(c) or a similar law in another state,

Location and Description of Physical Property

Arbor Acres is located on an approximately 82-acre site at 1240 Arbor Road in Winston-Salem,
North Carolina. On this property are the residential facilities described above in the Narrative
Description of the Facility and Its Operation.

Estimated Number of Residents

The number of residents is 526 (as of December 31, 2020) including 47 residents under the
Advantage Program.

POLICIES
Admission

Health Criteria: To be accepted as a resident, the applicant’s health must be such that the
applicant’s care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which
the person is requesting admission. For example, a person applying for admission to independent
living must be mentally alert, and able to meet his or her personal care needs without assistance or
supervision. The agreement entered into between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time
of the execution of the agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that the resident qualified for
residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to the resident’s mental and physical condition and the
resident's ability to take care of anticipated fees and charges. The agreement also provides that it
will be necessary for the resident to meet the Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for
residency at the time he or she becomes a resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that
if at that time the person is not mentally or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the
type contemplated under the agreement, but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted
Living) unit or in the Health Center of Arbor Acres, he or she will be entitled to such
accommodations at the facility as are appropriate to the person’s situation and needs, and are then
or later become available. Once admitted to Arbor Acres, a resident, from the standpoint of health,
may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services available can, in the
opinion of the facility’s medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by the resident. As a
resident’s needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a higher level of care
provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the facility.

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident and in order for residency to
continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees and charges associated
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with the living unit and level of care required by the applicant. Arbor Acres requires applicants to
provide a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through
their projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members
provide guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit
of Arbor Acres’ ability to provide. Residents whose resources are depleted during residency may
remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident’s family or other
interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Acres; or if the Arbor Acres’
financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts needed.
Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby creating a
financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance.

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider
purchase of long-term care insurance as a method of increasing available income once the applicant
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care.

Age Requirements: One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of Arbor Acres; provided,
that in the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is
60.

Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s)Applicable/Not Applicable/Time
Frame of Refund(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement and the date of
initial occupancy, an applicant’s financial condition changes affecting the applicant’s ability to
pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant is required to submit a new financial
statement. Improvement in the applicant’s financial position may alter previous commitments by
Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the applicant’s capacity to pay the
previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require reassessment of the applicant’s
ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a position to provide financial
assistance. If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any reason, the applicant is
entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with the provisions of the
agreement.

Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s):
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days
written notice, Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency if:

1. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis;

2. Resident's behavior (or that of resident’s family members, responsible parties, or others
specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or

3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed

or staffed to provide.

Termination of residency by Arbor Acres occurs only “as a last resort,” when it becomes clear that
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident’s responsible party has an
opportunity to be heard. On termination of residency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated
and an appropriate refund is made thereof, if any, within sixty (60) days. Provisions relating to
entrance fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements as follows.
Subject to the statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement
within thirty (30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit
under the terms of the agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two
9



percent (2%) per month for fifty (50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable
after a person has resided at Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months. The agreements further
provide that payment of the refund is to be made from the entrance fee received by Arbor Acres
from the next occupant of the unit. The calculation and payment of any refund to a person who has
become a resident is made in the same manner whether tetrmination of residency is voluntary, is at
the request of Arbor Acres, or is occasioned by death,

1.

If a resident dies before occupying a living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness,
injury, or incapacity a resident would be precluded from occupying a living unit in the
facility under the terms of the contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically
cancelled. Arbor Acres will refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency
agreement, and less any costs paid by Arbor Acres for resident-requested modifications
to a living unit, The refund will be provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor
Acres of all billable costs incurred by the resident.

In the event of the death of a resident following the occupancy of a living unit, Arbor
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $2,500 non-refundable portion as stated in the
residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of 2% per month for fifty (50)
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months
of residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee of that living unit, Arbor Acres
will refund to the resident or the resident’s cstate.

In the event of a resident’s vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety
(90) days of the resident’s move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy.

Moves: Provisions governing moves between levels of living are outlined in the residency
agreement. Independent living residential units (such as studios, apartments, houses) may not be
made available to a different or new resident except under the following circumstances:

1.

2.

If the resident terminates residency at Arbor Acres either voluntarily or at the request of
Arbor Acres for cause.

If the resident terminates occupancy of the unit by moving to another unit at Arbor Acres,
either because of a desire on the part of the resident to move or because of health
problems that necessitate a move to another type of unit, such as a studio unit (if the
resident resides in a house), Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or the Health Center,
Changing market conditions (specifically, increasing requests for larger apartments and
decreasing requests for smaller apartments) make it necessary from time to time for
Arbor Acres to convert or combine smaller units, When this must be done, Arbor Acres
occasionally finds that it can be accomplished only by having a resident move to another
unit to “free up” adjacent units for conversion, Should Arbor Acres find that it must have
a resident make such a move, the matter is thoroughly discussed with the resident and the
resident is shown the unit to which the resident is to move. Arbor Acres will make the
unit to which the resident is to move ready for occupancy, including any needed
refurbishment and will assist the residents with the move, all at the expense of the
facility.

4, If the resident dies.

In the case of a couple, the death or permanent transfer of one spouse to a different unit does not
affect the remaining spouse’s right to continue residency in the unit.

In Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or in the Health Center, Arbor Acres reserves the right to
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change one’s room from time to time as deemed by Arbor Acres to be necessary or appropriate.
Any such changes are made with due regard to the wishes and best interest of the resident as well
as Arbor Acres.

Marriages/New Second Occupant: If a resident marries while residing at Arbor Acres, the spouse
of the resident is expected to follow the facility’s normal admission procedure. Among the basic
factors for approval are:

1. Spouse of resident must be a least 60 years of age (i.e., older spouse must be at least 62;
younger spouse must be at least 60);
2. Physical condition must be appropriate to the level of care to which the person requests

entry and the care required must be within levels of care Arbor Acres provides;

Behavioral characteristics must be appropriate for group living at Arbor Acres;

4, There must be sufficient financial resources to enable the couple to meet financial
obligations, or their circumstances must be such as to qualify for financial assistance within
Arbor Acres’ policies and ability to provide.

[F8]

If the applying spouse is approved for residency at Arbor Acres and is to live in the same residential
unit with the resident, the applicable second person entrance fee will be required. If the applying
spouse is to live in a separate unit, an entrance fee is required. Regular monthly (daily in nursing
care and assisted living) fees and other charges would be in accordance with Arbor Acres’ regular
schedule for double occupancy, or individual occupancy, as appropriate.

If the applying spouse should not meet the requirements for residency, the applying spouse would
not be able to reside at Arbor Acres. As of the date of this Disclosure Statement, no applying
spouse has failed to meet the requirements.

Other than in the case of a spouse, there are no other provisions currently in place to permit
occupancy of a unit by a second occupant who was not party to the original residency agreement.

If a current resident marries another current resident who moves into the same accommodation as
the first resident, then the resident who is vacating his/her unit will be subject to the same refund
policy as a resident who is leaving Arbor Acres. That is, the vacating resident receives a prorated
refund at the rate of 2% per month for fifty (50) months. For example, if the vacating resident
moves in with the first resident after 12 months of residency, then Arbor Acres will retain 24% of
the entrance fee and the balance will be refunded. Accordingly, if the vacating resident has lived
in his/her residence for more than fifty (50) months, then there will be no refund provided as the
enirance fee has finished amortizing. The couple, now residing together in the first resident’s
accommodation, will begin paying the second person monthly fee for that residence.

Inability to Pay: 1f a resident should encounter financial difficulty through no fault of his/her own
while residing at Arbor Acres, the resident may apply for financial assistance. Arbor Acres has
limited financial assistance resources for this purpose. Also, in a number of cases there are
guaranty agreements between Arbor Acres and members of a resident’s family which make
possible the resident’s continued residence at the facility. Arbor Acres is unable to guarantee initial
or continuing allocations of financial assistance to a resident. As of the date of this Disclosure
Statement, it has not been necessary for Arbor Acres to require termination of residency for
financial reasons when the financial difficulty was not a result of decisions made by a resident or
resident’s representative.

Arbor Acres maintains an Assistance Endowment Fund, the income of which is available to Arbor

Acres for the assistance of residents who require financial assistance. As of December 31, 2020,
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the value of this Endowment Fund was approximately $17,800,000; and the income from it
constitutes one of the several sources of Arbor Acres’ annual assistance funds which currently
aggregate more than $1,400,000 a year. The other sources of assistance funds include an annual
Mother's Day Offering, and grants from wills, trusts, foundations and the Western North Carolina
Annual Conference of The United Methodist Church.

SERVICES

Standard Services Available:
Services provided by Arbor Acres are addressed in resident agreements; for example, agreements
for independent living residents specify the following;

1. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including unit occupied by resident (standard items
only)
2. Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer; telephone jack, but not

personal telephone handset or telephone service (telephone service, including long distance
is offered separately for a fee)

3. Basic cable television (not television set) and internet service

4, Emergency call system

5 Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs

6 Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance not included)

7. Limited in-patient temporary care (see Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified:
Temporary in-patient care)

8. Routine nursing assessment, consultation and services available Monday through Friday in
the clinic

9. Weekly housekeeping assistance

10.  Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres

11.  Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

12.  Dining service with meals or a meal allowance is included in the monthly fee
13.  Access to Medicare Certified skilled nursing beds based on qualifications for Medicare
Coverage after 30 days of Residence at Arbor Acres.

Agreements for residency in other units, such as houses, Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or
Health Care contain a list of services provided for residents in such units. Services currently
provided in Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) and Health Care are set out under those headings
below. Circumstances under which Arbor Acres’ services may be changed, modified or adjusted
are set out in the agreement.

Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified

Arbor Acres offers to residents in independent living the support services listed below which are
provided on an additional monthly charge basis. These services are designed to assist the
independent living residents with one or more activities of daily living. Residents will be allowed
to remain in independent living provided their needs can be met adequately within the specific
limits of these additional support services and provided the resident continues to meet all criteria
for independent living,

12



These additional support services are available as follows:

1. Laundry: Visit by an Arbor Acres Home Care of authorized agency home care staff
member to the resident's living unit at a scheduled time to check their clothing and to
gather clothes for laundering. Residents’ clothing are washed and ironed by the staff
member and returned to the resident the same day.

2. Bathing: Residents are scheduled for bathing as needed. Support is provided by a staff
member who remains with the resident while he or she takes a bath. Residents are bathed
either in their own home or taken to the Spa area in Asbury Place.

3. Transportation: to buildings and locations on or off campus within the city limits of

Winston-Salem/Forsyth County, 7 days a week.

Meal Delivery

Temporary in-patient care: The additional charge for temporary in-patient care is subject

to the following exception: There is no additional charge for the first five (5) days of

temporary care during any ninety (90) consecutive day period. These five (5) days can be

restored only upon completion of ninety (90) consecutive days after discharge from

temporary care without returning to and occupying a temporary care bed. Meals are

charged from the first day for those residents not on the meal plan. Temporary in-patient

care in the Health Center is subject to availability of rooms, In the rare event that a room

is not available for in-patient temporary care, Arbor Acres will make every effort to

ensure that the resident is provided with appropriate services in their home.

6. Supplies (such as syringes, dressings, etc) utilized by the clinic nurse in providing the
resident routine nursing services,

ook

Other services available at extra charge are:

1. Guest meals: Residents who are not on the meal plan and residents desiring to have
guests for meals may purchase meals at the established guest meal rate,

2. Guest accommodations: Guest accommodations are available to residents on a first come
first serve basis for an additional daily fee.

3. Personal Services: Individual personal services are available to residents at an additional
hourly rate.

4, Through Home Care residents may purchase sitter and nursing services.

For schedule of charges applicable at this time for services available at an extra charge.
ELITE Care

ELITE (Easy Living Including The Extras) is a level of care that is higher than full independent
living, but below the level of full Assisted Living. ELITE residents may require and are eligible to
receive a broad spectrum of services necessary to enable them to remain comfortable and safe in
independent living longer than would be possible otherwise. ELITE residents have access to the
following support services as needed: escort to meals and special events on an occasional basis,
escort to doctor appointments, daily medication reminders, order of medication and setting up of
medication boxes, monthly health evaluation by a nurse in a clinical setting, assistance entering
and exiting the tub/monitoring while bathing, personal laundry including ironing when necessary,
addittonal housekeeping, assistance with dressing, activity reminders, consultation about and
assistance with managing incontinence, daily home visits by trained ELITE staff members. See
page 20 for ELITE Care charges.

Adult Care Home (generally referred to as “Assisted Living™)
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Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) agreements specify the following services provided by
Arbor Acres:

1. Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private
duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and
limited assistance with activities of daily living

2. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including all standard equipment in the

accommodation

Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer

Basic cable television and internet service

Emergency call system, telephone jacks and assistance in emergencies

Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs

Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County

(transportation by ambulance not included)

8. In-patient infirmary care in the Health Center for a limited number of days

9. Daily housekeeping assistance

10. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres

11. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying, folding, not ironing).

12. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

N hE W

13. Food service (3 meals daily)

Health Services Available

Health Center agreements specify the following services provided by Arbor Acres:
1. Nursing care (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private duty or

individual nurse for each resident)

Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including room occupied by resident

Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer

Basic cable television and Internet access

Emergency call system, telephone jacks and assistance in emergencies

Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs

Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County

(transportation by ambulance, not included)

8. Daily housekeeping assistance

9. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres

10. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing)

11. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

12. Food service (3 meals daily and routine between meal nourishments). Note:
Administration of physician-prescribed gastric tube feeding included; cost of prescribed
food substitutes and supplements not included.

13. Social Work services

N v AW

Arbor Acres furnishes each Health Center resident a document entitled “Strickland Place &
Arborview at Fitzgerald Statement of Services and Related Charges.” The statement currently
reads as follows:
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Strickland Place at Fitzgerald of Arbor Acres provides a full range of nursing care and health
supportive services for cach resident. Strickland Place at Fitzgerald provides for Assisted Living
rooms and skilled nursing care, for which the facility is duly licensed by the State of North
Carolina. The following rates have been established for admission to and residency in Strickland
Place at Fitzgerald. Persons admitted directly to Strickland Place at Fitzgerald without having
previously resided at Arbor Acres must pay a $2,800 non-refundable entrance fee at the time of
admission. Charges for the first month of occupancy will be due at the time of admission and will
be prorated based on the number of days remaining in the first month of occupancy. Payments for
subsequent months will be due in advance at the first of each month. Payments may be made
between the first and the tenth of the month.

Residents pay a daily charge for services rendered by both licensed nurses and certified nursing
assistants. This daily charge also includes meals and clinical dietetic services, personal laundry
service, all utilities (except telephone), housckeeping, maintenance, and access to Arbor Acres
program activities and social services. Services rendered at Arbor Acres are not reimbursable
under the Medicaid program of the federal government. The restriction on Medicaid participation
was imposed by the State of North Carolina as a condition for the construction and licensing of
Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. The current room rates are as follows:

Skilled Nursing - $351.00 per day; Arborview (Dementia care) - $318.00 per day; and Assisted
Living - $213.00 per day (Studio); $248.00 per day (one bedroom apartment). Excluded from the
daily room rate are charges for pharmacy services, personal medical supplies, personal care
products, beauty/barber shop visits, physician services, dental services, podiatry services and
services rendered by a licensed therapist as part of an individualized program of rehabilitation.
Arbor Acres is a certified Medicare facility, therapy services are covered under Medicare Part A
and Part B.

Therapy services are provided under Medicare Part B benefits and there are some limitations. The
therapy provider advises residents about the coverage under Medicare and what must be private

pay.

Our staff physician schedules weekly appointments in Strickland Place at Fitzgerald and arranges
for emergency physician services 24 hours a day. Residents may use the services of our staff
physician or may select another personal physician who will come to Arbor Acres on a monthly
basis and perform the services required by state licensure. The resident will be fully responsible
for all physician services charges which they may incur, including the Medicare deductible and
co-payment.

Medical supplies, pharmaceutical services and some personal care produects are provided for all
residents of Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. Enrollment in these programs will assure maximum
efficiency and security in the administration of resident’s medications, and availability of needed
supplies on a continuous basis. A list of current charges is available upon request. All medications,
medical supplies and personal care products will be billed monthly to each resident either by the
facility or the provider of the service.

The maintenance fee (whether stated on a monthly or daily basis) is payable in advance each
month; all charges incurred during a month are billed at the end of the month, All fees and charges
are normally included in one monthly statement and are payable in full promptly upon receipt of
statement. An itemized statement may include medical supplies, oxygen, beauty/barber shop
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charges, personal care products, guest meals, special activities and guest room or guest house
charges. Payment is requested within 10 days. A late payment charge of 1.5% per month,
computed from the statement date, will be made on any amount not received within 30 days of the
statement date.

Residents are responsible for continuing payment of the daily rate during absences from the
facility. This is necessary in order to assure the availability of a bed upon returning. Fees for
services during the last month of occupancy will be prorated and any remaining unused days of
care will be refunded to the resident or to the resident's estate.

Personal Services Available

Other services available for which there is no additional charge include an optional daily check-in
system, check cashing services, package shipping, access to washers/dryers, complete kitchens
and sitting areas. Services available through Arbor Acres may be added or deleted from time to
time, Charges for services may be adjusted periodically as found necessary by Arbor Acres.
Normally such adjustments are made as part of the facility’s annual budget preparation process.

Home Care Services Available
Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (doing business as Arbor Acres at Home) allows residents to age
in place at home in familiar and comforting surroundings. The program provides a suite of a la
carte, in home services that help residents maintain their highest level of independence possible
while receiving the care they need, providing such services as:
» Assistance with grooming, dressing and household chores
Bathing or other personal hygiene assistance
Cleaning out closets
Laundry and linen care
Shopping
Sitter services
Administration of IV medication
Education about a new medication or help with medication administration
Wound care
PICC lines, trachs, feeding tube and port care
Emergency assistance around the clock
Arbor Acres at Home is not covered by Medicare but may be covered by individual residents’
long term care insurance. Rates vary by type of service provided.

® & o & & o & » 2

FEES

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable
Arbor Acres’ application fee is $100.00 ($200.00 for a couple); it is non-refundable.

Entrance Fees

Independent Living - Payment of an Entrance Fee provides the resident with the lifetime use of a
residence. If at such time a move may be necessary due to need for a higher level of care then the
residence would be released back to Arbor Acres. At the time the resident makes application for
residency at Arbor Acres, the resident will sign a Residency Agreement to reserve the residence
selected and will pay the Entrance Fee deposit. The balance of the Entrance Fee will be paid upon
the earlier of (i} occupancy, to (ii) five days prior to the Occupancy Date stated in the Residency
Agreement.
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Licensed Areas (Assisted Living and Skilled Nursing): Only residents who move to licensed areas
who are not already residents of Arbor Acres pay a one-time entrance fee of $2,800. Current
residents pay no additional entrance fees when moving from their independent living residences.

Monthly and Daily Fees

Independent Living - Residents pay monthly fees to cover services and amenities, tncluding a
declining balance meal plan, weekly housekeeping, linens and towels, cable TV, campus-wide
wireless internet, maintenance and personal security devices.

Licensed Areas - Daily fees in assisted living and skilled nursing cover services, including all
meals, medication management, laundry service, activities, cable and wireless internet.

Second Person Fees: Independent Living - A second person coming into an independent living
residence pays a one-time Entrance Fee of $10,000, and an additional $1,013 per month.

Entrance Fees for residential units are refundable, less $2,500 (85,000 if two persons enter under
one residency agreement) and less 2% a month for the first 50 months of residency. Skilled Nursing
and Assisted Living entrance fees are non-refundable except as specified in the residency
agreement, Monthly fees are non-refundable; however, because fees are paid in advance, fees will
be prorated to the last day of occupancy and a refund of the balance paid to a resident in the event
of termination of residency.

For Temporary Care stays beyond the five (5) day period, the daily rate is $351.00.

Home Care rates apply only to those residents living in independent living who have the need for
the specific service offered. Through utilization of those services, residents are able to continue
living in an independent unit rather than having to move to a higher level of care. Rates arc as
follows:

Medication Management $198.00 per month

Skilled Nursing visits $ 60.00 per visit

Sitter Services $ 21.00 per hour (minimum of two hours)
CNA Sitter Services $ 24.00 per hour

Home Care Aid visits $ 31.00 ~37.00 per hour

Meal rates for guests and for residents not on the meal plan are priced “a la carte.” Lakeside Dining,
The Arbor Room, Asbury Dining, and Fitzgerald/Strickland Dining offer print menus with weekly
specials. Pricing information is printed on daily menus.

Guest House/Guest Roomt rates are:

Guest Room — Studio (includes breakfast)
1 Person $105.00 per night
Each Additional Person  $ 10.00 per night
Guest Room - 1-Bedroom (includes breakfast)

I Person/2 Persons $110.00/$118 per night
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F I NAN C IAL IN F O RMATIO N 2 0 2 1 Independent Living

SQUARE ENTRANCE
RESIDENCE TYPE FOOTAGE FEE MONTHLY SINGLE FEE
Studios and One-Bedroom Apartments Monthly fee includes meal plan and utilities
Studio 315 $43,000 $1,889
One-bedroom with Kitchenette 630 $110,250 $2,755
One-bedroom Corpening with Kitchen 630 $113,400 $2,808
Stockton Apartment Building Monthly fee includes meal plan and utilities
A (One-bedroom, One Bath) 991 $183,335 $2,747
B (One-bedroom, One-and-a-half Bath, Den) 1,160 $214,600 $3,040
C-1 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,217 $225,145 $3,229
C-2 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,397 $258,445 $3,425
C-3 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,500 $277,500 $3,621
D-1 {Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,592 $294,520 $3,913
D-2 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,602 $296,370 $3,958
D-3 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,728 $319,680 $4,211
E-1 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,982 $366,670 $4,371
Second Resident $10,000 additional $1,013 additional
Basement Garage Parking o , ,J“L:),t :f fed Jor all
Homes Monthly fee includes meal plan
One-bedroom, One Bath <1,200 . upto $241,000 $2,594
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,200-1,399 $241,200-281,200 $3,187
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,400-1,599 $281,400-321,400 $3,412
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,600-1,799 $321,600-361,600 $3,822
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,800-1,999 $361,800-401,800 $4,267
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 2,000-2,199 $412,000-452,995 $4,512
Two-bedroom, Two Bath >2,200 ] $453,200+ $4,905
Second Resident . $10,000 additional $1,013 additional
Patio Homes Monthly fee includes meal plan and utilities
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,326 $266,526 $3,100
Second Resident $10,000 additional - $1,013 additional
Courtyard Homes Manthly fee includes meal plan and utilities
One-bedroom, One Bath 1,060 $213,060 $2,986
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,187 - $238,590 $3,172

Second Resident $10,000 additional $1,013 additional

THE MINIMUM AGE TO ENTER ARBOR ACRES IS 62. Continues on back



LIVING WITH ASSISTANCE
IN ASBURY PLACE

For people who benefit from daily support to achieve bay windows, kitchenettes, walk-in closets, and
maximum well-being, Asbury Place, a licensed assisted beautiful outdoor areas. Residents also benefit from
living facility, delivers a rewarding residential experience. professional nursing oversight, daily assistance
Asbury Place affords residents an independent lifestyle from certified professional caregivers, medication
supported through the provision of discrete accessible administration, and the pleasures of active social
services. One-bedroom and studio apartments feature engagement, recreation, and fine dining,
RESIDENCE TYPE ENTRANCE FEE DAILY FEE
Asbury Place Assisted Living Daily fee includes meals, laundry and utilities
Studio : $2,800 7 $213 per day
One-bedroom Apartment : $2,800 $248 per day
Two-bedroom Apartment ! $2,800 $294 per day
Second Person — Assisted Living ~ $2,800 $172 per day
Studio
Bedroom, bath, foyer
BEDROOM .
oA ¥ 45ig T ———
- 2= 1Bedroom
; é 1 Bathroom
'FOYER | (< »
C y 4 5|5u X 8‘7": : ¢ N 453 Sqllal'e feet
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BEDROOM - LIVING ROOM
178" % 138" 12 12 x 13'8"
One-Bedroom
Bedroom, bath, kitchenette, living room
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BATH 7= ETTE
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541 square feet
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ARBORVIEW

For people who experience significantly compromised
cognition, Arborview at Fitzgerald offers comprehensive
memory care support and a flexible, attentive, and
beautifully orchestrated way of life. Licensed as an
assisted living level of care, Arborview features devoted
and highly trained employees who enhance fun, alleviate
stress, engage the mind, foster community, respect the
dignity of, and deliver comfort to residents and their
loved ones.

Residents enjoy private rooms and an environment
that offers them light, uplifting energy, and beauty that
is both enriching and soothing to the senses. Safe and
secure outdoor areas serve as seamless extensions of the

interior’s lovely ambiance,

Arborview
Memory Care

B IR

Private Room

Entrance Fee
Daily fee includes meals,
laundry and utilities

$318 per day

Strickland Place at Fitzgerald offers compassion and
quality of life to people who daily require the highest
level of personal and professional service from certified
nursing assistants and registered nurses. Residents enjoy
private rooms filled with personal furnishings that reflect
their tastes and generate for them an enriching sense

of home. Strickland Place delivers a warm, spacious,
and comforting environment, resplendent with nature’s
healing energies, that preserves dignity and provides
both hope and peace of mind to residents and

their families.

Strickland Place
Skilled Nursing Care

Private Room

Entrance Fee ‘ $2,800

Daily fee includes meals,

d
laundry and utilities #351 peraqy




Additional Services

Additional housekeeping services, such as
cleaning attics and closets, polishing silver
(other than annual cleaning, personal
laundry)

Transportation to non-medical locations
within Winston-Salem city limits, e.g.
hairdresser, bank, attorney appointments, etc.
This service is available during regular
working hours only. (Transportation to
medical appointments is included in monthly
charge.)

Escort services for  medical/dental
appointments for residents other than those in
licensed areas.

Services outside those included in the
monthly charge, i.e. hanging shelves, putting

furniture together, rearranging furniture, non-
level-of-care moves (i.e. house to Stockton).

Meal Delivery

Notification of Fee Increase(s)

Charge
$20.00 per hour

$38.00 per hour

$9.50 per 15 minutes or $38.00 per hour

$43.00 per person, per hour
$10.75 per person, per 15 minutes

$7.75

Arbor Acres may increase fees or may otherwise adjust periodic charges and fees as determined
necessary by the Board of Directors in order to maintain the desired quality of service and to
operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, non-profit basis. Proposed adjustments in charges and
fees are normally made if, and to the extent, found necessary in the course of preparing an annual
budget; then, upon approval by the Board of Directors, are implemented at the beginning of the

upcoming fiscal year,

Changes in Fees for the Previous Five Years

A five-year history of adjustments in Arbor Acres’ most common room fees is reflected on the

following page.
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC,
FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF ROOM FEES

2018 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Five Year History
CHG CHG CHG CHG CHG
QOccupancy FROM % FROM % FROM 9% FAOM % FROM % |AVGS AVG%
Classification RATE| RATE PREY Change{ RATE PREV Change| RATE PREV Change| RATE PREV Change| RATE PREV Change|Change CHANGE
Studic (3 mea's/day) 2,305 | 2,372 67  2.9%| 2,443 71 3.0%| 2,529 86  3.5%)] 2,554 25  1.0%| 2,580 26 10%| 55 2.3%
Studio Efficlency (3 meals/day) 2,367 | 2,436 65  2.9%] 2,509 73 3.0%| 2,557 88 3.5%| 2,623 26 1.0%| 2,649 26 10%| 56 2.3%

Connecting room Suite {3 meals/day} | 3,080 | 3,169 89 2.9%| 3,264 95  3.0%| 3,378 114 3.5%) 3,412 34 1.0%| 3,446 4 L0%| 73 2.3%
Corpening -one bedroom apartment 2,509 | 2,582 73 2.9%| 2,659 77 3.0%| 2,752 93  3.5%] 2,780 28 1.0%{ 2,808 28 1.0%| 60 2.3%

One Bedroom House
Restdents prior to 1/1/01 {no meals) | 1,923 | 1,979 56 2.99%] 2,038 5% 3.0%| 2,109 71 3.5%| 2,168 59  2.8%| 2,229 61 28%| 61 3.0%
Residents after 1/1/2003 2,237 | 2,302 65 2.9%] 2,371 69 3.0%| 2,454 B3 3.5%| 2,623 69 2.B%| 2,554 71 28% 71 3.0%

One Bedroom Bayberry Courtyard Homd 2,575 | 2,650 75 2.9%] 2,730 B0 3.0%[ 2,826 96  3.5%| 2,905 7% 2.8%| 2,586 81 2.8%| 8z 3.0%
Two Bedroom Bayberry Courtyard Hom{ 2,737 { 2,816 79 2.9%[ 2,500 84  3.0%| 3,002 102 3.5%, 3,086 84 2.8%] 3,172 B6  28%| 87 3.0%

Two Bedroom House [ess than 1400 sf
Residents prior to 1/1/01 (no meals} | 2,404 | 2,474 70 2.9%| 2,548 74 3.0%| 2,637 8%  3.5%| 2,711 74 2.8%| 2,787 76 2B%| 77 3.0%
Residents after 1/1/2001 2,749 | 2,829 80  2.9%) 2,914 85  3.0%| 3,016 102 3.5%| 3,100 84 2.8%| 3,187 87 2.8%| 88 3.0%

Two Bedrogm House 1400 sf to 1599 sf}
Residants prior to 1/1/01 (no meals) | 2,631 2,707 76 2.9%] 2,788 81  3.0%| 2,886 98  3.5%| 2,967 81  2.8%) 3,050 B3 2.8%| 84 3.0%
Resldents after 1/1/2001 2,944 | 3,029 85 2,9%| 3,220 91 3.0%| 3,229 109 3.5%| 3,319 90 2.8%) 3,412 93 28% 99 3.0%

Two Bedroom House 1600 sf to 1799 sf)
Resldents prigr to 1/1/01 (no meals) | 2,982 3,068 86  2.9%| 3,160 92 3.0%f 3,271 111 3.5%| 3,363 93 2.8%| 3,457 94  28%| 95 3.0%
Residents after 1/1/2001 3,297 | 3,393 96  2.9%| 3,495 103 3.0%| 3,617 122 3.5%| 3,718 101 2.8%) 3,822 104 2.8%| 105 3.0%

Twe Bedroom House 1800 sf to 1999 sf)
Residents prior to 1/1/01 {no meals) | 3,365 | 3,463 98  2.9%| 3,567 104 3.0%| 3,692 125 3.5%| 3,795 103 2.8%! 3,901 208 2.8%| 107 3.0%
Residents after 1/1/2001 3,680 | 3,787 107 2.8%( 3,901 114 3.0%]| 4,038 137 3.5%| 4,151 113 2.8%| 4,267 116 2.8%} 117 3.0%

Two Bedroom House 2000 sf to 2199 sf)
Residents prior to 1/1/01 (no meals} | 3,577 3,681 104 2.9%| 3,791 110 3.0%| 3,924 133 3.5%]| 4,034 110 2.8%| 4,147 113 2.8%| 114 3.0%
Residents after 1/1/2001 3,892 | 4,008 113 2.9%| 4,125 120 3.0%| 4,269 144 3.5%( 4,389 120 2.8%| 4,512 123 28%| 124 3.0%

Two Badroom House over 2200 sf
Residents prior to 1/1/02 (no meals) 3,915 | 4,029 114 2.9%| 4,150 121 3,0%( 4,295 145 3.5%| 4,415 120 2.8%| 4,539 124 2.8%| 125 3.0%

Residents after 1/1/2001 4,230 | 4,353 123 2.9%| 4,484 131 3.0%]| 4,641 157 3.5%| 4,771 130 2.8%| 4,905 134 2.8%) 135 3.0%
Stockton Apartment - 851 sf 2,369 | 2,438 69 2.9%| 2,511 73 3.0%| 2,h99 88  3.5%| 2,672 73 2.B%| 2,747 75 28%] 78 3.0%
Stockton Apartment - 1,160 sf 2,622 | 2,698 76 2.9%| 2,779 Bl 3.0%| 2,875 97 3.5%| 2,957 81 2.8%]| 3,040 83 2.8%| 84 3.0%
Stockton Apartment - 1,217 sf 2,785 [ 2,866 81  2.9% 2,952 86 3.0%| 3,055 103 3.5%| 3,141 86 2.8%| 3,229 88 28%| 89 3.0%
Stockton Apartment - 1,397 sf 2,954 | 3,040 86 2.9%| 3,131 91 3.0%( 3,241 110 3.5%| 3,332 91 2.8%| 3,425 93 2.8%| 94 3,0%
Stockton Apartment - 1,500 sf 3,123 | 3,214 91 2.9%] 3,310 96 3.0%| 3,426 116 3.5%| 3,522 96 2.B%; 3,621 99 2.8%| 100 3.0%
Stockton Apartroent - 1,592 sf 3375|3473 98 2.9%| 3,577 104 3.0%]| 3,702 125 3,5%]| 3,805 104 2.8%| 3,913 107 2.8%( 108 3.0%
Stockton Apartment - 1,602 sf 3,414 | 3,513 99 2.9%| 3,618 105 3.0%)| 3,745 127 3.5%] 3,850 105 2.8%| 3,958 108 2.8%[ 109 3.0%
Stocktor Apartment - 1,728 sf 3,632 | 3,737 105 2.9%| 3,849 112 3.0%| 3,984 135 3.5%; 4,096 112 2.8%| 4,211 115 2.8%| 116 3.0%
Stockion Apartment - 1,982 sf 3,771 | 3,880 109 2.9%] 3,996 106 3.0%| 4,135 140 3.5%) 4,252 116 2.8%| 4,371 119 2.8%| 120 3.0%
Assisted Living-Studio 841 191 7 3.8% 199 8 42%| 203 4 2.0%| 207 4 2.0% 213 6 29%| 6 3.0%
Assisted Living-one Bedroom 214 | 222 8 3.7%| 231 9 41%| 236 5 2% a1 5 2% 248 7 29%| 7 3.0%
Assisted Living - MemoryCare Unit 29z | 303 11 3.8%] 318 15 5.0%| 318 G 0.0%| 318 0  0.0% 318 o 00% & 17%
Skilled - Private 292 | 303 11 3.8%) 318 15 5.0% 331 13 41%| 341 10 3,0%| 351 W 29%| 12 1.8%

NOTE: The above rates are based upon one person accupancy in all residential type units. Qur overall rate structure also provides
for two-person occupancy in all types of independent living residential units. The rate structure also provides for
meals for those pre 1/1/2001 residents In Houses If the resident elects that option. Rates for post 1/1/2001/resldents in housas
and all Stockton Apartment residents include $343 worth of meals per month. All rates shown are monthly rates except
Skilled Nursing and Assisted Living rates which are dally rates.
All rates are adjusted annually and are effective lanuary 1st of each respactive year, No rates have been adjusted other than annually for any year presented.



Arbor Acres
The Advantage Program

Arbor Acres offers a Residency option to those who may not want to physically reside on our
campus. This program is called “The Advantage Program.” The Resident can continue to live in
his/her current home but have access to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living, Skilled Nursing and other
health care programs. The Advantage Program is offered to residents of Forsyth County, NC and
surrounding counties in convenient proximity to Arbor Acres,

This residency status allows one to become a Resident of Arbor Acres with access to the campus
amenities, and ensures access to future health care services as needed, while remaining in his/her
cutrent home and retaining his/her position on our waiting list for a potential future move to our
campus at a later date. Residents who join The Advantage Program may also move into Arbor
Acres if they so choose. Once one becomes a Resident of Arbor Acres, whether living on campus
or through the Advantage Program, he/she has equal access to all common areas of campus, equal
standing as members of the Residents Association and equal access to Arbor Acres’ health care
facilities.

POLICIES
Admission

Health Criteria: To be accepted as a resident, the applicant’s health must be such that the
applicant’s care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which
the person is requesting admission. A person applying for admission to The Advantage Program
is considered an independent living resident and must be ambulatory, mentally alert, and able to
meet his/her personal care needs without assistance or supervision. The agreement entered into
between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time of the execution of the agreement, Arbor
Acres has determined that the resident qualified for residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to
the resident’s mental and physical condition and the resident's ability to take care of anticipated
fees and charges. The agreement also provides that it will be necessary for the resident to meet the
Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for residency at the time he/she becomes a physical
resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that if at that time the person is not mentally
or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the type contemplated under the agreement,
but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) unit or in the Health Center
(Skilled Nursing) of Arbor Acres, he/she will be entitled to such accommodations in the facility
most appropriate to his/her situation and needs. Once admiited to Arbor Acres, a resident, from
the standpoint of health, may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services
available can, in the opinion of the facility’s medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by
the resident. As a resident’s needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a
higher level of care provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the
facility.

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident of The Advantage Program and in
order for residency to continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees
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and charges associated with The Advantage Program. Arbor Acres requires applicants to provide
a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through their
projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members provide
guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit of Arbor
Acres’ ability to provide such assistance. Residents whose resources are depleted during residency
may remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident’s family or
other interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Actes; or if the Arbor
Acres’ financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts
needed. Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby
creating a financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance.

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider
purchase of long-term care insurance as a method of increasing available income once the applicant
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care.

Age Requirements. One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of The Advantage Pro gram.
In the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is 60.

Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s)Applicable/Not Applicable/Time
Frame of Refund(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement such as The
Advantage Program and the date of initial occupancy on campus, an applicant’s financial condition
changes affecting the applicant’s ability to pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant
is required to submit a new financial statement. Improvement in the applicant’s financial position
may alter previous commitments by Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the
applicant’s capacity to pay the previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require
reassessment of the applicant’s ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a
position to provide financial assistance, If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any
reason, the applicant is entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with
the provisions of the agreement.

Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s):
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days
written notice. Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency if*

1. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis;

2. Resident's behavior (or that of resident’s family members, responsible parties, or others
specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or

3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed

or staffed to provide.

Termination of residency by Arbor Acres occurs only “as a last resort,” when it becomes clear that
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident’s responsible party has an
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opportunity to be heard. On termination of residency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated
and any appropriate refund is made thercof within sixty (60) days. Provisions relating to entrance
fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements, Subject to the
statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement within thirty
(30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit under the
terms of the agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two percent
(2%) per month for fifty (50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after a
person has participated in The Advantage Program with Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months,
The calculation and payment of any refund to a person who has become a resident is made in the
same manner whether termination of residency is voluntary, is at the request of Arbor Acres, ot is
occasioned by death,

1. If aresident dies while a participant in The Advantage Program or before occupying a
living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or incapacity a resident
would be precluded from occupying a living unit in the facility under the terms of the
contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically cancelled. Arbor Acres will
refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency agreement. The refund will be
provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor Acres of all billable costs incurred by
the resident.

2. In the event of the death of a resident as a participant of The Advantage Program, Arbor
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $1,000 non-refundable portion as stated in the
residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of 2% per month for fifty (50)
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months
or residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee in The Advantage Program,
Arbor Acres will refund to the resident or the resident’s estate.

3. Inthe event of a resident vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety
(90} days of the resident’s physical move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy.

4. Entrance fees paid to Arbor Acres under The Advantage Program will be counted toward
any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres for a residence should the Advantage
Program participant elect to move into the physical campus.

Inability to Pay: If a resident should encounter financial difficulty while participating in The
Advantage Program with Arbor Acres, there are guaranty agreements between Arbor Acres and
members of a resident’s family which make possible the resident’s continued participation in the
program.
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SERVICES

Standard Services Available:
Services provided by Arbor Acres while participating in The Advantage Program are addressed
in resident agreements. An overview of the benefits is listed below:

1. An annual health and wellness assessment.

2. Access to recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs.

3. Limited in-patient temporary care in Arbor Acres skilled nursing facility. Arbor Acres
Nursing and Continuing Care staff will assist with admission to and discharge form
Arbor Acres’ licensed facilities, including skilled nursing and assisted living. Residents
pay the standard per diem for residency beginning on the day of admission.( This does
not appear in this document

4. Arbor Acres fitness center — complete access to our fitness center, consultation with our
wellness staff, a variety of exercise and wellness classes and development of a personal
health and fitness plan.

5. Arbor Actes dining and catering facilities — No monthly fee required. Each member pays
only for any food purchased.

6. Nursing consultation in our onsite medical clinic — At no additional charge, residents may
visit the Clinic as needed and receive support and guidance over the phone as well.

7. Support and guidance during a health care crisis. Arbor Acres Continuing Care staff is
available when needed for consultation and assistance with navigating the broader health
care system.

8. Coordination of and access to Licensed Home Care services in the resident’s home.
Residents pay prevailing rates for these services.

FEES

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable
Arbor Acres’ application fee is $100.00; it is non-refundable.

Entrance Fees

The Advantage Program entrance fee is $12,500 per resident. On the day of execution of The
Advantage Program Residency Agreement, $1,000 of the single residency fee becomes
nonrefundable. The balance amortizes at a rate of 2% per month until the total amount paid
becomes fully nonrefundable. The entire amount of the entrance fee paid may be applied to the
amount of any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres in the event The Advantage Program
resident elects to physically move to Arbor Acres campus.

Monthly Fees

The monthly fee per resident is $400.00, This covers costs associated with utilization of
programs, services, facilities and amenities, support staff and dining. It does not include the cost
of any meals.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Financial Overview Statement

Arbor Acres has relied upon gifts, pledges and bequests, and upon funds received from entrance
fees to cover most of the cost of construction, equipment, land improvements, other
extraordinary expenses, debt amortization and accumulation of reserve funds. Secondly, Arbor
Acres generally relies upon periodic fees and charges from residents to support the cash
requirements for operations.

On June 10, 2010 Arbor Acres obtained a tax-exempt bond issue (series 2010 Bonds) in the form
of a Bank Qualified loan to be withdrawn as needed up to $28,875,000. The Bank Qualified loan
was issued for the purpose of new construction of 8,500 square feet, 12-bed addition to
Arborview (Dementia Care) and for new construction of an 117,000 square feet Assisted Living
Building to contain 72 beds, new kitchen and dining areas, a new Physical Therapy space and a
new Community Life space for programming. The series 2010 Bonds consist of variable rate tax
exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap at 3.333% per annum. Principal and interest is
payable monthly with a final maturity date of January 1, 2038.

In June, 2015, Arbor Acres entered into a construction loan agreement with a commercial bank
to provide financing for the renovation of the skilled nursing facility, Strickland Place at
Fitzgerald. In 2019 the construction loan was refinanced and an additional $1,000,000 was drawn
to finance construction of a new bistro dining space in independent living. The 2019 Bank Loan
consists of a $8,450,000 taxable loan amortized over 15 years with a maturity date of September
15, 2034. Interest is payable monthly at a variable rate of 1.15% over the 30 day LIBOR, and
reset monthly with a fixed rate swap with a rate of 2.865%. Principal and interest are payable
monthly.

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement
Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement
Community) Series 2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds”) were issued to refund the outstanding North
Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding
Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series 2007 (the “Series 2007 Bonds”).
The Series 2016 Bonds consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap
at 2.914% per annum. Principal and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly with a
final maturity of January 1, 2031,

As required by G.S. 58-64-30, a comparison of Actual Results with Forecasted Projections as of
December 31, 2019 follows the financial section of this Disclosure Statement.

Reserves, Escrow and Trusts

As of the end of 2020, Arbor Acres had unrestricted cash and investments of $29,721,117,
investments funding operating rescrves of $7,400,000, and restricted cash and investments for
purposes other than financial assistance of $713,000. The restricted investment includes a
$500,000 endowment, the income from which helps support the operating expense of a
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swimming pool and spendable restricted funds to support a number of smaller ongoing projects
on campus. '

The facility expects to have a reserve requirement of $7,598,500 based on the 2021 Forecast.
The building of these reserves will continue in future years and will be accomplished primarily
through the receipt of entrance fees, contributions, and bequests from wills and trusts. These
projections show the achievement of an increasing operating reserve fund (projected at
$10,609,250 at December 31, 2025) which will enable Arbor Acres to maintain the reserve
requirements of G.S. 58-64-33 during the period of this forecast. The achievement of this reserve
requirement is predicated upon Arbor Acres being subject to the 25% reserve requirement based
upon the facility’s anticipated occupancy of units exceeding 90%. The facility’s occupancy is
projected to be approximately 94-96% for existing independent living units and 94% for new
independent living units after stabilization during this five-year period.

In addition to the investments discussed above, Arbor Acres had $18,081,965 of financial
assistance funds in place at the end of 2020. Of that amount, $17,788,956 constituted the
Assistance Endowment Fund; the balance constituted funds available for assistance to residents.
These are funds which are used to provide charitable assistance to residents who otherwise
would not be able to afford residency at Arbor Acres.

Investments of funds are currently managed by an investment advisor, Alex Brown, a division of
Raymond James. These funds are invested in separate accounts cach consisting of a variety of
funds including US equities, International equities, Fixed income bond funds, a Real Estate Fund
with UBS and an alternative fund. Investment fund accounts specifically for Assistance
Endowment resources are segregated from non-financial assistance amounts. Future investment
strategies will depend upon future investment opportunities and market conditions. One fund
account includes the operating reserve fund. Investment strategies will be reviewed continuously,
and as the amount of money available for long-term investment changes, the diversity of
investment vehicles utilized by the facility is likely to change.

Overall policies and decisions relative to the magnitude of reserve funds and the investment of
reserve funds and financial assistance funds are under the direction of the Investment Committee
of the Board of Directors. In 2015, Arbor Acres engaged Alex Brown, a division of Raymond
James, to act as its Investment Manager. As the Investment Manager, Alex Brown has the
authority to exercise security trades as established by the Investment Policy parameters. Within
the parameters of these policies, specific investment decisions may be authorized by any two of
the persons holding the positions of Chair, Vice Chair, Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer
(provided one of the two is Treasurer or Chief Financial Officer). All of the above positions are
held by board members with the exception of the Chief Financial Officer. David W. Matthews,
Chief Financial Officer, is the only individual in the direct employment of Arbor Acres who is
included in this investment decision authorization. Mr, Matthews holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Accounting from The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (1995). Mr. Matthews
is a Certified Public Accountant licensed in North Carolina (1999). His experience includes 17
years in public accounting, serving as a Senior Manager with a national accounting firm and
seven years working in the hospitality and senior living industries as Controller and CFO.

28



An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee receipts to the extent
and as required by applicable statutes. A copy of the Escrow Agreement follows the financial
section of this Disclosure Statement,

Facility Development/Expansion

The Board of Directors in 2019 approved a Core Facilities renovation plan that calls for
independent living expansion and replacements of aging structures.

Arbor Acres is planning an Independent Living expansion on its current campus located at 1240
Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, NC. The expansion involves the addition of two hybrid villa
apartment buildings adding a total of 56 new units at completion. The project is expected to
feature connectivity to the existing independent living common areas, including dining venues
and meeting spaces. The apartment buildings are planned to include covered parking on the
ground floor with apartments above, with unit sizes ranging from 1575 to 1935 square feet.
Construction material is anticipated to be steel and concrete. Amenities will include indoor and
outdoor gathering areas and each building will have two elevators. Arbor Acres has engaged
SFCS Architects to produce all architectural plans and drawings related to the project. Arbor
Acres plans to start construction in July 2021, with a planned completion in early 2023.

Arbor Acres continues to invest in its facilities to improve their appearance, functionality, and
marketability. Occasionally, older houses that prove difficult or too costly to renovate are
removed and replaced with new construction. Likewise, aging apartment buildings are constantly
under renovation in order to improve the livability and marketability of smaller residential
offerings. The eventual renovation and/or replacement of these aging structures remains part of
the strategic master facilities plan, though no specific plans are in place to advance these
initiatives in the foreseeable future.

Completion of Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement
An Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement was completed and included with Arbor
Acres’ 2021 disclosure filing to the North Carolina Department of Insurance.

OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE

Arbor Acres is not the subject of any existing bankruptcy filing, receivership, liquidation or the
like. The facility has historically been exempt from property taxes and remains exempt under
current statute which bases the degree of exemption upon the amount of charity care and
community benefit provided by the facility.

ATTACHMENT I
Current Audited Financial Statements

Arbor Acres operates on a fiscal year which coincides with the calendar year and the financial
records of the facility have been audited annually. Arbor Acres selected Dixon Hughes Goodman,
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PLLC, as its independent auditor for fiscal year beginning January 1, 2004 and anticipates
continuing this relationship through at least 2021. Audited figures for 2020 are included in the
financial section of this Disclosure Statement.

ATTACHMENT 2

Five Year Projection Statements
Five year projections are included in the financial section of the Disclosure Statement.

ATTACHMENT 3

Escrow Agreement
An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee receipts to the extent

and as required by applicable statutes.

ATTACHMENT 4

Resident's Agreements/Contracts
Copies of standard resident agreements for each type of unit available in the facility are inserted

in the back of the Disclosure Statement and were filed with the Disclosure Statement submitted
annually to the North Carolina Department of Insurance.
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STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP

1HES STATEMENT OF RETATIONSHIP i3 made and effective as of the day of
August 28, 2018 by and between the Western North Carolina Annual  Conferenve of the United
Methodist Church {the “Confercnce™) snd Atbor Acres United Methodist Rotircmont
Commuuity, Ing., & nonprofit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the $tate of

North Carolina (the “Affiliated Organization™),
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Conference is one of the annual conferences of The United Methodist Church. The
term “The Unlted Mothodist Chureh® refets to the overall denomination and eonscctional
relation and identity between its many local churches, the various conferences and their
reapective councils, boards and agencies, and olher church units, which colloetively constitute
the religious system known as United Methodism. Under the Constitution and disciplinery
procedures set forth in The Book of Discipline of The United Methodist Church (the
“Discipling "), *“The Unitcd Methodist Cluirch” as & denominational whole is not an entily, nor
does it possess legal capacities and ativibutes. it does not and cannot hold title to property, nor
does it have any offiver, agent, employee, office or location. Conferences, councils, bourds,
agoncies, local churches and other units bearing the name “TInited Methodiat” are, for the most
part, legal entities capable of suing and being sued and possessed of logal capacities,

The connecticnal structure of the Church is maintained through the conferences. Bach of
the Apoual Conferences (of which the Conference is one) is composed of an equal number of
ministers and lay members elected by the local churches. In tum, thare i3 one Genersl
Conference, compiosed of an equal number of ministers and lay members elected by the Annyal
Conferences. The Discipline is the book of law of the Church. The Discipline is the product of
more than 200 years of the Goneral Conferehces of the denominations which now form, the
Church, Fach General Conference amends, perfects clarifies, and adds its ewn contribution to
the Discipline. The Dzsczpline reflects what is expected of its laity and clorpy as they seek to be
effoctive witnesses in the world as 4 part of the whole Body of Christ, (See pamgraph 114 of the
1992 Discipline). The relationship set forth in this Statement of Relationship is solely and
exclusively between the Conferenco and tho Affiliated Organization.

United Methodiats give high priority o helping and healing ministries as a vital part of
their Christian mission. In the United Stato alone, there ure hundreds of helping and healing
programs related (o local churches, and there ace also hundreds of Institutional ministrics of
“which the Affilisted Organization is one, United Methodists recognize the importance of
operating, maintaining and protecting those institytional ministrics s a vital means of carrying
out the Christiun tission of Unitcd Methodism, The health and welfare ministrics cmbraced
within this mission include services in the areas of child care, aging, heslth oare and
handicappitg conditions.

United - Methodists, the Conforénce and the vatlous institutional ministrics sharc a
cornmon inforest that health and welfare ministries bearing the name United Methodist shall be
demonstrably caring, quality missions of Christisn service that operate in 4 manuer consistent
with the Social Principles and other portinent provisions of the Diseipline,

WRD (L) 4272321 2v1
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The Affiliated Organization is onc of the health and wolfare iministries of United
Methodism within the houndaries of and affiliated with the Conference. The Affiliated
organization was organized with the encoursgoment and epprovel of the Conderence by
individvals members of the Church who were committed to the belief that the Affiliated
Organization was needed to perform the ministry set forth in its charter (the “Ministry”), The
Conlerence und the Affilialed Organizalion continue in that belicf, The Mipistry is among the
Christian missions of United Methodism and of the Conferenca,

The purpose of this Stutement of Relationship is to set {forth an accurale statement of the
relationship between the Conference and the Affitiated Organization.

NOW, THERIT'ORE, the Conferenos covenants and agrees with the Affiliated
Organization and the Affiliated Orpanization covenants enid agrees with the Conference that this
Statement of Relationghip, including the foregoing Preliminary Statement, is. an accarate
statement of the relationship betwsen the Corfrence and the Afiiliated Organization,

COVENANTS

T, Although the Conference and the Affiliated Organization share & common interest in
varrying out the Christian mission of United Methodism and in the purposcs of the Ministry of
the Affilisted Organization, the Conference and the Affiliated Organization are separate, self-
govereing and independent. Neither is owned by the other nor is eiiher the partner or agent of the
other, ‘Lhe sole purpose of each of the parties in affiliating with the other as heretn set out is that
each belisves this effiliation with the other is mutually beneficial 1o parties in the performance of
their reapective missions of Christian scrvige, The partics horcto aproo that under this affiliation:

1) The members of the governing hoard of the Affiliated Organization shall be confirmed,
elevied undior selected by the Conference, stbject to the ariicles of incotporalion and
bylaws, present and future, as amended from time to time, of the Affiliated Organization,
The governing board of the Affiliated Organization includes among ity members both
United Melhoflist ministors and laity within the Conforcnce, and may includo other
persons pd provided in {ts charter or bylaws,

b) The Conterence provides: (1) encouragement and support, including {inancial support to
the extonit deetmed appropiate and feasible by the Confetence; (i) opportunities for the
interchange of information and ideas among persons and institutions performing similar
work and fur the development of the Minstry goals and etiteria; (iff) authotization for the
Affilinlcd Orgenization to identify itself as an orpanization affiliated with the

- Conference; and (iv) an opporiunity for the Affiliated Organization to repott on the
Mindstry to each regular session of the Conference,

¢) The Affiliated Organization undertakes: (1) to fulfill its mission of Christian service in a
tanner that is consistent with the Soclal Principles and other portinent provisions of the
Discipling, and nceeplable to those whom it world serve and to members of the Church in
the Conference; and (i) to the extent it deerns appropriate, to utilize services of the
Confetenice and the Church availablo to the Affiliated Organization in performing its

Ministry.
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d) The Affiliated Organization, desixous of guining muximum benelt from ils aftilistion
with the Confercnes and to satisfy the Conference thet it continues to opetate 10 a manner
worthy of a United Methodist ministry, will continue o provide to the Conference such
of the tollowmg us may be requested or desired by the Conderence: (f) information. that
may be of interest to other similar minigiries; (if) copies of mgular operational and
financial reports; and. (iii) other information regarding plans, services and mindstries of

the Afliliated Organizatlon

2, The Conference is not contracinally or legally committed to provide any particular level
or amount of financial support to the Affiliated Orgtmie:a,lmn Any support that the Conferénce
does or may provide to the Affiliated Orpanization is, and shall be, voluntary, as determined,
from. time to time, solely by the Conference. The Conference has no authority to require the
Affiliated Otfgunization to assume any conirectual, financial or other oblipation; nor may the
Conforense accopt or assume eny such obligation in the name of the Affiliated Organivation,
Similarly, the Affiliated Organization hds no authority to uecept or assume any such obligation in
the pume of the Conforonee, Both agres thet the Conference shall have no abligation or
responsibility for or with respect to any coniract, commitment or lizbility of the Affiliated
Organization. '

3, Chureh-wide solicitations (thet is, solicttations addressed to the general membership of a
local church) within or through local United Methodist churches of the Conference are not to be
made by the Affilisicd Organization except as herctofore or heresfier approved by the
Conference or the resident bishop. Other solicitations, such as solicitativis of individuals and
entities, whether or not church members or church-related, are mattors between the Affiliated
Orpanization and the parties solicited and do net require the approval of the Conference.

4, If the affiliation between the Confirence and the Afflialed Organization should at any
time beeome tnaceeptable to them, or to one of thero, they or either of them may sever the
affiliation hetween them and thereafler operate entirely independently of the other. If action to
sever the relationship is takon by ong pacty only, that party shall give pronipt written notice of
the soverance of the reletionship to the other party.

5, In the event of the dissolution of (he Afliliated Organization, its assets may be conveyed
to the Confetence or as otherwisc provided n the artleles of incorporation, as amended from time
to time, of the Affiliated Organization,

6, This Statement of Relationship shall he sulyject to review and amendment et such times
and in such manmer as may be mutwally agrecable to the Conlerence and the Aftiliated

Qrganization.

[ Signaiure Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, cach of the parlies hereto hus cumed fhis Statement of
Relationship 1o be executed invits name on the date set opposite its name below,

CONFERENCE.:

WHSTIRN NORTH CAROLINA ANNUAL
CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED METIIODIST

Namc Dr, R. Mk ing

Title: Tressurer, Wasters Notth Carolina
Conference of The United Methodist Church

ATFILIATED ORGANIZATION:

ARBOR  ACRES UNITED METHODIST
RETIREMENT COMMUNITY;, INC.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Directors
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Winston-Salem, NC

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Arbor Acres United Methodist
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate (collectively, the “Company”), which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated
statements of operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the changes in
net assets and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Report on Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The supplemental schedules listed in the foregoing table of contents are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Dxen Hughes Cocduan L7

Charlotte, NC
April 14,2021
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2020 and 2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable
Current portion of unconditional promises to give, net
Prepaid expenses
Current portion of assets limited as to use

Total current assets

Non-current assets:
Assets limited as to use;

Board designated for:
Assistance endowment
Capital projects

Donar restricted for:
Resident assistance
Assistance endowment
Other specific purposes

Operating reserve requirement

Bond trustee

Total assets limited as to use
Less: current portion

Total assets limited as to use, less current portion
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts
Other long-term assets
Interast rate swap asset

Property and equiprent, net

Total nhon-current assets

Total assets

See accompanying notes.

2020 2019
$ 3,674,579 3,289,587
18,746,538 14,154,736
798,196 638,870
- 30,560
360,402 376,378
82,147 91,343
23,561,862 18,581,474
6,720,732 5,348,200
2,520,013 2,520,013
292,909 71,609
11,068,224 9,362,006
713,000 742,033
7,400,000 7,281,500
82147 91,343
28,797,025 26,416,704
(82,147) (91,343)
28,714,878 26,325,361
1,449,495 1,344,561
121,062 121,063
- 25,689
86,632,859 89,275,332
116,918,295 117,092,108
$ 140,480,157 135,673,580
(continued)



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, inc. and Affiliate

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2020 and 2019

(continued)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Accrued interest payable

Estimated refundable entrance fees

Unearned grants

Current maturities of fong-term debt

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Refundable deposits
Deferred revenue from entrance fees
Long-term debt, less current maturities
Liability for interest rate swaps
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions

With donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notes.

2020 2019
$ 1,428,657 $ 1,104,043
1,277,798 1,111,570
99,102 96,093
326,290 379,540
393,488 -
2,009,000 1,822,000
5,534,234 4,613,246
110,640 54,360
32,815,790 32,626,558
39,226,395 41,197,169
5,349,599 2,507,538
77,512,424 76,385,625
83,046,658 80,998,871
43,909,871 43,123,840
13,623,628 11,550,869
57,433,499 54,674,709
$ 140,480,157 $ 1358673580




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets

Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Revenue, gains, and other support;
Contributions
Resident fees
Home Care revenue
Entrance fees earned
Investment incorne, net
Other

Net assets released from restrictions
Total revenue, gains, and other

support

Expenses:
Medical and personal care
Food service
Facility services
Utilities
Resident services
Administration
Human resources
Home Care expensas
Marketing and development
Depreciation
Interest
Total expenses

Operafing income

Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Loss on disposal of property
Net realized gain on investments
Unrealized loss from interest rate swaps
Change in value - perpetual trusts
Net unrealized gain on investments

Excess of revenues over expenses

Other changes in net assets;
Net assets released from restrictions -
capital

Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

See accompanying notes.

2020
Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
447,096 2,283,433 2,730,529
27,470,175 - 27,470,175
1,122,936 - 1,122,936
5,066,033 - 5,066,033
663,513 194,402 847,915
668,534 - 668,534
1,395,362 (1,395,362) -
36,823,649 1,082,473 37,906,122
7,784,638 - 7,784,638
5,224,653 - 5,224,553
5,387,810 - 5,387,310
1,335,960 - 1,335,960
1,317,508 - 1,317,506
3,334,621 - 3,334,621
541,637 - 541,637
1,040,499 - 1,040,499
1,043,134 - 1,043,134
7,440,475 - 7,440,475
1,423,198 - 1,423,198
35,874,031 - 35,874,031
949,618 1,082,473 2,032,091
(245,034) - {245,034)
164,665 81,151 245 816
(2,867,750) - {2,867,750)
- 104,834 104,834
2,730,210 758,623 3,488,833
731,709 2,027,081 2,758,790
54,322 (54,322) .
786,031 1,972,759 2,758,790
43,123,840 11,550,869 54,674,709
43,909,871 13,523,628 57,433,499
(continued)



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(continued)

Revenue, gains, and other support:
Contributions
Resident fees
Home Care revenue
Entrance fees earned
Investment income, net
Other

Net assets released from restrictions
Total revenue, gains, and other

support

Expenses:
Medical and personal care
Food service
Facility services
Utilities
Resident services
Administration
Human resources
Home Care expenses
Marketing and development
Depreciation
Interest
Total expenses

Operating income

Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss on disposal of property
Net realized gain on investments

Unrealized loss from interest rate swaps

Change in value - perpetual trusts
Net unrealized gain on investments

Excess of revenues over expenses

Other changes in net assets:

Net assets released from restrictions -

capital
Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

See accompanying notes.

2019
Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
480,455 2,108,366 § 2,586,821
26,797,467 - 26,797,467
366,428 - 366,428
5,548,279 - 5,548,279
717,768 224 110 941,876
126,925 - 126,925
1,364,198 {1,364,198) -
35,401,518 966,278 36,367,756
7,563,386 - 7,563,386
5,049,401 - 5,049,401
5,369,550 - 5,369,550
1,377,707 - 1,377,707
1,386,260 - 1,386,260
3,170,530 - 3,170,530
569,783 - 569,783
490,502 - 490,502
903,806 - 903,896
7,191,588 - 7,191,588
1,505,662 - 1,505,592
34,578,195 - 34,578,195
823,323 066,278 1,789,601
{42,191) - (42,191)
(731,488) - {731,488}
1,840,990 722 936 2,563,026
(1,912,359) - (1,912,369}
- 143,071 143,071
1,702,383 409,693 2,112,076
1,680,648 2,241,978 3,022,626
158,518 {158,518} -
1,839,166 2,083,460 3,922 626
41,284,674 9,467,409 50,752,083
43,123,840 11,550,869 $ 54,674,709




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Operating activities:
Change in net assets $
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depregiation
Loss on disposal of property
Realized and unrealized gain on investments
Perpetual trusts contributions
Change in value perpetual trusts
Contributions restricted for long-term investment
Entrance fees and deposits received
Amertization of entrance fees
Amortization of deferred costs
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps
Changes in operating assets and liabilities;
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Unconditional promises to give
Other leng-term assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Refundable deposits
Unearned grants

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Proceeads from disposal of property and equipment
Increase in investments
Increase in assets limited as to use

Net cash used by investing activities

2020 2019
2,758,790  $ 3,922,626
7,440,475 7,191,588

245,034 731,488

(3,734,649) (4,676,002)

- (1,201,590)
(104,834) {143,071)

(1,088,308) (250,173)
5,592,488 6,872,546

{5,066,033) (5,548,279)

47,949 48,720

. 42,191
2,867,750 1,912,369
{159,326) (296,499)
15,976 (71,938)
30,560 235,533
- (1)

156,589 369,399
169,235 253,829
56,280 6,897
393,489 -
9,621,465 9,399,623
(4,877,461) (6,587,647)
2,350 -
(857,153) (530,490)
(2,380,321) (1,710,401)
(8,112,585) (8,828,538)

See accompanying notes,

{continued)



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

and Affiliate

(continued)

Financing activities:
Proceeds from loan
Payment for financing costs
Payment on long-term debt
Refunds of entrance fees and deposits
Contributions restricted for long-term investment

Net cash used by financing activities

Change in cash and cash squivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning

Cash and cash equivalents, ending

Supplemental information:
Interest paid

Unit customization fee, included in existing
unit entrance fees and deposits

Non-cash activities:
Purchase of property and equipment in
accounts payable at year-end

See accompanying notes,

2020 2019
$ -~ $ 8,700,000
- (110,411)
{1,921,723) (9,444,094)
(390,473) (287,698)
1,088,308 250,173
(1,223,888) (892,030)
284,992 (320,945)
3,289,587 3,610,532

$ 3574579 $ 3,289,587
$ 1,372,240 § 1,401,467
$ 279,364  $ 601,141
$ 375,798  $ 207,873




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (“Arbor Acres”} is a non-profit corporation that operates
a continuing care retirement community in Winston-Salem, North Caroiina, providing residential, personal, and
medical care to its residents. Arbor Acres is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation
Facilities—Continuing Care Accreditation Commission.

In November 2018, Arbor Acres became the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC
{"Home Care"). Home Care operations began during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Basis of accounting and presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP).

The Company classifies its net assets as net assets with or without donor restrictions:

» Net assets without donor restrictions — resources of the Company that are not restricted by donors or
grantors as to use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from operations,
undesignated gifts, and the investment in property and equipment.

+ Net assels with donor restrictions — resources that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Some
donor imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the passage of time or
actions of the Company. Other donor-imposed restrictions stipulate that donated assets be maintained
in perpetuity, but may permit the Company to use or expend part or all of the income derived from the
donated assets.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arbor Acres and Home Care (collectively, “the
Company”). All material intercompany accounts and transactions have besn sliminated in consolidation.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding those classified as investments and assets whose use is limited, include cash
in banks, cash on hand and investments in highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or
less when purchased. The Company maintains its cash in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally
depository insurance (FDIC) limits. Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits is minimal.

Investments

investments in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities are measured at fair value based
on quoted market prices. Investment in certain alternative investments are recorded at net asset value. Net
investment gain (loss) is reported in the consolidated statement of operations and consists of interest and investment
income, realized and unrealized gains and losses, less external investment expenses. See Note 3 for further
discussion of fair value measurements.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts are recorded when the Company is notified of the trust's existence and the
necessary information to measure the interest is available. The arrangement is recognized as a donor-restricted
contribution to revenue and as an asset, measured at fair value. Annual distributions from the trust are reported as
investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net assels on the consolidated
statements of operations and change in net assets. See Note 4 for further discussion of charitable trust
arrangements.

Assets limited as to use

Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the Board of Directors for specific purposes, asseats
restricted by donors for future capital improvements and resident assistance, assets limited under state statute and
assets limited under trust agreements for debt service.

North Carolina General Statute Chapter 58, Article 84, requires continuing care retirement communities to maintain
an operating reserve equal to a statutorily required percentage of total forecasted operating costs {less certain
expenses) for a specific period. This operating ressrve is not Board-controlled and cannot be used without the prior
approval of the commissioner of the North Carolina Depariment of Insurance pursuant to GS § 58-64-33(c). At
December 31, 2020 and 2019, this reserve totaled $7,400,000 and $7,281,500, respectively.

Assistance endowment funds include donor restricted funds and amounts designated by the Board of Directors. The
Company uses certain board designated net assets and the earings from certain restricted net assets for assistance
to residents.

Fair value measurements

Fair value as defined under GAAP is an exit price, representing the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
Company utilizes market data or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
GAAP establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used when measuring fair value.
These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined
as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3,
defined as unobservable inputs about which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop
its own assumptions.

The Company has adopted the provisions of the fair value option for financial assets and financial liabilities, which
permit entities to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. The fair value option (i)
may be applied instrumsnt by instrument, with certain exceptions, {ii) is irrevocable (unless a new election date
occurs} and.(iii) is applied only to entire instruments and not to portions of instruments. The Company elected the
fair value option for investments and assets limited as to use, and as such these securities are treated as trading
securities. Unrealized gains or losses are reported within the performance indicator, excess of revenues over
expenses,

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable consists of resident accounts receivable, Medicare and other third party payers, and other
miscellaneous receivable amounts. Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount management expects to collect.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Donated property is recorded at its
estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Interest on borrowings used to finance the facility is capitalized during
construction. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line methed based on the following estimated useful lives:

Land improvements 20 years
Buildings 10 to 40 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years

Debt issuance costs

Debt issuance costs include underwtiter fees, feasibility studies, modification fees and other professional fees. Debt
issuance costs have been recorded as a deduction against the related debt and are being amortized using the
straight-line method over the lives of the various debt issues, which approximate amortization computed using the
effective interest method.

Refundable deposits

Refundable deposits represent the portion of the payment of parking and golf cart fees that will be refunded to the
resident when parking or golf carts fees are no longer required.

Donor restrictions

Gifts of cash and other assets are reported as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit
the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or a
purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor
restrictions and reported in the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets as net assets
released from restrictions.

Gifts of property and equipment (or other long-lived assets) are reported as support without donor restrictions unless
specific donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit
restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire
long-lived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those assets
must be maintained, expirations of donor resttictions are reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets
are placed in service.

Interest rate swaps

The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in interest rates on its variable rate debt. The
Company accounts for its interest rate swaps under GAAP, which requires companies to recognize all derivative
instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair
value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as
part of a hedging relationship and, further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instrurments that
are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, a company must designate the hedging instrument, based upon
the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of
a net investment in a foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments, the
changes in fair value are recognized in excess of revenue over expenses. The Company's interest rate swaps are
not designated as a hedging instrument and the change in fair value is included in excess of revenue over expenses.

1
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Obligation to provide future services

The Company annually calculates the present value of the net cost of future services and the use of facilities to be
provided to current residents and compares that amount with the balance of deferred entrance fees. if this calculated
value exceeds the deferred entrance fees, a liability is recorded, with a corresponding charge to income. The
obligation is discounted at 5 percent based on management's estimate of interest earnings. At Decembaer 31, 2020
and 2019, the calculated value did not exceed the balance of deferred entrance fees; therefore, no liability for the
obligation to provide future services is required to be recorded.

Income taxes

The Company is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Home
Care is a limited liability company that has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under current Internal Revenue
Code (IRC) regulations. Home Care is wholly owned by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care is considered a
disregarded entity under current IRC regulations.

Based on the information above, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not reflect a provision or
liability for federal and state income taxes. The Company has determined that it does not have any material
unracoghized tax benefits or obligations as of December 31, 2020.

Deferred revenue from entrance fees

Fees paid by a resident upon entering into a contract agreement are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized
into income using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining life expectancy of the resident, adjusted on
an annual basis. The non-refundable portion of the entrance fee that is considered an application fee is recognized
as income when the resident moves in. Subject to certain exceptions, entrance fees are initially refundable, but
become non-refundable at the rate of two percent per month until becoming fully non-refundable after 50 months.
Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee from an acceptable substitute resident, the Company will refund to the
resident, or to resident’s estate, the applicable amount of refund owed. Total contractual refund obligations under
existing contracts (that is if all residents with a refundable balance were to have withdrawn) are $9,630,504 and
$10,891,700 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Statement of operations and changes in net assets

The consolidated statements of operations include excess of revenues over expenses. Changes in net assets which
are excluded from excess of revenues over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-
lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purposes of acquiring such assets). The Company considers excess of revenues over expenses to be its
performance indicator. :

Methods used for allocation of expenses among programs and supporting services

The Company has presented a schedule of expenses by both function and nature in Note 18. The Company allocates
expenses on a functional basis among its various programs and supporting services. The schedule of expenses in
Note 18 reports certain categories of expenses that are attributable to one or more program or supporting services
of the retirement community. These expenses include food service, facilities service, and depreciation. Facilities
service and depreciation are allocated based on square footage. Food service is allocated based on occupancy.

Resident fees

Resident fees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from residents, third-party payors, and others for
services rendered as further described in Note 2,

12
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Financial assistance

The Company currently maintains a financial assistance program and policy for residents holding continuing care
residency agreements in the event the resident(s) should become unable to pay for services. The Company reserves
the right to change the program and policy and does not guarantee future financial assistance. Since the Company
does not expect to collect the normal charges for services provided for those residents who meet the financial
assistance provisions, estimated charges for such assistance are not included in revenue. The cost of the charity
care provided by the Company is based on financial assistance awarded to qualifying residents (Note 7), charges
forgone under government and other third-party payer programs as well as charges that residents are unable to pay.
The cost of providing charity care was approximately $1,656,000 in 2020 and $1,775,000 in 2019. The cost is
discounted by the operating margin percentage (operating revenues less realized gains/losses on investments
divided by operating expenses), which calculated to be -0.67 percent for 2020 and -0.75 percent for 2019. The
Company uses both board restricted funds and net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature to
provide financial assistance. The Company receives contributions in three main ways: through annual fundraising
efforts, annual requests of outreach ministries, and estate donations. Other services provided by the Company that
were not reimbursed by other sources were approximately $216,000 and $123,000 in 2020 and 2019, respectively,
for a total community benefit of $1,872,000 and $1,898,000, respectively.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Subsegquent events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through April 14, 2021, which is the date the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.

2. Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenues, primarily by providing housing and health services to its residents. The following
streams of revenue are recognized as follows:

Monthly service fees

The contracts that residents select require an advanced fee and monthly fees based upon the type of accommodation
they are applying for. Resident fee revenue for recurring and routine monthly services is generally billed monthly in
advance. Payment terms are usually due within 30 days. The services pravided encompass social, recreational,
dining along with assisted living and nursing care and these performance chligations are earned each month. Under
ASC Topic 606, management has determined that the performance aobligation for the standing obligation to provide
the appropriate level of care is the predominate component and does not contain a lease component under ASC
Topic 840. Resident fee revenue for non-routine or additional services are billed monthly in arrears and recognized
when the service is provided. '

Entrance fees

The nonrefundable entrance fees are recognized as deferred revenue upon receipt of the payment and included in
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet until the performance obligations are satisfied. The refundable portion of
an entrance fee is not considered part of the transaction price and as such is recorded as a liability in the consolidated
balance sheet. Additionally, management has determined the contracts do not contain a significant financing
component as the advanced payment assures residents the access to health care in the future. These deferred
amounts are then amortized on a straight-line basis into revenue on a monthly basis over the life of the resident as

13
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the performance obligation is the material right associated with access to future services as described in FASB ASC
806-10-55 paragraph 42 and 51.

Health care services

In the facility, the Company provides assisted and nursing care to residents who are covered by government and
commercial payers. The Community is paid fixed daily rates from government payers. The fixed daily rates and other
-fees are billed in arrears monthly. The monthly fees represent the most likely amount to be received from the 3rd
party payors. Most rates are predetermined from Medicare.

Under ASC Topic 806, management has elected to utilize the portfolio approach in aggregating the revenues under
these revenue streams.

December 31, 2020

Independent Assisted Skilled Home
Living Living Nursing Care Total
Private pay $ 11,044,956 5 8,213,001 $ 7,964,9M $ 1,122936 $ 28,245,834
Medicare - - 602,325 - 602,325
Total $§ 11044956 §$ 8213001 § 8,567,266
December 31, 2019
Independent Assisted Skilled Home
Living Living Nursing Care Total
Private pay $ 10864840 $ 7630369 3% 7875618 3% 366,428 $ 26,737,055
Medicare - - 426,840 - 428,840
Total $ 10864640 $ 7630360 § 8302458 $ 366428 § 27163895

3. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Prices for certain investments, such as mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities, are readily
available in active markets in which those securities are traded thus the resulting fair values are categorized as Level
1. Prices for Level 2 assets and liabilities are determined on a recurring basis based on inputs readily available in
public markets or can be derived from information available in publicly quoted markets. As further explained in Note
4, the Company has a beneficial interest in a perpetual trust. The value of this trust is disclosed as level 3 in the fair
value table below in accordance with GAAP and is valued at the market price of the underiying investments.

The Company invests in certain investments for which quoted prices are not available in active markets for identical
instruments. The Company utilizes the net asset value (NAV) provided by the administrator of the fund as a practical
expedient to estimate fair value. This practical expedient would not be used if it is determined to be probable that the
fund will sell the investment for an amount different from the reported NAV. These investments are not required to
be classified within a level on the fair value hierarchy.

There were no changes during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 to the Company's valuation techniques
used to measure asset and liability fair values on a recurring basis,

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest lavel of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their placement
within the fair value hierarchy levels. The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the
Company's financial assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2020
and 2019:

14
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Fair Value as of December 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 _ Level 3 Total

Investments:

Mutual funds $27,830,844 - % - $27,830,844

Exchange traded funds 4,387,870 - - 4,387,870

Fixed income securities 82,147 - " 82,147

Stocks 6,548,280 - - 6,548,280

REIT 53,478 - - §3.478
Total investments in the fair value
hierarchy $38902619 §. - § - $38,902,619
Investments at NAV (a) 5,973,027
Total investments at fair value $44,875646
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts $ - $ - $ 1449495 § 1,449495
Interest rate swaps, net $ - §$ 65349599 § - § 5349599

Fair Value as of December 31, 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investments: :

Mutuai funds $22540,902 § - % - $22,540,909

Exchange traded funds 7,154,166 - - 7,154,166

Fixed income securities 91,343 - - 91,343

Stocks 3.870.904 - - 3,870,904
Total investments in the fair value
hierarchy $33657322 % - 3 - 33,657,322
Investments at NAV (a) 6.487.482
Total investments at fair value $40,144.784
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 3 - 8 - % 1344661 $ 1.344661
Interest rate swaps, net 3 - 2,481,684 3 - $ 2481849

(a) In accordance with Topic 820, certain investments that were measured at NAV per share (or its equivalent)
have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are
intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the line items presented in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2020: 24% intermediate-term bond, 23% multisecior,
17% large growth, 12% small growth, 11% mid-cap value, and 13% other.

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2019: 28% intermediate-term bond, 23% large growth, 22%
large value, 14% short-term bond, 11% mid-cap value, and 2% other.

The Company has $2,667,917 and $426,656 of cash and cash equivalents included in investments and assets
limited as to use on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which was not
classified as a level as prescribed within the provision.
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The Company recognizes transfers between the levels as of the béginning of the reporting period. There were no
gross transfers between the levels for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,

The following table summarizes investments for which fair value is measured using the NAV per share practical
expedient as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Fair Value at Fair Value at Other Redemption
December 31, December 31, Unfunded Redemption Notice
2020 2019 Commitments Restrictions Period
European Equity Fund $ 1,550,308 § 1,362,917 None Monthly 30 days
Global Abseclute Return Fund $ 1,240,010 $ 1,219,655 None Annually 90 days
Real Property Fund $ 3,182,709 $ 3,364,765 None Quarterly 60 days
Global Large Value Equity Fund  § - % 540,125 None Quarterly 60 days

The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable
value or reflective of future values. Furthermore, although the Company believes its valuation methods are
appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the
reporting date.

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring
basis classified as Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,344,661 $ -
Purchases - 1,201,590
Unrealized gains 104,834 143,071

$.1449495 § 1.344661

4. Charitable Trust Arrangements

Charitable Remainder Trust

A charitable remainder trust provides the payment of distributions to the donor or other designated beneficiaries
over the income beneficiaries’ lifetimes. At the end of the trust’s terms, the remaining assets are available for the
Company's use as specified by the donor.

A charitable remainder trust has named the Company the remainder beneficiary. The trust provides payments out
of principal which prevents the ability to measure the interest. No asset is recorded in relation to the trust.

Perpetual Trusts

During 2019, the Company received information that identified it is the beneficiary of perpetual trusts and
subsequently recorded an asset for the beneficial interests and a corresponding donar-restricted contribution which
is reflected on the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets. The Company will receive income
distributions from the perpetual trusts but will not receive the assets of these trusts. Distributions from the trusts are
unrestricted. The beneficial interest in these perpetual trusts, recorded as donor-restricted net assets, were
$1,449,495 and $1,344,661 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

5.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

6.

Land and improvements
Buildings

Furniture and equipment
Construction in progress

Accumulated depreciation

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2020 and 2019;

Taxable loan payable to a commercial bank, with a total available
principal of $8,450,000 at a variable rate of 1.15% plus the 30-day

" LIBOR (1.298% at December 31, 2020 and 2.942% at December

31, 2019); and reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a
rate of 2.865%, monthly principal payments of $38,000 to $57,000
due September 2034 (See Note 12); collateralized by real and
personal property.

Series 2010 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds at
variable rate of 79% of one month LIBOR plus 1.0854% in 2020 and
2019, and reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate
of 3.333% in 2020 and 2019 on the outstanding principal balance
{See Note 12); monthly payments of $50,000 to $240,000 due
January 1, 2038,

Series 2016 Health Cars Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds at
variable rate of 79% of one month LIBOR plus 0.948% in 2020 and
2019, and reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate
of 2.914% in 2020 and 2019 on the outstanding principal balance
{See Note 12); monthly payments of $69,000 to $92,000 due
January 1, 2031.

Current maturities
Bond issuance costs

2020 2019

$ 13,348,968 $ 13,086,142
136,123,934 132,808,489
10,735,501 10,090,000
2,216,560 2,653 7499
162,424,963 158,638,430

(76,792,104) {69,363,098)
$ 86632859 § 8927533

2020 2019

$ 7,876,184 $ 8,335,807

24,100,000 24,700,000
9,925,000 10,787,000
41,901,184 43,822,907
{2,008,000) {1,922,000)
(655,789) (703,738)

$§ 39236396 § 41.197.169

The Series 2010 and 2016 bonds bear interest payable monthly on the amount of bond proceeds outstanding. The
bonds are secured by a pledge of future revenues and substantially all of the property and equipment of the
Company. The trust indenture and loan agreements underlying the Series 2010 and Series 2016 bonds contain
certain covenants and restrictions.
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In September 2019, the Company entered into a taxable loan in the amount of $8,450,000 with a commercial bank
to refinance a construction loan and finance renovations. The bank made available an interest rate swap for the
purpose of hedging the variable interest rate risk. The loan and cbligations arising under the swap agreement are
secured by the Master Trust Indenture.

Annual principal maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

2021 $ 2,009,000
2022 2,047,000
2023 2,143,000
2024 2,173,000
2025 2,276,000
Thereafter 31,253,184

$ 41901184

The Company has a revolving line of credit with a bank in the amount of $3,000,000. Interest is payable manthly at
a rate of one-month LIBOR index plus 1.25 percent and is secured by a deed of trust. There was no balance
outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. The line of credit expires in December 2021.

7. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature consist of the following at December 31, 2020 and
2019:

2020 201¢
Financial assistance $ 2,702,018 $ 1,862,808
Capital campaign - 30,560
Other 213,000 242033

$§ 2915018 3§  2.136401

Net assets were released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or by
occurrence of other events specified by donors as follows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

2020 2019
Financial assistance $ 1,145,859 $ 1,230,279
Other 249,503 124,919
Net assets released from restrictions—operating 1,395,362 1,364,198
Net assets released from restrictions—capital 54,322 158,518

$§ 1449684 § 1522716

Net assets with donor restrictions that stipulate assets be held in perpetuity consist of the following at December 31,
2020 and 2019:

2020 2019
Assistance endowment $ 8,659,115 $ 7,570,807
Swimming pool endowment 500,000 500,000
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,449 495 1,344,661

§ 10608610 § 9415468
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

8. Endowment Funds .

The Company's endowment was organized to provide financial assistance to the residents of the Company in the
event the resident(s) become unable to pay for services, and to help provide maintenance to the swimming pool.
The Company's endowment funds include donor-restricted funds and board designated funds classified as net
assets without restrictions. As required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as
endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Interpretation of relevant law

The Board of Directors of the Company has interpreted the North Carolina Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (the Act) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of
the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this
interpretation, the Company has classified as perpetually restricted net assets (a} the original value of gifts donated
to the perpetual endowment, {(b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the perpetual endowment, and (c)
accumulations to the perpetual endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift
instrument at the time the amount is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment
fund that is not classified in perpetually restricted net assets is classified as with donor restrictions until those amounts
are appropriated for expenditure by the Company in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed
by the Act. In accordance with the Act, the Company considers the following factors in making a determination to
appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds:

The duration and preservation of the fund

The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions

The possible effect of inflation and deflation

The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments

A T L

The investment policies of the Company

Return objectives and risk parameters

The Company has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that are intended to provide an
ongoing stream of funding for financial assistance that is supported by the endowment. Endowment assets include
assets of donor-restricted funds that the organization must hold in perpetuity as well as board-designated funds.
Under this policy, as approved by the Beard, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to
produce a high level of total investment return consistent with a prudent level of portfolio risk. The Company expects
its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average rate of return of approximately 4.5 percent annually. Actual
returns in any given year may vary from this amount.

Strategies employed for achieving objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Company relies on a total return strategy in which investment
returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interast and
dividends). The Company targets a diversified asset allocation that includes fixed income instruments and equity-
based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints. Investments are
rebalanced quarterly in order to maintain the desired asset allocation mix.
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Spending policy and how the investment objectives relate to the spending policy

The Company's policy is to appropriate for distribution the accumulated income and appreciation up to 4.5 percent
of the trailing three calendar year end average market balance. In establishing this policy, the Company considered
the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, the Company expects the current
spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at an average of 4.5 percent annually. The exception to this policy
would be that if the accumulated income and appreciation of the donor restricted endowment is less than 4.5 percent
of the trailing three calendar year-end average market balance, the funds necessary to support the annual financial
assistance would be taken from the board designated portion of the endowment fund. In this way, the principal of
the donor restricted endowment is preserved. This is consistent with the Company objective to maintain the
purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional
real growth through new gifts and investment return.

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Endowment net assets

December 31, 2018 $ 5,637,630 $ 8,772,595 $ 14,410,234
Contributions - 129,350 129,350
Investment earnings 141,719 201,597 343,316
Net appreciation 799,257 1,132,629 1,931,886
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure (230.415) (374,165) (604,580)
Endowment net assets

December 31, 2019 6,348,200 9,862,006 16,210,206
Contributions - 1,088,308 1,088,308
Investment earnings 113,923 171,902 285,825
Net appreciation 539,229 839,774 1,379,003
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure (280.620) (393,766) {674,386)
Endowment net assets

December 31, 2020 $ 6720732  $11,668224  § 18,288,956

9. Employee Benefits

The Company’s employees may participate in the United Methodist Personal Investment Plan defined contribution
retirement plans of the General Board of Pensions of The United Methodist Church. These plans cover all employees
who elect to participate the first of the month following their employment, as determinad at enrollment dates each
month. Prior to May 1, 2020, following the first of the month after one year of employment, Arbor Acres conditionally
contributes 6% of regular earnings for all eligible participating employees who contribute at least 3% of regular
earning to the pian. Effective May 1, 2020, Arbor Acres contributes a match equal to 200% of all contributions up to
a maximum of 6 percent of regular earnings for all eligible participating employees. Home Care conditionally
contributes a match equal to 200% of contributions up to a maximum of 6 percent of regular earnings for all eligible
participating employees. Company contributions for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were
approximately $558,000 and $475,000, respectively.
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10. Professional Liability Coverage

The Company has an insurance policy for possible iitigation in the ordinary course of business related to professional
liability claims. Management believes that claims, if asserted, would be settled within the limits of coverage, which is
on a claims-made basis. Should the Company not renew its claims-made policy, or replace it with equivalent
insurance, occurrences incurred during its term but asserted after its expiration would be uninsured, unless the
Company obtains tail coverage. No claims were outstanding at year-end and the Company has made no accrual for
unasserted claims.

11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other assets approximate fair value.
Investments, assets limited as to use, beneficial interests in trusts and the interest rate swaps are reported at fair
value as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. See Note 3 for mare information relating to the fair
value of invesiments, assets limited as to use and the interest rate swaps.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued interest payable and other accrued and
long-term liabilities approximate fair value. The carrying amount of the 2010 series and 2016 series bonds and the
taxable loan payable approximates fair value as they contain variable interest rates.

12. Interest Rate Swap Agreements

In prior years, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements {"Swaps”) secured by 2010 Series Bonds,
2016 Series Bonds, and a 2019 taxable loan. The original notional amounts are $18,500,000, $13,159,000, and
$8,450,000, respectively. The swaps expire on December 2037, January 2031, and September 2034, respectively.
The Swaps fix the variable interest rates at 3.33%, 2.91%, and 2.87%, respectively.

The fair value of the Company's interest rate swaps are reported as a long-term asset or liability in the consolidated
balance sheets. The change in fair value of the interest rate swaps are included in excess of revenues over expenses
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Absent an early termination, subsequent changes in the interest rate swaps will continue to be reflected in excess
of revenues over expenses, which has no cash flow impact to the Company. The cash flow settlements of the interest
rate swap agreements are reflected annually in interest expense as the Company pays interest to the swap counter-
party at the rates noted ahove.

13. Health Insurance Plan

In 2019, the Company established a self-funded employee health insurance plan administered by a third party. The
plan is funded by employee and employer contributions and is available to all full-time staff. The costs of the plan
are comprised of expected net claims, insurance premiums to acquire specific stop loss coverage and claims
administration fees. Claims in excess of the stop-loss limit of $100,0000 are funded by insurance coverage. The
Company has estimated and recorded amounts for the self-insurance portion of this arrangement. Plan costs
incurred by the Company were approximately $2,006,000 and $1,793,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively. The estimate for claims incurred but not reported is approximately $350,000 as of December
31, 2020 and 2019,
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14. Liquidity and Availability

As part of its liquidity management, the Company has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its
general expenses, liabilities, and other obligations come due. In addition, the Company invests cash in excess of
daily operating funds in short-term investments such as treasury hills, certificates of deposit, and monay market
funds.

The following schedule reflects the Company's financial assets to meet cash needs for general expenses within one
year. The financial assets were derived from the total assets on the consclidated balance sheets by excluding the
assets that are unavailable for general expenses in the next 12 months. Board designated amounts for capital
projects have been included in the schedule below as the board could release these funds for liquidity purposes if
needed.

The Company also has the ability to draw down on a $3,000,000 line of credit if needed (as discussed in Note 6).

The Company seeks to maintain sufficient liquid assets to cover 30 to 45 days of operating and capital expenses.

Asset Categories 2020 __2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,574,579 $ 3,289,587
Accounts receivable 874,734 638,870
fnvestments and assets limited as to use 47,543,563 40,571,440
Less: operating reserve (7,400,000) {7,281,500)
Less: board designated funds for assistance endowment (6,720,732) (6,348,200)
Less: bond trustee funds {82,147) (91,343)
Less: donor restricted funds for resident assistance, endowment

and other purposes {12.074.133) {10,175.648)

$§ 25715864 § 20.603.206

15. Related Party Transactions

The Company utilized a construction company in which a board member's spouse is a key member of management
The Company received services in the amount of approximately $346,000 and $34,000 from the construction
company in 2020 and 2019, respectively. Additionally, the Company owed approximately $248,000 to the
construction company as of December 31, 2020 which is included in accounts payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.

16. COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19, a novel strain of Coronavirus, a
pandemic. The coronavirus outbreak is disrupting supply chains and affecting production and sales across a range
of industries. The extent of the impact of the outbreak on the Company’s operational and financial performance will
depend on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, impact on employees and
vendars, and governmental, regulatory and private sector responses. The accompanying consolidated financial
statements do not reflect any adjustments as a result of the increase in economic uncertainty which continues
through the issuance date.
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17. Provider Relief Funds

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security {CARES) Act was signed
into law on March 27, 2020. One provision of the CARES Act was the establishment of the Provider Relief Fund
(PRF), administered by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). The PRF is being distributed to
healthcare providers throughout the country to support the battle against the COVID-19 outbreak, During the year
ended December 31, 2020, the Company has received $714,103 in distributions from this fund. These funds are
intended to reimburse qualifying expenses and lost revenues atiributable to COVID-18 and are subject to the terms,
conditions, and regulatory requirements set forth by HHS. If the total distributions received by the Company exceed
the cumulative amount of qualifying expenses and lost revenues attributable to COVID-19 through June 30, 2021,
any excess funding may be subject recoupment. The Company received an additional $282,378 in COVID-19 related
grants from other sources. The Provider Relief Funds and other grant money received are accounted for as voluntary
nonhexchange transactions and related revenues will be recognized as other operating revenue as eligibility criteria
are met. In relation to Provider Relief Funds and other grants, the Company has recognized $462,288 and $140,705,
respectively, as other operating revenue as of December 31, 2020.

In addition to the terms, conditions, and published regulatory guidance, HHS has published additional guidance
related to the nature and allowability of certain qualifying expenses and methods for determining lost revenues
attributable to COVID-19 through the publication of Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs). These HHS Provider Relief
Fund FAQs have been subject to significant amendment and revision over the course of the program. Additional
guidance from HHS and the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) may be forthcoming, but the nature and
extent of such additional forthcoming guidance is uncertain. The Company relied on the available guidance in
determining the amounts of qualifying expenses and lost revenues atiributed to COVID-19 and the related
recognition of revenue during fiscal year 2020. Such determinations required management to make subjective
interpretations of the available guidance, and to make assumptions and exercise considerable judgment.
Subsequent changes or clarifications in guidance from HHS and OMB could have a material impact on
management’s estimates and the determination of such amounts. The Provider Relief Funds are subject to audit by
HHS which may result in disallowed expenditures which may be subject to recoupment. Such amounts, if any, cannot
be determined at this time.

HHS released additional reporting requirements for health care entities that received distributions from the PRF.
Also, the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021 (*CRRSAA") was signed into
law on December 27, 2020. CRRSAA provided on-going assistance to healthcare providers and provided additional
clarity around PRF reporting requirements the Company does not believe the new guidance will result in a material
change to amounts recorded in the December 31, 2020 consolidated financial statements related to the PRF. The
Company will continue to moniter changes in reporting guidance or additional clarifications that may be issued by
HHS, which would affect the accounting for distributions from the Provider Relief Fund.
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18. Statement of Functional Expenses

The following s a schedule of expenses by both function and nature for the year ended December 31, 2020:

Program Services

Independent Assisted Living Bkilled Nursing Heime Care Total arul General and Fundralsil Total

Salaries and benedils $ 4,232,784 § 4,606,926 § 8336020 § 968,309 $ 15,844,608 % 2,318,538 § 663,380 $ 18,646,456
tadical and personal care 237,289 146,600 788,408 71,686 1,242,981 - - 1,242,961
Food services 884,062 437,211 370812 - 1,683,075 - - 1,693,076
Facillties servicas 1,308,405 360,923 402,849 - 2,431,877 14,364 - 2,148,241
Utllities 680,407 442,228 313,236 - 1,335,960 . - 1,336,940
Admin/stration - - - - - 1,888,511 - 1,686911
Msrksting and development - - - - - - 359,754 369,764
Degreciation 4,688,080 1,636,799 780,027 - 7,386,928 61,649 - 7,440,475
Intarast 318,196 650,308 245,695 - 1,423,198 - - 1,423,198
Total sxpenses included In the

expenses section on the

consolldated statement of

operalions and changes

in net assels § 12590202 § B 400,884 % 8,738,854 § 1040488 § 30,858,636 % 3,972,362 § 104314  § 35574001
The following is a schadule of expensas by both function and nalure for the year ended December 31, 2018

Program Services Adminisiralive Markating
Ind lent Jsted Living  Sklllod Nursing Home Care Total and General and Fundraising Total

Salaries and banafits ) 4,109,507 § 4510079 § 5856614 % 462,776 § 14940976  § 22483 § 586016 17,850,455
Medlcal and personal care 304,428 48,160 547,212 27,726 027 525 - - 927,526
Food services 945,976 400,416 320,664 - 1,687,058 - - 1,667,066
Fadililics sorvices 1,464,264 385,965 432,144 - 2,282 373 14,364 - 2,296,737
Utifitles 581,712 463,045 332,950 - 1,377,707 - - 1,377,707
Administration - - - - - 1,453,654 - 1,463,654
Marketing and development - - - - - - 307,680 307 880
Depreciaticn 4,801,905 1,583,280 753,945 - 7,139,830 1,758 - 7,191 688
Interesl 348311 850,307 266,974 - 1,506,582 - - 1,606,502
Unreallzed less from Interest rate swaps

expenses section on the

consolldated statement of

operations and changes

in net assets $ 12,567,103 § 528,952 % 5511503 % 490502 §  29843,060 § 3,833,209 B 003,886 § 34,573,195
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate

Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2020
ASSETS Arbor Acres Home Care Eliminations Tota!
Current assets;
Cash and cash equivalents 5 2,895 134 679,445 $ - $ 3,574,679
Investments 18,746,638 - - 18,746,538
Accounts receivable 638712 159,484 - 748,106
Prepaid expenses 360,402 - - 360,402
Due from Home Care 905,295 - (905,205) -
Current portion of agsets limited as to use 82,147 - - 82,147
Total current assets 23,628,228 838,029 (905,205) 23,561,862
Non-current assets:
Assets limited as to use:
Board designated for:
Assistance endowment 6,720,732 - - 6,720,732
Capital projects 2,520,013 - - 2,520,013
Donor restricied for:
Resident assistance 202,909 - - 202,909
Assistance endowment 11,068,224 - - 11,068,224
Other specific purposes 713,000 - - 713,000
Operating reserve requirement 7,400,000 - - 7,400,000
Bond trustee 82,147 - - 82,147
Total assats limited as to use 28,797,025 - “ 28,797,025
Less: current portion {82,147} - - (82,147)
Total assets limited as to use, less current portion 28,714,878 - - 28,714,878
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,449,495 - - 1,449,465
Investment in Home Care 111,946 - (111,946) -
Other long-term assets 9,117 111,946 - 121,063
Property and equipment, net 86,632,859 - - 86,632,850
116,918,295 111,948 {111,946) 116,918,205
Total assets $ 140,546,523 950,876 $ (1,017,241) $ 140,480,157

(continued)
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Arbor Acres United MethodIst Retirement Communlty, Inc. and Affillate
Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020 {continued)
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS Arhor Acras Home Care Eliminations Total
Gurrent labilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,406,742 $ 21,815 $ - $ 1,428,557
Accrued expenses 1,262,340 25,456 - 1,277,798
Accrued interest payable 99,102 - - 99,102
Estimated refundable entrance fees 326,280 - - 326,290
Due to Arbor Acres - 906,205 (905,295) -
Unearned grants 393,489 - - 393,489
Current maturities of long-term debt 2,009,000 - - 2,009,000
Total current tabilities 5,486,963 952,566 (905,295) 5,834,234
Long-term liabilities:
Refundable deposits 110,640 - - 110,640
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 32,815,790 - B 32,815,790
Long-term debt, tess current maturities 39,236,365 - - 39,236,385
Liabllity for interest rate swaps 5,349,589 - - 5,340 559
Total long-term liablittes 77,512 424 - - 77,512,424
Total liabilities 82,800 387 952,666 (206,205) 83,046,668
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 44,023 608 (1,691} {111,946} 43,909,871
With donor restrictions 13,523,628 - - 13,623,628
Total net assets 57,647,136 (1,631) {111,946} 57,433,480
Total liabilities and net assets $ 140,546,623 3 950,875 5 (1,017 ,241) $ 140,480,157
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate

Consolldating Statement of Operations - Without Donor Restriction

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Revenue, gains, and other support:
Contributions
Resident fees
Home Care revenue
Entrance fees eamed
lnvestment income, net
Other
Net assels released from restrictions

Total revenue, gains, and other
support

Expenses:
Medical and personal care
Food service
Facility services
Utlities
Resident services
Administration
Human resources
Home Care expenses
Marketing and development
Depreciation
Interest

Total expenses
Operating income

Non-operating revenue {expenses):
Loss on disposal of property
Net realized gain on investments

Unrealized loss from interest rate swaps

Net unrealized gain on investments

Excess (deficit) of revenuas over expenses

Consollidated

Arbor Acres Home Care Eliminations Total
$ 447,006 $ - - § 447,098
27,470,176 - - 27,470,175
- 1,122,936 - 1,122,936
5,066,033 - - 5,066,033
663,513 - - 653,513
704,534 - (36,000) 668,534
1,395 362 - - 1,385,362
35,736,713 1,122,936 (36,000 36,823,649
7,784,638 - - 7,784,638
5,224,553 - - 5,224,553
5,387,810 - - 5,387,810
1,335,960 - - 1,335,960
1,317,506 - - 1,317,506
3,334,621 3,334,621
541,637 - - 541,637
- 1,076,499 (36,000) 1,040,499
1,043,134 - - 1,043,134
7,440,475 - - 7,440,475
1,423,108 - - 1,423,198
34,833,532 1,076,499 (36,000) 35,874,031
903,181 46,437 - 949,618
(245,034) - - {245,034}
164,665 - - 164,665
(2,867,750} - - (2,867,750)
2,730,210 - . 2,730,210
$ 685,272 $ 46,437 - $ 731,709
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc,
Consolidated Balance Sheets

For the Month Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Accounts receivable, net

Current portion of campaign pledges receivable

Prepaid expenses
Total Current Assets

Non-currant assets;
Assets limited as to uss;
Board designated for:
Assistance endowment
Capital projects
Donor restricted for:
Resident assistance
Assistance endowment
Other specific purposes
State operating reserve requirement
Total assets limited as to use
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts
Other long-term assets
Property and equipment, net
Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Deferred revenue

Current maturities of long-term debt

Estimated refundable entrance fees
Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities:
Refundable deposits
Deposits - unoccupied units
Deferred revenue from entrance fees

Long-term debt, less current maturities

Interest rate swap liability
Total long term liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions
Total Net Assets

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

{Unaudited) (Unaudited)
2021 2020

$ 6,992,834 $ 4,133,871
19,354,363 11,670,833
680,993 625,924
- 30,060
277,852 185,517
26,206,042 16,546,005
6,738,066 5,518,558
2,520,013 2,520,013
246,424 -
11,114,271 8,197,912
742,046 743,426

7,400,000 7,281,500 .
28,760,820 24,261,409
1,449,495 1,344,661
121,063 121,063
85,884,769 88,571,603
116,216,147 114,298,736
$ 142,422,189 $ 130,844,741
5 1,143,124 $ 1,246,165
1,568,498 1,407,445
218,211 -
2,009,000 1,922,000
326,290 379,540
5,265,123 4,985,151
47,640 54,360
1,477,650 -
32,114,365 32,734,987
40,185,358 40,608,063
2,870,996 6,447,257
76,696,007 79,845,667
81,961,130 84,800,818
46,908,825 35,727,367
13,552,234 10,316,556
60,461,059 46,043,923
$ 142,422,189 3 130,844,741




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Ing,
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 with Comparative Totals for 2020

Revenue, gains and other support
Contributions
Resident fees
Continuing care services without lodging
Entrance fees earnad
Horme care fees
Investment incame
Other revenue
Cares act revenue recognition
Net assets released from restrictions

Total revenue, gains and other support

Expenses
Medical and personal care
Food service
Facility services
Utilities
Resident services
Administration
Human resources
Marketing & development
Gontinuing care services without lodging
Home care services
Depreciation
Inferest expense

Total expenses

Operating income (loss)

Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Gain {loss) on disposal of property
Loss on extinguishment of debt and refinance
Net realized gain (loss) on investments
Unrealized gain (loss) from interest rate swap
Change in value - perpetual trusts
Net unrealized gain {loss) on investments

Excess (deficit) of revenues aver expenses

Other changes in net assets:
Nst assets released fram restrictions - capital

Change In net assets

Net assets, beginning

Net assets, ending

2021 {Unaudited)

Without Donor With Donor 2020
Restrictions Restrictions Total __(Unaudited)
$ 45,492 L3 127,486 $ 172,978 $ 162,750
6,777,628 - 6,777,628 7,097,077
56,5629 - 56,529 44,933
1,373,868 - 1,373,869 1,155,525
394,373 - 394,373 173,653
123,853 33,491 157,344 162,768
18,475 - 18,475 42,832
251,815 251,815 -
223,473 {223,473) - -
9,265,507 (62,496) 9,203,011 8,839,638
2,168,724 - 2,188,724 1,811,773
1,283,914 - 1,283,914 1,267,856
1,100,047 - 1,100,047 1,356,173
306,428 - 306,428 320,558
309,802 - 309,802 337,496
961,296 - 961,296 891,407
196,016 - 195,016 92,658
209,170 - 209,170 226,323
341,270 - 341,270 180,568
1,800,198 - 1,900,198 1,834,199
334,284 - 334,284 359,606
9,130,149 - 9,130,149 8,678,657
135,358 (62,496) 72,862 160,981
(20,563) - (20,563) {16,997)
521,546 290,919 812,465 (513,535)
2,478,603 - 2,478,603 (3,965,408)
(118,983) (199,817) (315,800) (4,295,826}
2,998,961 28,606 3,027,567 (8,630,785)
2,998,961 28,606 3,027,567 {8,630,785)
43,809,864 13,523,628 57,433,492 54,674,708
$ 48,908,825 $ 13,552,234 $ 60,461,059 $ 456,043,923




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net

assets to net cash provided by operating activities

Depraciation
Loss on disposal of assets

Realized & unrealized (gain) loss on investments
Contributions restricted for long-term investment

Entrance fees raceivad

Change in defaerred revenue

Amortization of entrance fees

Amortization of deferred costs

Unrealized {gain) loss on interest rate swap

Change in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Campaign receivanles
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
{Increase} decrease in assets limited as to use
Purchase of investments, net

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings on construction loan
Proceeds from deposits - unoccupied units
Payments for long-term debt
Entrance fee refunds

Contributicns restricted for long-term investment
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Beginning balance, cash and cash equivalents

Ending balance, cash and cash equivalents

(Unaudited) {Unaudited)

2021 2020
3,027,567 $ (8,630,785)
1,900,198 1,834,199

20,563 16,997
(496,665) 4,809,360
(31,767} (7,316)
939,539 1,307,680
(251,815) -
(1,373,869) {1,155,525)
11,986 11,986
{2,478,603) 3,065,408
293,741 12,947
- 500
80,914 190,580
(285,440) 142,120
191,599 199,784
1,547,948 2,897,935
{1,172,671) (1,147,966}
36,206 2,155,296
(111,160) (2,225,258)
- 500
(1,247,625) (1,217,428)
1,493,418 -
1,414,650 -
(556,443) (600,082)
{267,095) (43,726)
31,768 7,316
2,116,298 (636,502)
2,416,621 844,005
3,676,213 3,289,866
5,992,834 $ 4,133,871
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Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report

Board of Directors
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate
Winston-Salem, North Carolina

Management of Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (the
“Corporation”) and Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (the “Affiliate™) is responsible for the
accompanying projected consolidated balance sheets, related statements of operations and
changes in net assets and statement of cash flows as of and for each of the five years ending
December 31, 2025, and the related summaries of significant assumptions and rationale in
accordance with guidelines for the presentation of a financial projection established by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™).

The accompanying projection and this report were prepared to comply with the requirements of
North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64. They should not be used for any other
purpose.

We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services
Committee of the AICPA. We did not examine or review the consolidated financial projection
nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the
information provided by management of the Corporation and the Affiliate. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion, a conclusion, or provide any form of assurance on this consolidated
financial projection.

Furthermore, even if the following hypothetical assumptions occur during the projection period:

e The new independent living units are successfully marketed and occupied at assumed
occupancy levels and that adequate demand for services exists to support the assumed
utilization;

e Construction, development, marketing and other related costs for the project occur in the
assumed timeline and at assumed costs; and,

e The Corporation finances the expansion project at the rates and terms assumed.

There will usually be differences between the projected and actual results, because events and
circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the
date of this report.

Disen f@he& Geoodhan [LP

Atlanta, Georgia
May 25, 2021

QPRAXITY

Impomering Business Globally

DHG is reqgistered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office to Dixon Hughes Geodman LLP.



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Statements of Operations
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Revennes:
Independent living tesident fees $ 10,781 $ 10993 $ 13,088 $ 15051 § 15513
Healthcare resident fees 18,861 19,430 20,013 20,613 21,232
Advantage program fees 218 319 456 525 540
Home care revenues 1,455 1,499 1,544 1,590 1,638
Entrance fees earned 5200 5,200 6,264 7,369 7410
Financial assistance (1,675) (1,750) (1,848) (1,950) (1,999)
Contributions 262 262 262 262 262
Investment income 745 1,537 1,599 1,943 2221
Other 143 146 159 172 177
Net assets released from restriction - operating 861 861 861 861 861
Total revenues, gains, and other support 36,851 38,497 42,398 46,436 47,855
Expenses:
Medical and personal care $ 7772 % 8022 § 8263 § 8511 § 8766
Food service 5,542 5,686 5,969 6,238 6,425
Housekeeping 2,081 2,141 2,372 2,469 2,543
Laundry 272 280 289 299 308
Maintenance 2,336 2,402 2,575 2,684 2,764
Properties development 696 716 740 766 788
Utilities 1,462 1,493 1,803 1,857 1,913
Resident services 1,518 1,566 1,618 1,671 1,722
Advantage program - 80 8 85 88
Home care 1,487 1,486 1,530 1,576 1,624
Administration 3,840 4,058 4177 4,299 4,425
Human resources 629 649 669 689 709
Marketing and development 945 975 1,004 1,035 1,066
Depreciation 7,750 8.004 9,626 0,914 10,220
Interest 1355 1,339 2,965 2,708 2437
Total expenses 37,685 38,907 43,683 44,801 45,798
Operating income 5 @BHS G s (12898 1,635 5 2057
Loss on disposal of property {400} (400} {400) (400) (400)
Change in net assets without donor restrictions $ (L,23H 8 (8l1) $ (1,685 $ 1235 5 1657

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report and
Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets

For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Net assets without donor restrictions:
Operating income $ B4 5 4§ (1,28 % 1,635 § 2057
Loss on disposal of property {400} (400 (400 (400} (400)
Change in net assets withour donor restrictions {1,234) (810y {1,683) 1,235 1,657
Net assets with donor restrictions:
Contributions - financial assistance 861 861 861 861 861
Contributions - endowment 150 150 150 150 150
Net assets released from restriction - operating (861) {861) {861) (861) {861)
Change in net assets with donor restrictions 150 150 150 150 150
Change in net assets (1,084 (660) {1,535) 1,385 1,807
Net assets, beginning of vear 57433 36,349 55,689 54,154 33,539
Net assets, end of vear $ 56349 $ 55689 & 54,154 5 55539 § 57346

See accompanying Independent Accountants” Compilation Report and
Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets $ (1,086 $ (660) § (1,535 § 1385 § 1,807
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 7,750 8,004 9,626 9914 10,220
Loss on disposal of property 400 400 400 400 400
Entrance fees and deposits received 6,603 8,327 9,031 9,405 10,146
Amortization of enirance fees {5.200) (5,200) (6,264) (7,369) (7.410)
Amortization of deferred costs 63 79 79 79 79
Changes in operating assets & labilities:
Receivables 314 (13 (46) {42) (an
Prepaid expenses & deposits n (14} (24) {17y (15)
Accounts payable 93 48 81 58 51
Acerued expenses (101) 38 62 45 A0
Accrued interest (16) 14 15 15 18
Unearned Grants (393) - - ~ -
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,338 11,023 11,425 13.873 15,319
Cash flows from investing activitics:
Acquisition of property and equipment - Project (17414)  (34,827) - - -
Interest cost capitalized during construction (125) (1,122) - - -
Ongoing capital additions (6,242) {6,242) (6,242) (6,242) (6,242)
Increase in investments (96) (2,366)  (19,011) 1,422 983
Change in assets limited as to use (282) (402) (952) {353) (3379
Net cash used in investing activities {24,159 (44,959) (26,205} (5,173) (5,596)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds received from 2021 Bank Loans 18,451 36,549 - - -
Increase in financing costs (612) - - - -
Decrease in bonds payabk - Series 2010 Bonds (660) (660) (720} (720) (775)
Decrease in bonds payable - Series 2016 Bonds (876) {900) (922) {937) 970
Decrease in loan payable - 2019 Bank Loan 473) (487) (501) (516 (531)
Decrease in loan payable - 2021 Bank Loans - - (5,762) (6.286) (6,286)
Refunds of entrance fees (458) (467) (769} (1,037) (1,056)
Entrance fees received on new Independent Living Units - - 23,621 915 -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 15,372 34,035 14,947 (8,381} (9,618)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (49 99 167 119 105
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of vear 3.575 3,126 3,225 3,392 3,511
Cash and cash equivakents, end of vear $ 3126 § 3225 § 3392 § 3511 § 3616

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report and

Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETTREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

AND AFFILIATE

Projected Consolidated Balance Sheets
At December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Assets
Current assets;
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3126 $ 3225 § 3392 §$§ 3511 § 3616
Investments 18,843 21,209 40,220 38,798 37,815
Accounts receivable 484 497 343 585 602
Prepaid expenses 451 465 489 506 521
Total current assets 22,504 25,396 44,644 43400 42,554
Non-current assets:
Assets limited as to use:
Board designated for:
Assistance endowmerit 6,721 6,721 6,721 6,721 6,721
Capital projects 2,520 2,520 2,520 2,520 2,520
Donor restricted fot:
Resident assistance 293 293 293 293 293
Assistance endowment 11,218 11,368 11,518 11,668 11,818
Other specific purposes 713 713 713 713 713
Operating reserve requirement 7614 7,866 8,668 3,871 9,058
Agsets limited as 1o use 29079 29481 30,433 30,786 31,123
Donated propetty held for resale 121 121 121 121 121
Property and equipment, net 102,264 136,051 132,267 128,195 123,817
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,449 1,449 1,449 1,449 1,449
Total non-current assets 132,913 167,102 164,270 160,551 156,510
Total assets $ 155817 § 192498 $ 208914 $ 203,951 § 199,064

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report and
Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
AND AFFILTIATE

Projected Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)
At December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 152 $ 1,570 0§ 1,651 $ 1709 § 1760
Accrued expenses 1,177 1,215 1,277 1,322 1,362
Accrued interest 83 97 112 127 145
Estimated refundable entrance fees 467 764 1,037 1,056 923
Current maturities of bonds payable - Series 2010 Bonds 660 720 720 775 780
Current maturities of bonds payable - Series 2016 Bonds 900 922 937 970 996
Current maturities of loan payable - 2019 Bank Loan 4387 501 516 531 547
Total current liabilities 5,296 5,794 6,250 6,490 6,513
Long-term liabilities:
Refundable deposits 111 111 111 111 111
Refundable entrance fees 8,705 7.936 6,899 5843 4,520
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 24915 28,042 54,430 57,381 6(),117
Bonds payable, less current maturities - Series 2010 Bonds 22,780 22,060 21,340 20,565 19,785
Bonds payable, less current maturities - Series 2016 Bonds 8,149 7.227 6,290 5320 4,324
Loan payable, less current maturities - 2019 Bank Loan 6,916 6,413 5,899 5,368 4,821
Loan payable - 2021 Bank Loans 18,451 55,000 49238 42952 36,660
Debt issuance costs (1,2035) (1,126} (1,047) (968) {88D)
Interest rate swap liability 5,350 5,350 5,350 5,350 5,350
Total long-term liabilities 04,172 131,015 148,510 141,922 135,205
Total liabilities 99468 136,809 154,760 148,412 141,718
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 42,676 41,866 40,181 41,416 43,073
With donor restrictions 13,673 13,823 13,973 14,123 14,273
Total net assets 56,349 55,689 54,154 55,539 57346
Total liabilitics and net assets $ 155817 $ 192498 § 208914 8§ 203951 § 199064

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report and
Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
AND AFFILIATE

Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Rationale
Basis of Presentation

‘The accompanying financial projection presents, to the best of the knowledge and belief of Arbor
Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (the “Corporation™) the expected financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows of the Corporation and Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC
{the “Affiliate™} of and for each of the five years ending December 31, 2025. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial projection reflects management of the Corporation’s (“Management”)
judgment as of May 25, 2021 the date of this projection, of the expected conditions and its expected
course of action during the projection period.

The accompanying projection and this report were prepared to comply with the requirements of North
Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64. Accordingly, this report should not be used for any
other purpose. The prospective financial statements included in the projection have been prepared in
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Significant accounting policies are described in the appropriate assumptions and notes to the
prospective financial statements. The assumptions described are not all-inclusive.

A hypothetical assumption is an assumption vsed in a financial projection to present a condition or
course of action that is not necessarily expected to occur, but is consistent with the purpose of the
presentation. Hypothetical assumptions are not derived from sources, which are based upon supporting
documentation such as contracts, agreements, or other empirical data. Management has prepared its
financial projection assuming the hypothetical assumption:

e The New Independent Living Units (defined later in this report) are successfully marketed and
occupied at assumed occupancy levels and that adequate demand for services exists to support
the assumed utilization,

» Construction, development, marketing and other related costs for the Project (defined later in
this report) occur in the assumed timeline and at assumed costs; and,

» The 2021 Bank Loans (defined later in this report) is issued at the assumed terms and rates.

Background of the Corporation

The Corporation, incorporated in 1975, is a not-for-profit corporation under Internal Revenue Code
Section 501(c)(3) and is, therefore, exempt from federal and state income taxes. The Corporation
currently owns and operates a continuing care retirement community {(“CCRC”) known as Arbor Acres
(the “Community”) in Winston-Salem, North Carolina.

The Corporation was organized under the sponsorship of the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of the United Methodist Church (the “Conference”). The Conference is not responsible
for the financial and contract obligations of the Corporation. The Community operates under the
supervision of a volunteer Board of Directors (the “Board”), whose members are elected by the Board
and approved by the Conference. The Board is responsible for the establishment of operational policy
and consists of not less than 18 or more than 30 members. Board members are elected for a three-year
term and are eligible for one additional successive three-year term. After serving six successive years,
a Board member must be off the Board for one year before becoming eligible again.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc., and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

Background of the Community

The Community is located on approximately 82 acres in Winston-Salem, Forsyth County, North
Carolina at 1240 Arbor Road and provides a continuum of residential accommodations that currently
include 120 independent living apartments (the “Independent Living Apartments™), 138 independent
living homes (the “Independent Living Homes”), 65 assisted living units (the “Assisted Living Units”™),
30 assisted living memory care units (the “Memory Care Units™), and 83 skilled nursing beds (the
“Nursing Beds™),

The Independent Living Apartments are located in three mid-rise residential buildings that also include
the following support facilities: business offices, fellowship hall, recreational areas, dining room,
bistro, beauty shop, several parlors, kitchen, housekeeping, laundry, and maintenance service areas,
The Independent Living Apartments and the Independent Living Homes are collectively referred to as
the “Existing Independent Living Units.”

In 2018 the Corporation added a membership program known as the “Advantage Program”, offered
to prospective residents living in the surrounding area. Advantage Program members would be
provided access to Community amenities and health care services while remaining in their current
homes. The Affiliate was formed in 2018, which offers skilled nursing, sitter and home care aide’
services to residents of the Community in the comfort of the residents’ homes,

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Ine, and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, monthly fees
(“Monthly Fees”) and entrance fees (“Entrance Fees™) for the Existing Independent Living Units.

Table 1
Existing Independent Living Unit Configuration
Type of Unit Units __Square Footage Entrance Fees'™®  Monthly Fees")
Studios
Studio 12 315 $43,000 $1,889
Studic w/study 6 315 43,000 1,889
¢ Total/weighted averages ~ -~ - . 18 - ° 315 - - $43000 . . $1,889.
Studio Suites
Connecting Room Suite 38 630 $ 110,250 $2,755
1 BR - Corpening Apt. 20 630 113,400 2,808
L. Total/weighted averages: - - . <58 = . 630, - $11 1,336 - - .. $2773
Homes
1 BR -1 Bath 4 1,150 $231,150 $2,594
2 BR -2 Bath 34 1,300 261,300 3,187
2 BR -2 Bath 30 1,500 301,500 3,412
2 BR -2 Bath 14 1,700 341,700 3,822
2 BR -2 Bath 17 1,900 381,900 4,267
2 BR — 2 Bath 9 2,100 432,600 4,512
2 BR — 2 Bath 18 2,300 473,800 4,905
:Total/weighted averages. . ... . 126 1,668 0 o 8337712 83,778
Courtyard Homes
1 BR - 1 Bath 6 1,060 $213,060 $2,986
2 BR — 2 Bath 6 1,187 238,587 3,172
« Total/weighted averapes "~ 12 - 1,124 00 8225,824 $3,079
Apartments
1 BR — 1 Bath - Type A 2 991 $183,335 82,747
I BR — 1.5 Bath—Type B 6 1,160 214,600 3,040
2 BR - 2 Bath — Type C-1 6 1,217 225,145 © 3,229
2 BR -2 Bath ~ Type C-2 6 1,397 258,445 3,425
2 BR -2 Bath — Type C-3 6 1,500 277,500 3,621
2 BR —2 Bath — Type D-1 6 1,592 294,520 3,913
2 BR — 2 Bath — Type D-2 8 1,602 296,370 3,958
2 BR -2 Bath ~ Type D-3 3 1,728 319,680 4,211
2 BR — 2 Bath — Type E-1 1 1,982 366,670 4,371
. “Total/weiphted averages .~ 44 1,435 - 7 $265,559 . $3,580 -
. Total ILUs /weighted averages - 258 o 1,275 - - $248,751 - $3,354
Second person fees —$10,000 . $1,013

Source: Management
(1) The Entrance Fee and Monthly Fee pricing is effective as of January 1, 2021.
(2) The Corporation offers a declining refundable Entrance Fee plan (the “Traditional Amortizing Plan™).

The Memory Care Units and the Nursing Beds arc located in Fitzgerald Health Center (“Fitzgerald™).
The Assisted Living Units are located in a mid-rise residential building (the “Assisted Living
Building”). The Memory Care Units, the Nursing Beds, and the Assisted Living Units are collectively

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc, and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

referred to as the “Healthcare Units”, Support facilities in Fitzgerald include offices, family rooms,
dining rooms, activity areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit, and beauty shop.

The Assisted Living Units and the Memory Care Units are classified as “Adult Care Homes,” which
are licensed and regulated by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services
(“DHHS”). The Community is licensed for 106 Adult Care Home beds. Including the Assisted Living
Units and the Memory Care Units, the Community is currently operating 102 licensed Adult Care
Home beds.

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, and the monthly/daily
fees (“Daily Fees”) of the Healthcare Units, effective January 1, 2021,

Table 2
Healtheare Unit Configuration

Number of  Number of Approximate  Monthly/ Daily

Type of Unit Units Beds®®@®  Square Footage Fees @
Assisted Living Units
Studio 22 24 453 $6,479
1 BR® 42 46 541 7,543
2BR 1 2 904 8,973
Memory Care Units
Level 111 Memory Care 30 30 450 9,673
[ Total/weighted averages: = .~ “ - 95 0 102 ' 496 . $7984 |
Nursing Beds
Private Room 83 83 314 $351 / day
. Total/weighted averages = . *~ . 178 . - 185 411 - $9,239/month"

Source: Management

{) The Community is licensed by DHHS for 106 Adult Care Home beds.

(2y The Community is licensed by DHHS for 83 skilled nursing beds. The Community does not participate in Medicaid
and is licensed for 6 Medicare skilled nursing beds.

(3) There is a $2,800 non-refundable admission fee for direct admits into the Healthcare Units.

4y Four units include double occupancy.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

Description of the Project

Management has plans for an expansion to the Community to be known as “Aldersgate Square”,
expected to include the construction of 56 additional Independent Living Apartments (the “New
Independent Living Units™). The following table summarizes the unit types, approximate square
footage, Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees for the New Independent Living Units.

Table 3
New Independent Living Unit Configuration
Unit Configuration Number of Units Square Footage Entrance Fee( Monthly Fee™
Two-Bedroom Duo 2 1,546 $ 286,500 - $ 406,500 53,876
Two-Bedroom Standard 14 1,615 $ 382,500 - $ 412,500 $4,070
Two-Bedroom Deluxe 14 1,767 $ 427,000 - § 457,000 $ 4,453
Two-Bedroom Alcove 12 1,800 $ 431,500 - $ 491,500 $4,536
Two-Bedroom Deluxe Den 14 2,005 $ 510,000 - $582,500 $5,053
TOTAL/AVERAGES 56 1,788 § 455,071 $4,505

Second Person Fees

Source: Management
{1) Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees shown are in 2021 dollars. Entrance fees shown are for the Traditional Amortizing Plan, Entrance
Fees pricing is assumed to increase by 3.0 percent annually throughout the projection period.

The Existing Independent Living Units and the New Independent Living Units are collectively referred
to as the “Independent Living Units”.

The following table summarizes the number of units by level of care before and after the completion
of the Project.

Table 4
Number of Units/Beds Before and After the Project
Unit Type Existing " Project~ | Upon Completion
Independent Living Apartments 120 SR 56 176
Independent Living Homes 138 5 . (5) | B 132
Assisted Living Units 65 - - S 65
Memory Care Units 30 ' — L 30
Skilled Nursing Beds 83 o — o 33
Total 436 s 486

Source: Management
(1) Management assumes that 6 Independent Living Homes will be vacated by April 2021 and removed from service.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Timeline

The following table illustrates the anticipated timeline for financing, construction completion and fill-
up of the Project.

Table §
Development Timeline
Issuance of 2021 Bank Loan July 2021
Construction commences on the Project July 2021
New Independent Living Units available for occupancy January 2023
New Independent Living Units achieve stabilized occupancy of 95% March 2024

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
12



Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the highly contagious respiratory disease
named “coronavirus disease 2019” (“COVID-19”) to be a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, a
national emergency was declared in the United States. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
has confirmed the spread of COVID-19 to the United States, including North Carolina. In response,
the federal government and a large number of state governments, including North Carolina, have
imposed strict measures to curtail certain aspects of public life in an effort to contain COVID-19,

In additton to the direct impact to the health care industry, global investment and financial markets
(including in the United States) have experienced substantial volatility, with significant declines
attributed to COVID-19 concerns and associated economic impacts of the curtailment of public life
described above. As with nearly all industries and companies operating through the COVID-19
pandemic, the Corporation expects to encounter further volatility and disruption in its operations and
in the local, national and global economies.

An outbreak of an infectious disease, including the growth in the magnitude or severity of COVID-
19 cases in the Corporation’s service area, could result in an abnormally high demand for health care
services. Further, the changing global economic conditions or global health concerns surrounding the
COVID-19 pandemic may also affect the Corporation’s partners, suppliers, distributors and payors,
potentially disrupting or delaying the Corporation’s supply chain, project construction progress and
reimbursement by private payors.

The extent of COVID-19’s effect on the Corporation’s operational and financial performance will
depend on future developments, including the duration, spread and intensity of the pandemic, all of
which are uncertain and difficult to predict considering the rapidly evolving landscape. As a result,
the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely impact the Company’s
financial condition, liquidity and results of operations, as well as national and local economies. As a
result, Management has not estimated the potential impact of COVID-19 on the Corporation.
Management has not considered the potential impact of COVID-19 in its projection.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Financing

The total financial requirements to fund Project costs is assumed to approximate $55,000,000. The
Corporation proposes to fund these financial requirements primarily through the issuance of
$55,000,000 bank loans. Management has assumed the following sources and uses of funds in
preparing the financial projection.

Table 6
Sources and Uses of Funds
(In Thousands)
Sources of Funds:
2021 LT Bank Loan ) $ 33,000
2021 ST Bank Loan @ 22,000
Total Sources of Funds 55,000
Uses of Funds:
Project Costs:
Direct construction costs 46,256
Indirect construction costs ¥ 324
Design and engineering ©® 2,391
Marketing costs © 900
Miscellaneous costs 627
Contingency ® 2,643
Total Project Costs 33,141
Funded Interest Fund & 1,247
Cost of Issuance and Other Costs /% 612
Total Uses of Funds $ 55,000

Source: Management
(1) Management estimates the long-term bank loan proceeds would approximate $33,000,000 with an average interest rate of 3.0 percent
pet annum (the “2021 LT Bank Loan™).

(2) Management estimates the short-term bank loan proceeds would approximate $22,000,000 with an average interest rate of 2.9
percent per annum {the <2021 81 Bank Loan™}. The 2021 ST Bank Loan proceeds are anticipated to be repaid with initial Entrance
Fees from the New Independent Living Units. The 2021 ST Bank Loan and the 2021 LT Bank Loan are collectively defined as the
#2021 Bank Loans™.

(3) Construction and other costs related to the Project are assumed to approximate $46,256,000.
{4) Indirect construction costs are assumed to approximate $324,000 and include furniture and equipment costs.

(5) Design and engineering costs are assumed to approximate $2,391,000 and include architecture, interior design, civil engineering,
and owner's representative services.

(6) Marketing costs are assumed to approximate $300,000 and include expenses related to direct marketing and advertising costs, and
other promotion materials.

{7) Miscellaneous costs are assumed fo approximate $627,000 and include expenses related to start-up costs, insurance, consulting, and
legal costs, as provided by Management,

(8) Management has included a total contingency of $2,643,000 for the Project.

(9) Management has estimated approximately $1,247,000 of proceeds from the 2021 Bank Loans to be used to fund interest for 18
months from the date of the issuance.

(10} Costs of issuance related to the 2021 Bank Loans are assumed to approximate $612,000, including legal fees, consulting fees, the
bank origination fees, issuer fees, and other miscellaneous financing costs.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Residency Agreement

Services and Amenities

The residency agreement (“Residency Apgreement”) is a contract under which the Corporation is
obligated, upon payment by the resident (the “Resident” or “Residents”) of an Entrance Fee and ongoing
payment of the Monthly Fee, to provide certain services to the Remdent While the Resident occupies an
Independent Living Unit, services provided include:

¢ Maintenance of the Community’s buildings and common grounds;

Heat, air conditioning, electricity, gas, water and sewer; telephone jack, but no personal
telephone handset or telephone service;

Basic cable television and internet service;

Emergency call system, nursing assessments and assistance in emergencies;
Routine consultation regarding health concerns;

Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life programs;
Routine transportation to non-emergency medical appointments;

In-patient care in the Health Center with limited days at no additional charge;
Weekly housekeeping service and annual deep cleaning;

Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by the Community;

24-7 security personnel on the grounds of the Community; and

Dining services with meals or meal allowance.

Admittance Standards

To be accepted for residency to a selected Independent Living Unit, the Resident will execute a
Residency Agreement. The terms of the Residency Agreement require the Corporation accept persons
who exhibit the ability to live independently and meet the financial obligation as a Resident. Upon
execution of the Residency Agreement, the Resident has the following payment options: (i} pay the
Entrance Fee in full, or (ii) pay twenty-five percent of the total Entrance Fee, with the balance to be paid
no later than five days prior to the date of occupancy.

Additional Services or Care

Pursuant to the Residency Agreement, the Resident may reside in the Independent Living Unit for as
long as he or she is capable of meeting the requirements of occupancy. If the Resident is no longer able
to meet the requirements of residing in the Independent Living Units, the Resident may be transferred
temporarily or permanently to a Healthcare Unit,

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting

The Corporation and Affiliate maintains its accounting and financial records according to the
accrual basis of accounting.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and the Affiliate.
All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation,

(¢) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, excluding those classified as investments and assets whose use is
limited, include cash in banks, cash on hand and investments in highly liquid debt instruments with
an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. The Corporation maintains its cash
in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally depository insurance (FDIC) limits.
Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits is minimal due to the strong
credit rating of the financial institutions.

(d) Investments

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt
securities are measured at fair value based on quoted market prices in the projected balance sheets.
Investment in certain alternative investments are recorded at net asset value. Investment income
(including realized gains and losses on investments, interest, and dividends) is included in
operating income unless restricted by donor or law. The Corporation elected the fair value option
for investments and assets limited as to use, and as such these securities are treated as trading
securities. Unrealized gains or losses are reported within the performance indicator, excess
(deficit) of revenues over expenses. Management assumes no realized or unrealized gains and
losses in the projection period.

(e) Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the Board, over which the Board
retains control and may at its discretion subsequently use for other purposes, or restricted by donors
or trustee agreements for future capital improvements, operating reserves, and resident assistance.

North Carolina General Statute Section 58-64-33 requires CCRC’s to maintain an operating
reserve equal to 50 percent of total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) in a given
year, or 25 percent of such total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) if independent
living and assisted living occupancy exceeds 90 percent.

Assistance endowment funds include donor restricted funds and amounts designated by the Board.
The Corporation uses certain board designated net assets and the earnings from certain
permanently restricted net assets for assistance to residents.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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(0 Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Donated property is
recorded at its estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives:

Land improvement 20 vears
Buildings 10-40 years
Furniture and equipment 3-10 years

(2) Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs include underwriter fees, feasibility studies, modification fees, and other
professional fees. Debt issuance costs have been recorded as a deduction against the related debt
and are being amortized using the straight-line method over the lives of the various debt
instruments, which approximate amortization computed using the effective interest method.

(h) Refundable Deposits

Refundable deposits represent the portion of the payment of parking fees that will be refunded to
the resident when parking is no longer required.

(i) Obligation to Provide Future Services

As of December 31, 2020, the obligation calculated resulted in the Corporation’s net present value
of future cash inflows exceeding the net present value of future expenditures, less the balance of
unamortized deferred revenue, plus depreciation of facilities to be charged related to resident
contracts. Therefore, no liability was reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December
31, 2020. For purposes of the projection, no provision for future service obligations is assumed to
be required during the projection pertod.

(j) Interest Rate Swap

The Corporation utilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in interest rates on its bonds.
The Corporation accounts for its interest rate swaps under accounting principles gencrally accepted
in the United States, which requires companies to recognize all derivative instruments as either
assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value
(i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and
qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and, further, on the type of hedging relationship. For
those derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, a company
must designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value
hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a
foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments, the changes
in fair value are recognized in excess revenue over expenses. The Corporation’s interest rate swaps
are not designated as hedging instruments and the changes in fair value are included in changes in
net assets without donor restrictions. For purposes of the projection, no changes in the fair value
of interest rate swaps are assumed during the projection period.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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(k) Income Taxes

The Corporation has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a not-for-profit
corporation as described in Sec. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “IRC™), and is exempt
from federal income taxes pursuant to Sec. 501(a). The Affiliate is a limited liability company that
has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under IRC regulations. The Affiliate is wholly owned
by the Corporation. As such, the Affiliate is considered a disregarded entity under current IRC
regulations.

(1) Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees

The non-refundable portion of Entrance Fees received are recorded as deferred revenue and are
recognized as operating income using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining life
expectancy of the residents in the Independent Living Units, adjusted annually as determined by
actuarial life expectancy tables.

(m) Refundable Entrance Fees

Refundable entrance fees represent the total contractual refund obligations under existing contracts
(that is if all residents with a refundable balance were to have withdrawn).

{(n) Functional Expense Classification

All expenses in the accompanying projected consolidated statement of operations were incurred
for or related to the provision of services by the Community and the Affiliate,

(0) Resident Fees

Resident fees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third-party payors, and
others for services rendered. Resident fees are recorded as revenue when earned.

(p) Financial Assistance

The Corporation currently maintains a financial assistance program and policy for residents
holding continuing care residency agreements in the event the resident(s) should become unable
to pay for services. The Corporation reserves the right to change the program and policy and does
not guarantee future financial assistance. The Corporation does not expect to collect the normal
charges for services provided for those residents who meet the financial assistance provisions so
estimated charges for such assistance are not included in revenue. The Corporation uses both
donor restricted and board-restricted funds to provide financial assistance. The Corporation
receives contributions in three primary ways: through annual fundraising efforts, annual requests
of outreach ministries, and estate donations.

(q) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the projected financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires Management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the projected consolidated financial statements,
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
18



- Arbor Acres United Methodist Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions
Retirement Community, Inc, and Affiliate and Rationale, Continued

(1) Net Assets
The Corporation classifies its net assets as net assets with or without donor restrictions:

* Net assets without donor restrictions - resources of the Corporation that are not restricted by
donors or grantors as to use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from
operations, undesignated gifts, and the investment in property and equipment.

* Net assets with donor restrictions - resources that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions.
Some donor imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the
passage of time or actions of the Corporation. Other donor imposed restrictions stipulate
that donated assets be maintained in perpetuity, but may permit the Corporation to use or
expend part or all of the income derived from the donated assets.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Revenue and Entrance Fee Assumptions
Independent Living Units

Resident service revenue for Residents living in the Independent Living Units is based upon the
assumed occupancy and the Monthly Fees of the respective units. The Independent Living Units’
Monthly Fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2022 and annually thereafter.

The Existing Independent Living Units are assumed to achieve and maintain a 95.7 percent occupancy
level by December 2022 and remain at that level throughout the projection period. New Independent
Living Unit occupancy of approximately 94.6 percent is assumed to be achieved by February 2024
and remain constant at that level throughout the remainder of the projection. The following table
summarizes the assumed utilization of the Independent Living Units.

Table 7
Utilization of the Independent Living Units

Years ended  Existing Independent Living Units New Independent Livihg- Units

December o ‘ o

3, Occupied Available Occupied Occupied Available Occupied Total ILU

Projected: | _ N
2021 2420 258.0 93.8% - So- - 93.8%
2022 @ 241.1 252.0 95.7% - : - 95.7%
2023 EEVTR 252.0 95.7% 283 560 50.6% 87.4%
2024 241.1 252.0 95.7% 52.8 56.0 94.3% - 95.4%
2025 241.1 252.0 95.7% 53.0 56.0 94.6% 95.5%

Source: Management

(1) Six Independent Living Homes are assumed to be vacated and removed from service by December 2021, with
Residents assumed to relocate to currently vacant Existing Independent Living Units,

(2) The 56 New Independent Living Units are anticipated to be available for occupancy in January 2023 and are
anticipated to fill over a 14-month period at an average of approximately 3.8 units per month.

Double occupancy percentages in the Independent Living Units are assumed to be 28 percent of the
occupied units throughout the projection period.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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The following table summarizes the move-in assumptions for the new Independent Living Units
during the projection period.

Table 8
Fill-Up Schedule — New Independent Living Units
Fiscal New Independent Cumulative Cumulative
Year/Month Living Units Occupied Occupancy
2023
January 4.0 4.0 7.1%
February 4.0 8.0 14.3%
March 4.0 12.0 21.4%
April 6.0 18.0 32.1%
May 6.0 24.0 42.9%
June 6.0 30.0 53.6%
July 6.0 36.0 64.3%
August 4,0 40.0 71.4%
September 4.0 44.0 78.6%
October 3.0 47.0 83.9%
November 3.0 50.0 89.3%
December 1.0 ' 51.0 91.1%
2024
Januvary 1.0 52.0 92.9%
February . 1.0 53.0 94.6%
Total 53.0

Source: Management
(1) Cumulative occupancy based on 56 New Independent Living Units

Assumed Independent Living Turnover

The assumed turnover for the Independent Living Units due to death, withdrawal or transfer to assisted
living, memory care, or nursing accommodations, and double occupancy of the Independent Living
Units has been based, in part, on historical experience of the Corporation.

Refunds of Entrance Fees are generated upon termination of the Residency Agreement and withdrawal
from the Community, subject to the re-occupancy of the vacated Independent Living Units. Entrance
Fees may be generated from Independent Living Unit turning over without a corresponding refund
because the Resident has not withdrawn from the Community, but has permanently transferred to
assisted living, memory care, or nursing accommodations. The assumed number of refunds on the
Independent Living Units is provided by Management,

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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The following table presents the assumed initial and atirition Entrance Fees received and the total
Entrance Fee refunds.

Table 9
Initial and Attrition Entrance Fee Receipts and Total Entrance Fee Refunds
{In Thousands)

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Number of Entrance Fees Received

Initial move-ins - - 51.0 2.0 -

Turnovers 30.0 30.0 30.0 31.0 31.0
Entrance Fees Received

New Independent Living Units $ - & - $23621 $ 915 § -

Existing [ndependent Living Units 6,281 7,808 8,480 9,147 9,873

Assisted Living Units & Nursing Beds" 112 112 112 112 112

Advantage Program 210 407 439 146 161
Entrance Fees Refunded

Independent Living Units ¢ (400) (386) (663) (915)  (931)

Advantage Program ‘¥ (58) (81) (106) (122) (125
Entrance Fees Received, Net of Refunds $6,145  $7,860 $31,883  $9,283  $9,090

Source: Management

(1) There is a $2,800 non-refundable Entrance Fee for Residents directly admitted into the Healthcare Units.

() There is a $12,500 Entrance Fee for Advantage Program members, which is refundable over 50 months minus a $1,000
non-refundable fee.

(3) The Community offers a Traditional Amortizing Plan. Entrance Fee refunds for the Independent Living Units are
based on the experience of Management.

4) Entrance Fees already paid for Advantage Program membership are transferrable to the Entrance Fee required to move
into a residential unit at the Community.

Entrance Fees for the Independent Living Units are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January
1, 2022 and annually thereafter,

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Assisted Living Units

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and
supervision necessary for the Assisted Living Units, with these accommodations available to residents
on a priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas.

‘The Monthly Fees are generated from assisted living services provided to Residents transferring from
the Independent Living Units as well as direct admissions from the surrounding area to the Assisted
Living Units. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent Living Units to the Assisted
Living Units are assumed to pay the then current Monthly Fee. Assisted Living Monthly Fees are
assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2022 and annually thereafter.

The Assisted Living Units are assumed to maintain a 94.6 percent occupancy level throughout the
projection period. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Assisted Living
Units.

Table 10
Utilization of the Assisted Living Units

Years ended

December 31, Occupied Available Y Occupied
Projected:
2021 63.4 67.0 94.6%
2022 63.4 67.0 94.6%
2023 63.4 67.0 94.6%
2024 63.4 67.0 94.6%
2025 63.4 67.0 94.6%

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Memory Care Units

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and
supervision necessary for the Memory Care Units, with these accommodations available to residents
on a priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas.

The Monthly Fees are generated from memory care services provided to residents transferring from
the Independent Living Units, Assisted Living Units, as well as direct admissions from the surrounding
area to the Memory Care Units. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent Living Units
or Assisted Living Units to the Memory Care Units are assumed to pay the then current Monthly Fee.
Memory Care Monthly Fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2022 and
annually thereafter,

The Memory Care Units are assumed to maintain a 94.6 percent occupancy level throughout the
projection period. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Memory Care Units.

Table 11
Utilization of the Memory Care Units

Years ended

December 31 Occupied Available Y Occupied
Projected:
2021 28.4 30.0 94.6%
2022 284 30.0 94.6%
2023 284 30.0 94.6%
2024 28.4 30.0 94.6%
2025 284 30.0 94.6%

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants” Compilation Report
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Nursiﬁg Beds

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and
supervision necessary for the Nursing Beds, with these accommodations available to residents on a
priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas.

The Daily Fees are generated from services provided to residents transferring from the Independent
Living Units, the Assisted Living Units, the Memory Care Units, or as direct admissions from the
surrounding area to the Nursing Beds. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent
Living Units, the Assisted Living Units, or the Memory Care Units would pay the then current Daily
Rate. Nursing Bed daily fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2022 and
annually thereafier.

In addition, resident revenues for the Independent Living Units, Assisted Living Units, Memory Care
Units and Nursing Beds also include revenues from additional resident meals, barber and beauty
services, and gift shop sales, which are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January 1, 2022 and
annually thereafter.

The Nursing Beds are assumed to maintain a 91.6 percent occupancy level throughout the projection
period, The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Nursing Beds,

Table 12
Utilization of Nursing Beds

Years ended Private Pay Medicare = Occupied Available!) % Occupied

December 31,

Projected:
2021 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 01.6%
2022 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6%
2023 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6%
2024 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6%
2025 72.0 4.0 76.0 83.0 91.6%

Source: Management
(1) The Community is licensed by DHHS for 83 nursing beds. The Community does not participate in Medicaid and
is licensed for 6 Medicare skilled nursing beds,

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Advantage Program

Advantage Program revenue is based upon the assumed utilization and an assumed monthly fee of
$400 per individual member, which is assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually throughout the
projection period,

Table 13
Advantage Program Members
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Average number of members 46.5 63.5 90.4 100.0 1000

Source: Management
Home Care
Home care revenue is based upon the assumed utilization and an assumed hourly fee of $17 per hour

for home health aide and sitter services. Hourly fees are assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually
throughout the projection period.

Table 14
Home Care Utilization
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Home Health Aide / Sitter Hours 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000

Source: Management

Other Income

Other revenue consists of revenues from catering meals, guest apartment rentals, application fees, gift
shop sales, and other miscellaneous sources. Other revenue is assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually
throughout the projection period.

Interest Income

The average annual rate of return on the Corporation’s unrestricted cash, investments and Assets
Limited to Use is assumed to be 3.0 percent.

Contributions

Contributions include endowment income unrestricted and, donor restricted gifts. Management
assumes that no contributions receivable assumed to be collected during the projection period.

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Operating Expenses

Operating cxpenses are estimated by Management based on its historical experience and expectations
for the projection period. Staff salaries and benefits are based on prevailing local salary and wage rates
and are assumed to increase 3.0 percent annually throughout the projection period. The costs of
employee fringe benefits are assumed to approximate 28.5 percent of salaries and wages.

Other non-salary operating expenses are assumed to include ongoeing marketing costs, raw food costs,
utilities, supplies, maintenance and security contracts, building and general liability insurance, legal
and accounting fees, and other miscellaneous expenses and are assumed to increase 3.0 percent
annually throughout the projection period.

Assets Limited as to Use

Assets Limited as to Use include donor restricted funds for residence assistance, assistance
endowment, and for other specific purposes.

Operating Reserve Requirement

North Carolina General Statute § 58-64-33 requires CCRC’s to maintain an operating reserve (the
“Statutory Operating Reserve”) equal to 50 percent of the total operating costs in a given year, or 25
percent of such total operating costs if occupancy as of a certain date exceeds 90 percent of the
independent living unit capacity. This law provides security to residents that the Community is able
to meet its contractual obligations to provide continuing care. Management’s projection shows
sufficient cash and investment balances to comply with the Statutory Operating Resetve requirement
throughout the projection period.

Long-Term Debt and Interest Expense

Series 2010 Bank Bonds

In June 2010, the Corporation obtained debt (“Series 2010 Bank Bonds™) to pay for the construction
of the Assisted Living Building. The Series 2010 Bank Bonds consist of $28,845,000 with a variable
interest rate of 79 percent of LIBOR plus 1.0854 percent. The Series 2010 Bank Bonds are covered
by an interest rate swap that effectively fixes the variable interest rate bonds at 3.333 percent and
expires in December 2037. Interest on the Series 2010 Bank Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on
the Series 2010 Bank Bonds is paid monthly with a final maturity on January 1, 2038. As of December
31, 2020, the balance of the 2010 Bank Bonds was approximately $24,100,000.

Series 2016 Bonds

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities
First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series
2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds™) were issued to refund the then outstanding North Carolina Medical
Care Commission Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres
Methodist Retirement Community) Series 2007 (the “Series 2007 Bonds™). The Series 2016 Bonds
consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap at 2.914 percent per annum.
Interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly, Principal on the Series 2016 Bonds is paid

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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monthly with a final maturity on January 1, 2031, As of December 31, 2020, the balance of the Series
2016 Bonds was approximately $9,925,000.

2019 Bank Loan

In September 2019, the Corporation entered into a loan agreement with a commercial bank (the “2019
Bank Loan”) to refinance then current debt and finance Community renovations. The 2019 Bank Loan
consists of a $8,450,000 taxable loan amortized over 15 years and a variable interest rate of LIBOR
plus 1.15 percent. The 2019 Bank Loan is covered by an interest rate swap that effectively fixes the
variable interest rate loan at 2.865 percent and expires in September 2034. Interest on the 2019 Bank
Loan is payable monthly. Principal on the 2019 Bank Loan is paid monthly with a final maturity on
September 1, 2034. As of December 31, 2020, the balance of the 2019 Bank Loan was approximately
$7,876,000.

2021 Bank Loans

Management plans to finance the construction of the Project through issuance of the 2021 Bank Loans
totaling $55,000,000, assumed to be drawn down over a period of 18 months beginning July 1, 2021.
The 2021 Bank Loans consists of the $22,000,000 2021 ST Bank Loan and the $33,000,000 LT Bank

Loan.

The 2021 ST Bank Loan is assumed to accrue interest at a rate of 2.9 percent per annum. Interest on
the 2021 ST Bank Loan is assumed to be payable monthly beginning in August 2021. Principal on the
2021 ST Bank Loan is assumed to be repaid monthly with initial Entrance Fees received from the New
Independent Living Units beginning in February 2023 with a final payment in July 2026.

The 2021 LT Bank Loan is assumed to accrue interest at a rate of 3.0 percent per annum. Interest on
the 2021 LT Bank Loan is assumed to be payable monthly beginning in August 2021. Principal on the
2021 LT Bank Loan is assumed to be repaid monthly beginning August 2026.

The following table presents the assumed annual debt service during the projection period.

Table 15
Annual Debt Service
(In Thousands)

Year Series 2010 Bank Series 2016 20192 Bank 2021 ST Bank 2021 L'E Bank

Ending - Bonds Bonds Loan Loan Loan Total

December ' . Debt

31, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest  Service
2021 660 804 876 281 473 223 - 123 - 2 3,442
2022 660 782 200 255 487 209 - 676 - 446 4,415
2023 720 759 922 228 501 194 5,762 620 - 1,0Mm 10,777
2024 720 736 937 201 516 180 6,286 424 - 1,073 11,073
2025 775 709 970 173 531 164 6,286 224 - 170 10,902

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants® Compilation Report
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Current Assets and Cuarrent Liabilities

Operating expenses exclude amortization, depreciation, other non-cash expenses and interest expense,
Operating revenues include service fees. Working capital components have been estimated based on
industry standards and Management’s historical experience as follows:

Table 16
Working Capital — Days on Hand
Accounts receivable 5 days operating revenucs
Prepaid expenses 6 days operating expenses
Accounts payable 20 days operating expenses
Accrued expenses 15 days operating expenses

Source: Management

See accompanying Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FORECAST BALANCE SHEET
Decembar 31, 2020
(in theusands of dollars)

ASSETS Audit* Ferecast™
2020 2020 $ Variance % Variance  Explanation
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 3 3,575 $ 2,487 $ 1,088 44% A
Investments 18,747 15,287 3,460 23%
Accounts recelvable, net 798 393 405 103% D
Gurrent portion of campaign pledges recelvable - N (31) “100%
Prepaid expenses 360 423 63) -16%
Current portion of assets limited as to use 82 - 82 #DIV/O!
Total Current Assels 23,562 18,821
Non-current assets:
Assets Hmited as to use:
Board dasignated for;
Assistance endawment 8,721 6,348 373 B% B
Capital projects 2,520 2520 - 0%
Donor rastricted far:
Resldent assistance 293 72 221 307%
Asslstance endowment 11,068 9,512 1,556 16% B,C
Other sgecific purpeses 713 719 (6) 1%
Slate opserating reserve requlrement 7,400 7400 - 0%
Bond trustee 82 - 82 #DIYOI
Total assets limited as tc use 28,797 28,571
Less: current portion {82) - 82) #DIv/ol
Campaign pledges raceivable, net of current portion - - - #DIV/0!
Other long-term assets 121 121 - 0%
Property and equipment, net 86,633 87,617 (684} -1%
Beneficial interest in pergatual frust 1,449 1,345 104 8%
Inlerest rate swap asset D - - #DIVIO
Total nen-current assets 116,918 115,664
TOTAL ASSETS $ 140,480 5 134,275
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilties:
Accounts payable $ 1,428 5 1,455 2n -2%
Accrued expenses 1,278 1,060 108 18%
Accrued interest payabla 99 127 (28) -22%
Current maturities of long-term debt 2,009 2,009 - 0%
Uneamed grants 393 B 303 #DIV/O! E
Estimated refundable entrance fees 326 491 (165) -34%
Total current liabiliies 5,533 5,162
Long-term liabilities:
Refundable daposits 111 54 57 106%
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 32,816 33,468 (6562) -2%
Lang-term debt, less cumant maturities 36,236 39,186 50 0%
Liability for interest rate swaps 5,360 2,482 2,868 116% G
Total long term liabilites 77,513 75,190
Total Liabilities 83,045 80,352
Net Assets
Without denor resirictions 43,910 42,222 1,688 4%
With donor restriclions 13,524 11,701 1,823 16%
Total Net Assats 57,434 53,623
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 140,480 § 134,275

Maleriality for purpeses of this disclesure are differences greater than $250,000 and 25% variance from the pravious year.

A - See Statement of cashflows for reasons for the difference in the ending cash balance,

B - Arbor Acres pudgets investment returns conservatively, aciual retumns in 2020 were significant, resulting In higher ending kalances

C - Endoewment donations were budgeted conservatively for the forecast, aclual endowment donations have significantly exceeded foracast.

D - Signficant recelvables related to Home care ware not contemplated when the forecast was created. Therefore actual amounts differ.

E - Arbor Acres was the recipient of GARES Act Provider Refief Funds in 2020, this represents the unspent portion, not budgeted,

G - Arbor Acres does nol forecast any changes in the value of interest rate swaps, the actual change was significant.

* Amounts are derived from the audited financial statements and presented in thousands of dollars.

= Amounts are derived from the December 31, 2020 - 2024 financial prejection, Amounts are presented In a format similar to the

audit presentation. :



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FORECAST STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

Audit* Forecast**

Reavenue, galns and other support 2020 2020 $ Variance % Variance  Explanation
Contributions $ 2,731 3 1,286 5 1,445 112.4% c
Resicent faes 27,470 27,549 (79) -0.3%

Home Care revenue 1,123 513 610 118.9% 5
Entrance fees earned 5,066 5,200 (134) -2.6%
Investment income B48 745 103 13.8%
Other revenue 669 127 542 426.8% 2

Total revenus, gains and other support 37,907 35,420

Expenses
Medical and personal care 7,785 7,821 (138} 1.7%

Food service 5,225 5,004 221 4.4%
Facility services 5,388 5,393 (6} -0.1%
Utilities 1,336 1,437 (101} -7.0%
Resident services 1,318 1,458 (140) -9.6%
Administration 3,335 3,477 (142) -4.1%
Human resources 542 549 (M) -1.3%
Home Care expenses 1,040 546 494 $0.5% 5
Marketing & development 1,043 1,071 (28) -2.6%
Depreciation 7,440 7,500 (60) -0.8%
Interest expense 1,423 1,416 7 0.5%

Total expenses 35,875 35,772
Operating income 2,032 (352)

Non-operating revenue {expenses):

Loss on extinguishment of debt - - - #DIV/0!

Loss on disposal of property {248) (400} 155 -38.8%
Unrealized loss from interest rate swap (2,868) - (2,868) HDIV 3
Change in value - perpetual trusts 105 - 105 #DIV/O!

Net realized gain on investmeants 246 - 246 #DIVIC!

Net unrealized gain on investments 3,489 - 3,489 #DIV/IOI 3

Excess of revenues ovar expenses 2,759 (752)

Change in net assets 2,759 (752)
Net assets, beginning 54,675 54,675
Net assets, ending 5 57,434 $ 53,023

Matariality for purposes of this disclosure are differences greater than $250,000 and 25% variance from the previous year.
2. Arbor Acres was the recipient of CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, this includes $800k in unbudgeted program support.
3. Arbor Acres does not typically forecast realized and unrealized gains or losses on interest rate swaps or investmants.

5. Arbor Acres' Home Care business Revenues and Expenses were well above budget as the business grew faster
than expected. 2020 was the first full calendar year of the businass and growth was faster than anticipated.

* Amounts are derived from the audited financial statements totals, and presented in thousands of dollars.

* Amounts are derived from the Decamber 31, 201$ - 2023 financial projection. Amounts are presented in a format similar to
the audit presentation.



ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
COMPARISON OF AUDIT TO FORECAST STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net
assets to net cash provided by operating activities

Depraciation
Loss on disposal of assets
Realized & unrealized gain on investments
Changa in valua parpetual trusts
Contributions restrictad for long-term investment
Entrance fees recaived
Amortization of enfrance fees
Amortization of deferred costs
Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate swap

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts recelvable
Campalgn receivables
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Unearned grants

Refundable deposits

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of proparty and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property & equipment
{Increase) decrease in assets limited as fo use
Purchase of investments, net
‘Net cash used In investing activities

Cash flows from financing activitiles
Paymenit on leng-term debt
Entrance fee refunds
Contributicns restricted for long-term investment
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase (decrease) In cash and cash equivalents

Beginning balance, cash and cash equivalents

Ending balance, cash and cash equivalents

Materiality for purposes of this disclosure are differences greater than $250,000 and 25% variance from the previous year.

{in thousands of dollars)

Audit* Forecast™
2020 2020 $ Variance % Variance Explanation
$ 2,769 % (7520 % 351
7,440 7,500 (60) -0.8%
245 400 (156) -38.8%
(3,735) - (3,736) #DIV/0| 3
{1085) - (105) #DIVIO|
(1,088) - (1,088) #DIVIO| z
5,592 6,601 {1,009) -15.3%
(5,088) (5,200) 134 -2.6%
48 48 - 0.0%
2,868 - 2,868 #DIV/Q! 3
(159) 246 (405) -164.8% D
i 4] 31 #DIVQ!
16 47 63 -134.0%
157 249 (92) -36.9%
169 51 118 231.4%
393 - 393 #DIVA! E
56 - 56 #DIV/Q!
9,621 9,006
(4,877) {6,242) 1,365 -21.9% W
2 - 2 #DIv/0!
{2,380) {1,108} {1.271) 114.6% B
{857) {177) (680} 384.2% Y
{8,112) {7,528)
{1,922) {1,922 - 0.0%
{390) {448} 59 -13.1%
1,088 - 1,088 #DIV/GI z
{1,224) (2,371}
285 (803)
3,290 3,290
$ 3,676 ] 2,487

See the balance sheet and statement of operations and changes in net assets for selected explanations,

Z. Arbor Acres did not forecast this line item,

Y. Less funds were transfemred to the investment porifolio than was forecast.

W. Capital expenditures of over $1m related to a planned expansion project were ot included in the forecast.

T. Arbor Acres refinanced outstanding debt with an additicnal taxable loan in 2019. This resulted in a repayment and new loan.

8. Aclual entrance fees received were greater, primarily because turnover of units was greater than forecast.

R. There were less refunds actually pald out than had been forecast for the period.

* Amounts are derived from the audited financial statements totals, and presented in thousands of dollars.

** Amourits are derived from the December 31, 2020 - 2024 financial projection. Amounts are presented in a format similar o the

audit presentaticn.



ESCROW AGREEMENT

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT (this "Agreement”) is made this |3 day of ;&me:« , 2020 by and
between Arbor Acres Unifed Methodist Retirement Comnunity, Inc., 8 North Caroltna nonprofit
corporation ("Sponsor”), and Trulst Bank, 4 North Carolina banking corporation ("Eserow Agent”).

ALS

A, Sponsor is the intended operator of cerfain property located in Winston-8 alern, North Caroling ag
A continuing care retirement community known ay Arbor Acres (the "Community™). As the uperator,
Sponsar will from time to time enter inte non-binding pdotity list reservation agreements ‘with persons
desiring to reside at Arbor Acres and into binding reservation agreements and/or resident agreements

with persoms contracting for residences at the Cor

nimunify; and

B.  Pursuant to such non-binding priotity list reservati oIr agreements, persols desiring to resids at
Atbor Acres deposit funds ("Deposits™) with Sporsor aod, pursuant to such binding reservation
agreements and/or resident agreements, the prospective resident(s) {("Depositing Person(s)") contracting
for a residence are required to pay all or a portion of ceftaih entrance fees ("Entrance Fees"} prior to
ocenpancy by therm; and "

C.  Pursuant to Article 64 of Chapter 58 of the North Cabolina General Statutes, as amended (the
"Act"), and Tide 11, Chapter 11, Subchapter H, Section 0103(I)(bj(ii) of the North Caroliria
Administrative Cade, the Deposits Yeceived in connection With non-binding priosity Mt veservation
agrecments and certain Entrance Fees received in connection with binding reservation agrecments

and/or restdent agreements must be escrowed; and

D, Subjestfo the ferms of the Act. Spongor hereby sgrees to deposit in an escrow fund cstablished
and maintained by the Escrow Agent (the "Escrow Account™) the Deposits and the Entrance Feos that
are tequired to be deposited into an eserow fird pursuant 16 the Act: and

E. The parties hereto now desire and intend {0 provide for the safekeeping of the Deposits end such
Entrance Fees and for the procedures in disbursing the Deposits and such Entranee Fops:

| | WITNESSEYH:
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth above, the mutual eovenants sef forth
below, and other good and valuable considefation, the receipt, and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. The Bscrow Agent shall open the Bscrow Acconnt, and the Spongor shall deposit with the
Escrow Apent, (a) any and all Depositsmade by Depositing Persons purstiant to their specific tion-
binding pricrity list teservation agreements, and (b) alt Entrance Fees reccived or Deposits recast as
Entraice Fees pursuant to paragraph 4 hereafter, except (i) if the conditions set forth in paragraph 6
hereatter have been'met, only 75% of Enirance Fees received of Deposifs recast as-Entrance Fees shall



be deposited or retained, respectively, and (i) 1f the conditions set forth in paragraph 7 hereafier have
been met, no soch Bntrance Fees received or Deposits recast as Entrance Fees shall be deposited or
retained, respeciively.

2. The Escrow Agent hereby agrees to miaintain the Deposits and Enirance Fee amowits separate
and apart from its other funds, and shall held and disburse the Deposits and Entrance Fee:amounts in
accordance with this Agreemant. On or before each delivery to the Escrow A geutof any Deposits and
Entrance Fees, Sponsor shall furnish to the Eserow Agent the name and address of each Depositing
Person providing such Deposits and Entrance Fees, together with such other inforniation concerning
each soch Depositing Person as the Escrow Agent shall reasonably request, The Escrow Agent shall
taintain records as 1o the Depositsand Entratce Foes with respect to each such Depositing Person and
shall report such mformation maonthly to Sponsor,

The Escrow Agent shall invest all-funds held pursuant to this Bserow Agreement in the SunTrust
Institutional Preferred Deposit Option, The jnvestments in the SunTrust Instivutional Preferred Deposit
Option are insured, subject to the applicable tules and regulations of the Federal Deposit nsirance
Corporation (the “FDIC"), in the standatd FDIC fnswiance amount of $250,000, including principal and
accrued interest, and are not:secured. The SunTrust Institutional Preferred Deposit Option Js more fully
described in materials which have been furnishéd to the Sponsor by the Escrow Agent, and the Sponsor
acknowledges teéeipt of such materfals from the Escrow Agent, Instructions fo make any other.
investoment must be in witting and signed by the Sponsor; The Spansor recognizes and agrees that the
Eserow Agent will not provids superyision, recommendations or advice rélating to the invegtment of
moneys held hereunder or the purchase, sale, retention or other disposition of any investment, and the
Escrow Agent shall not be Tiable 10 the Sponsor or any other person or entity for any loss incurred in
connection with any such investment. The Esciow Agerit is hereby authorized to execute purchases and
sales of investments through the fadilities of its own irading ot capital markets opstations of those of any
affiliated entity. The Escrow Apent.or any of its affiliates may receive comipensation with respect to any
investment directed herentider including without limitation charging any applicable agency fee i '
<connection with each transaction, The Escrow Agent shafl usé its best efforts to invest funds on a timely
‘basis upon receipt of such funds: provided, however, that the Escrow Agent shall in no event be liable
for corupensation to the Sponsor or other person or etitity related to fomids which are heid un~invested or
funds which ate not invested timely, The Escrow Agenit is authorized and directed to sel} orredeem any
investmesits as it deems necessary to make any payiients or distributions required under this Escrow
Agreemant. '

3. The Sponsor agrees that afl ihteress and income from the investment of the funds shall be
reported as having been eamed by the Sponsor as of the end of each calendar year whether or not such
income was disbursed during such calendar year and to the extent required by the Internal Revenue
Service, On or before the execution and delivery of this Escrow Agreenient, the Sponsor shall provide
to the Escrow Agent & correct, duly completed, dated aind executed current Usited States Tuternal
Revenue Service Form W-9 6t Form W-8, whichever is appropriate or any successor fozins thereto, in a
form and substance satisfactory to the Eserow Agent including appropriate supporiing documentation
and/or any other Form, dotument, and/or certificate required or reasonably requested by the Eserow
Agent to-validate the form provided, Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein provided, except
for the delivery and filing of tax information reporfing forms required pursuant to the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, to be delivered and filed with the Internal Revenue Service by the Bscrow
Agent, as eserow agent horeunder, the Escrow Agent shall have no duty to prepare or file any Federal or

&



state tax report or retutn with respeet to any funds held pursvani to this Escrow Agreement or any
income eared thereon. With respect to the preparation, delivery and filing of such required tax
information repotting forms and all matters pertaining 1o the reporting of carnings on funds held undet
this Escrow Agreemeit, the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to request and receive written instracfions
{from the Sponsor, and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled fo rely conclusively und without further
inquiry on such written insteuctions. The Sponsor agrees to indernify, defend and hotd the Escrow
Agent harmless from and against any tax, lafe payment, interest, penalty or other ¢ost or expense that
may be assessed againss the Bscrow Agent on or with respect to the Bserow Fund of any earnings or
interest thereon unless such tax, late payment, inferest, penalty or other cost or expense was finally
adjudicated by a coutt of competént jurisdiction to have been directly caused by the pross negligence or
willful misconduet of the Escrow Agent. The indemuification provided in this section ig in addition to
the indemnification provided to the Bscrow Agent elsewhere in this Escrow Agreement and shall survive
the resignation or removal of the Escrow Agent and the termination of thig Escrow Agreéement.

4, Upon written notification to the Escrow Agent by the Sponsot stating that» Depositing Person
has entered into a binding reservation agreement and/or resident agreement with the Sponsor, the
Escrow Agent shall forthwith recast such Depositing Person's Deposit in the Eserow Aceount as
Entrance Fees. Theréafter, if the Sponsor nofifies the Fscrow Agent in writing that either of the
conditions describod in‘Section 6 or Section 7 below have been satisfied, the Escrow Agent shall
promptly disburse to the Sponsor the amounts set forth in said Section 6 or Section 7 pursuant to the
Spongor's written request.

5 Upon written nofification to the Escrow Agent by the Sponsor that a Depositing Person wishes to
terminate or withdraw His or et non-binding priority list reservation agreement ot that such Depositing
Person's Deposit is otherwise required to be retubned to such Depositing Person, the Escrow Agent shall
forthwith disburse sich Depositing Petson's money on deposit In the Escrow Account it accordance
with such written instructions within five (5} business days of receipt of such written notice, All interest
earnings shall be allocable to the Sponsor. Upon written notification to the Escrow Agent by the Sponsor
stating that Enirance Fees are to be returned to any Depositing Person, the Escrow Agent shall forthwith
disburse such Depositing Person's money or deposit in the Escrow Account to such Depositing Person in
accordatice with the Sponsor's written instructions within five (5) business days of receipt of such
written notice, All intetest parnings shall be 4llocable to the Sponsor.

6. Upon receipt by the Escrow Agent of written notice from the Sponsor stating that the
requitement set forth in Seetion 58-64-35(a)(1) of the Act has been met for atly Phase of the project {a
“Phase" will be defined and agreed upon between the Sponsor the North Carolina Department of
Insurance, Financial Evaluation Division, Special Entities Section), 25% of the Entrance Fees for that
Phase, together with the earnings thereon shall be dishursed ta the Sponiser within five {5) business days.

7. Upon receipt by the Escrow Agent of written hatice from the Sponsor stating that the
requirement set forth in Section 58-64-35(a)(2) of the Act hias been mét for any Phass of the pioject (a
"Phase” will be defined and agreed upon betvween the Sponsor the North Carolina Department of
Insurance, Alternative Markets Division, Special Bntities Seation), all remaining Entrance Fees for that
Phase and all earmings thereon shall be disbursed to the Sponsor within five (5) business days.

% 4



8. This Agreement shall terminate When all disbursements of the Deposits and Entrance Fees
required 1o e made with respeet to the Escrow Account by the Escrow Agent under the provisions
herzof shall be made.

8. In performing its duties under this Agreement, 6r upen the claimied failure to perform its duties,
the Escrow Agent shall have no liability except for the Escrow Agent's willful misconduct or
negligence. In no event shafl the Eserow Agent be ligble for incidental, indirect, special, and
consequential or punitive damages. The Escrow Agent shall have no 1mpileri duties of obligetions unider
the terms of this. Agreement or otherwise. The Bscrow Agent shall not be charged with or be deemed to
have any knowledge or notice of any notice, fact; of cifcunstance vot specificatly set forth in this
Agrﬁemm or furnished to the Hserow Agem in niotices provided to the Escrow Agent in writing and
strictly in accordance with the notice provisions of this Agregment. The Escrow Agent shall not be
requ:red to take notice of any agreement or undemtandmg mclu&mg, but not [imited to any binding
residents’ agreements, other than {his Agreement and shiall bave no duty orresponsibility to take any
action purstast to the terms thereof. The Escrow Apent shall have no Igabl,hty with respéct to the runsfer
or distribution of any funds affected by the Escrow Agent pursusnt to wiring or transfer instwuctions
provided 1o the Escrow Agent by any party to this Agrcemem The Bscrow Agent shall be entitled 1o
sek the advice of lepal counset with respect to-any matter arising under this Agreement, T he Bscrow
Agent shall not be obligated fo take any legal action or to commence any pmccedmos in connection with
this Agreement or any funds held hereunder or to appear in, prosecute ot defend in any such legal action
or proceedings. The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to rely upon and shail be fully protected in acting on
any request, instruction, Statement or othier fnstruriient, not enly as toiits-due éxecution, validity and -
effectiveness, but glso-as to the truth and aceuracy of any mfarmafm set forth theréin, which the
Escrow Agent shall in good: faith belfeve to be gentine, to have been signed or presented by the person
or parties purporting to sign the same and to conform to the prcmbwns of this Agreement. The Escrow
Agent shall have no duty or obligation to collect or otherwise require payment of any check or other
instrument delivered iti payment of deposits hereunder, other than submisston-of such instraments for
payment i the ordinary course of business. In no event shall the Escrow Agent have any obligation to
invest or disburse funds under this Agreement ofher thag with respect to ¢ollected funds and any
earnings theréon, The Esciow Agent shall xeiy axclusively on notices, Tiquests, and communications
from Sponsor and its authorized repmsentatweh and agents and shall have no duty or obligation 1o take
fiotice of or 1o fake action pursuant to any notice, request, ot. other communication furnished to the
Fiscrow Agent from any other paty.

10.  Asan additional consideration for and as aninducement for Escrow Agent 1o serve as Escrow
Agent hereunder, it is understood and agreed that in the event of any disagreement between the parties to
this Agreement or among any of ther and any other persons rasu]tmg in adverse ¢laims of demands
being miade in connection with ar for-any funds or other propesty held pursuant to this Agreement, the
Escrow Agent shall be entitled, at the election of the Escrow Agent, to refuse 10 comply with the
demands of such parties, or any of such parties, so long as such dtsagreemem shall continue. Tn such
event, the Escrow Agent shall make no delivery ar other disposition of any funds or property held
pursuant o the terms of this. Agreement or any part thereof. Anything hergin to the contrary
notwithstanding, the Eserow Agens shall not be or become liable o such parties or any of fhemn for the
failure of the Escrow Agent fo comply with conflicting or adverse demarids of such partics or any of
st parties. Tn the event of any dispute or disagreement as destribed above, the Escrow Agent shall
have the right, in addition to the rights described above and at the clection of the Hserow Agent, 10



tender into the registry or custody of any court baving jurisdiction, all mongy and property heid under
this Agreement and may take such other legal action as may be appropriate or necessary, in the opinion
of the Escrow Agent. Upon such tender, the pasties hereto agree thait the Escrow Agent. shall be
discharged from all further duties under this Agreement; provided, however, that the filing of any such
tegal proceedings shall not deprive the Escrow Ageqt of its compensation hereunder earned prior to such
filing and discharge of the Escrow Agent of its distics hereunder.

11, The Hsorow Agent may resign af any tithe from its obligations under this Agreementby
providing written notice 1o the parties hereto, Such resignation shall be ¢ffective on fhe duare set forth in
such writhen notice, whicki shall be no earlier than thirty (30) days after such written notice has been
fuenished. In the event nio successor escrow agent has been appointed on or prior o the date such
resighation is to bevome effective, the Eserow:Agenl shall be emitled to tender inlo the custody of any
eourt of competent jurisdiction all furids and other pfoperty then held by it hereunder and shall
thereupon bé telieved of all further duties and obligations under this Agreernent. Escrow Agent shall
have no responsibility for the appointiient of a successor escrow agent hereunder.

2. Sponsor shall have the right to require the Eserow Agent to resign as Facrow Agent upot giving
not less than thirty (30) days written notice, in which case Sponsor shall appoint a successor Escrow
Apent.

13.  The Sponsor agrees fo pay o the Escrow Agent compensation, and to reimburse the Escrow
Agent for costs and expenscs, alt in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit B herato, which is
incorporated hetein by reference and made d part hereof.

14, The Sponsor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Escrow Agent and each of the Escrow
Agent's officers, directors, agents and employees (the "Indembified Parties") from and apainst any and
all losses, liabilities, claims, damages, expenses and costs (including attomcys' fees) of cvery nature
whatsoaver which any sueh Indemnified Party may incur and which arise directly or indirecily from this
Agreement or which arfse directly or indirecily by virtue of the Escrow Agent's undertaking to serve as
Escrow Agent hereunder; provided, however, that no Indemnified Party shall be enfitled to indermity in
case of sich Indemnified Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. The provisions of this section
shall survive the termination of this Agreement and any resipnation or removal of the Escrow Apent.

15, The Escrow Agent shall have no duty or responsibility for determining whether the offer and sale
of the residency arrangemients described herein or the terms and provisions of this Agreement comply
with tho provisions of any appticable state or Federal law or regulation, inchuding but not limited to the
Act or regulations thereunder, The Sponsor represents and warrants to the Escrow Agent that it has
obtained and relied upon the advice of legal counsel with respeet to all such matters. The Sponsor
further represents and wartants that the offer and sale of the residency arrangements described herein
and thie tetms and provisions of this Agreerment und each binding resident's agreement comply in all
respects with all such applicable siate and Federal laws and regulations, The Esctow Agent has not
participated in the preparation or review of any sales or offering materlal relating to the residency
arangements described in this Agreement. No sales or offering literature ot matérial ufilized in
connedtion with the vffer and sale of the residency arrangements deseribed herein shall contain the name
Truist Bank or any variation thereof, except for the Hmited purpose of identifying the Escrow Agent 15



escrow agent under the terras of this Agreement.  In addition fo other indemaities provided for in this
Agreement, the Sponsor shall indemuify and hold harmless the Esorow Agent and each of its officers,
directors, agents and eployees from and against all claims, Habilities, logses and damages (including
attorneys' fees) incurred by the Escrow Agent or such persons and which dircctly or indirectly result
from any violation or alieged viplation of any such state or Federal laws.

16.  Anyand all notices, requests, demands and othet communications given underor (n commection
with this Agreement (“Notice™) shall be effective only if in wiiting addressed to the address of the

reciplent set forth below or such other address provided by the recipient and shall be deemed delivered
by (i) hand delivery upon receipt, (ii) registered mail or certified mail, refurn receipt réquested, postage

propaid, upon delvery to the address indicated inthe Notice, (iif} by confirmed electronic mai! (with

confirmed tead receipt) when sent, or(iv) overnight courier (next business day delivery) on the next
business day after it is sent:

Sponsor:

Atbor Acres Urdited Mct};p_ciist Retirement Coramunity, Ine,
At Vice President and CFO

1240 Arbor Road

‘Winston-Salker, NC:27104

P 336,724.7921 ext, 1222

F 336.721.0271

Escrow Agent:

Truist Bank

Attn Escrow Sérvices

Mail Codet VA-HDQ-12035
919 East Main Street, 5th Elpor
Richmeond, Virginia 23219
Client Manager: Byron Roldan
‘Phone: 804-782-5404
Facsimile: 804-22557141

No notice, request, demand, or other communication hereunder shall be deemed effective as to.the
Escrow Agent unless irt writing delivered in strict accordance with the provisions hereef or prior
to the Escrow Agent's actual receipt thereof,

17.  Confemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and. if necessary, from
time to time thereatter, the Sponsor shatl execute and deliver to the Eserow Agent a Certificate of
Incumbescy substantiglly in the form of Exhibit A hereto (a “Certificate of Incumbency™) for the
puepose of establishing the identity and authority of persons entitled to issue notices, instructions or



directions to the Bscrow Agent on behalf of the Sponsor. Until such time a3 the Fscrow Agent shall
receive an amended Certificate of Incumbency replacing any Certificate of Incanmbency therctofore
detivered to the Fscrow Agent, the Escrow Agent shall be fully protected in relying, without fuither
iniquiry, on the most recent Certificate of Incumbency furnished to the Escrow Agent, Whenever this
Agreement provides for written notlces, written instructions or other actions fo be delivered to the
Eserow Agent, the Escrow Agent shall be fully protected in relying, without further inguiry, on any
written ngtice, instructions ot action executed by persons named in sych Cértificate of Tncumbenasy.
This Agreement may be modified or amended only upon the written consént of both Sponsor and the
Eserow Agent. Neither this Agresment niot anty inferest herein may be transferred or assigned without
the express written consent of each of the parties hereto, '

18,  Ifanyone or more of the covenants or agreements provided in this Agreement shall be
determined by a cowrt of competent jurisdietion fo be contrary 4o law, such covenatit or agreement shall
be deemied and constructed to be severable from the remaining covenants and agreements herein
contained and shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

19, This Agreement may be executed in several counterpatts, all or any of which shall be regarded
for dll purppses vs one origingl and shall constitute and be but one and the same instrument. Electronic,
PDF or facsimile vetsions of this Agreement shall have the same legal éffect as originals, andall of
which, when filly executed, shall constitute one-and the sameinstrumient,

20, This Agreement shall be coristrued and enforced i accordantce with the laws of the State of
Northi Carpling,

[signatare puge fillows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hercto have gxeented this Agreement as of the date and year
first writtett above.

Atbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Ine., AS SPONSOR.

o A0

¥

Namig: David W, Matthews, CPA.
Title: Chief Financiat Officer

Troist, AS ESCROW AGENT

By:

Title:. Vice Preas A ot




EXHIBIT A

Certificate of Incumbency

{List of Authorized Representatives)

Client Name; Arbor Acres Upited Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

A an Authorized Officat of the above reférenced emtity, 1hereby certify that anch person lsted below is
an authorized signor for such entity, and that the fitle and signaiure appeating beside each name is true

and ¢otetet,

ey

. Name Title

| Phona Numbior(e}

" Emal Ardress

Andrew W, Applegale |

President and CEO

Keninisith W, Boyles

VP and CGG

| sss724.7921 01216

tedharboras .
SOy -

f 336.724.7821 X149

David W. Matthews | | VP and CEQ

336.724.7921 21227

A evEGaborsoe |

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this certificate hay besn executed by 4 duly authorized officer on:

Dales i [18 f2.020.

e et

By
Name: DAL LE S ENM BIAA

Tte: (k00 K ATE S ECEETARY




Exhibit B
Truist; ay Escrow Agont FEES PAYABLE TO ESCROW AGENT
Acceptance/Legal Review Fee: $1,000.00 - one titme only payable at the time of signing the
Escrow Agresment )
(Pee is waived if no legal review is niséded)

"I‘hz Lae gai I{evraw l*ee ;mciudes rev:ew oi aII rela‘red documents arnd aceepﬁng ihe appomtmt:nt uf &acrow

records, ducummt ﬁimg, and wordmaﬂng ‘the rwalpt of funds;’ab:sets for deposxt to the Escmw Account.
This is a one*nme fee payable upon execution of the Escrnw Agreement As sooi_as Truigt Bdnk’

the Parties deéide to anpmm g di
not needed,

Adminisiration Fee: $3,500 payablc at the time of signing the Bserow A greement and
on the anniversary date thereafter, if applicable

The Administeation Fee includes providing routine and standard services of an Escrow Agent. The fée
includes administering the esctow account, performing investment transactions, processing cash
transaetions (includmg wires and check processing), disbursing funds in accordance with the Agreement
(nbte any pticing considerations beicw), and providing trust account statements 1o the Parties for 2 fwelve
{12} miorsh period. If the account rémuing open beyond the twalve (12) month térm, the Parties will be
invoiced each year on the anniversary date of the execution of the Escraw Agresment, Fmaordmary
gXpenses, mciudmg legal counsel fees, will be billed as out-of:pocket. The Adinistration Fee-is due
upon execution of the Escrow Agreement. The fees shall be deemed eamed in full upon receipt by the
Escrow Agent, atid it pordion shiall be refimdable for any redson, including without limitation, terittination
of the agreement.

Dufeof- et Expenses: At Cost

Out-of-pocket expenses such as, but not limited to, postage, courier, oversight mail, wire transfer, trave),
legal {out-of-pocket to counsel) or accounting, will be billed at cost.

ih



IL. Contract

NORTH CAROLINA )
) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY )
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of
, 20 , by and between (“Resident”) and

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.,
a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”). Where there are two
people signing this Agreement as a resident of Arbor Acres, “Resident” shall apply
to both people, unless the context otherwise requires.

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres
in , (house or apartment) (the “Accommodation”), and has
received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement, dated
(the “Disclosure Statement™),

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following:

1. Entrance Fee and Monthly Service Fee.

Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres an entrance fee of

(% } (the “Entrance

Fee”), of which ($ ) is

nonrefundable (the “Nonrefundable Fee”). Resident has the following payment

options: (a) pay the Entrance Fee in full upon execution of this Agreement, or (b)

pay 25% of the total Entrance Fee ($ ) upon execution of this Agreement,

with the balance to be paid no later than five (5) days prior to the Residency Date

{as defined in Section 3 below). Resident does not acquire any ownership interest
in the Accommodation as a result of payment of the Entrance Fee.

Resident agrees to pay the initial monthly service fee (the “Monthly Service
Fee”), which is the established monthly fee as of the date on this Agreement, and
which is subject to change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January
1° of each year. For a partial first month, Resident shall pay a pro-rated amount of
the Monthly Service Fee, on a per diem basis. Gratuities or bequests in addition to
the established Monthly Service Fee shall not be accepted. As of the date of this
Agreement, the Monthly Service Fee associated with the Accommodation will be:
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Monthly Service Fee

Monthly Service Fee for Resident (includes dining allowance $
plan)
(current value of dining allowance is $ )

Monthly ~Service Fee for 2™ Resident occupying $
Accommodation, if applicable (includes dining allowance plan)

Total Monthly Service Fee for Accommodation $

2. Monthly Statements.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total
amount of the Monthly Service Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident.
Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10™ day of the month. If
Resident’s payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half
percent (1.5%) interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the
payment is late. Upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Arbor Acres may
change the billing date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to
offset against any Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Monthly Service Fees or
other charges owed by Resident to Arbor Acres. :

3. Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for
occupancy by . Resident is not required to move into the
Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the expiration of thirty
(30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to
move into the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy
Date”). If Resident should wish to change the Occupancy Date, Resident will
advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon receipt
of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible,
Arbor Acres will undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable
Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres’ Monthly Service Fees and
other charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of
actual occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved
into the Accommodation) or (b) (the “Residency Date”). Resident
has selected all interior finishes (paint colors, carpeting and floor covering as may
be necessary to prepare the Accommodation for Resident) and has advised Arbor
Acres of those selections.
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4. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty
(30) Days or Resident’s Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this
Agreement or delivery of the Disclosure Statement (the ‘“Rescission Period”),
Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to Arbor Acres a signed,
written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the
Accommodation during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying
the Accommodation, or if, on account of illness, injury or incapacity Resident
should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement shall be
automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and
Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may
be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is
automatically cancelled as described in Section 4(a) above or Resident fails to
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is terminated by
either Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will
receive a refund of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) the Nonrefundable Fee;
(i1) any Monthly Service Fees or other costs charged for the time Resident shall
have resided at Arbor Acres; and (iii) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred
by Arbor Acres at the request of Resident and described in a signed addendum to
this Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee
received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation.

5. Refund Upon Termination of Residency After the First 30 Davs
and Within 50 Months.

If Resident, for any reason, vacates and permanently terminates
residency at Arbor Acres after the Rescission Period and within fifty (50) months
following the Residency Date, Resident shall be entitled to a refund of the
Entrance Fee. This refund shall be determined as follows: upon receiving payment
of an Entrance Fee from an acceptable substitute resident for Resident’s
Accommodation, Arbor Acres will refund to Resident (or to Resident’s estate) the
amount of Resident’s Entrance Fee less the following: (a) the Nonrefundable Fee;
(b) two percent (2%) of the remainder (the Entrance Fee less the Nonrefundable
Fee) for each month, from the month of the Residency Date to the Date of
Termination of Occupancy (as defined in Section 6 below), up to the full
refundable amount of Resident’s Entrance Fee (for this purpose, one-half month or
more shall be considered as a full month; less than one-half month shall be
disregarded); (c) any unpaid Monthly Service Fees, costs or other obligations of

3
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Resident to Arbor Acres; and (d) those nonstandard costs spectfically incurred by
Arbor Acres at the request of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this
Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee received
by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation. Resident shall
receive no refund if Resident’s final termination of all rights of residency at Atbor
Acres occurs after the fifty (50) month period following the Residency Date.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission
Period, Resident should decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor
Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of thirty (30) days advance
written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Monthly Service Fee and other
charges, shall continue in effect until Resident vacates the Accommodation and
removes all personal property from the premises or until the end of the thirty (30)
day notice period, whichever is later (the “Date of Termination of Occupancy”). If
Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres reserves the right
to remove Resident’s personal property from the Accommodation and store such
personal property, and Resident shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of
such removal and storage. Unclaimed personal property will become the property
of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose of such
personal property in its sole discretion.

7. Transfer to a Higher Level of Care Within 90 Days.

If within ninety (90) days after the Residency Date, Resident transfers
to Arbor Acres’ assisted living facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”) or Arbor
Acres’ skilled nursing facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility”), Resident will be
entitled to a refund, which will be calculated as set out in Section 5 above.
Resident shall not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to
the Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility.

8. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to
reside at Arbor Acres subject to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the
following understandings, terms and conditions:
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(a)  Health and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres
has determined that Resident qualifies for residency both with respect to mental
and physical condition and ability to take care of the anticipated Monthly Service
Fees and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the
time Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the
Accommodation, but is qualified (financially and otherwise) to reside in other
accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such accommodation
when space permits.

(b)  Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and
Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit
basis, Arbor Acres has established fees and charges, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor
Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial
statements and current financial information for the purpose of demonstrating
capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience
financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability
to meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down
of assets that might result from payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor
Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a current
financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and
Arbor Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s
financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted
primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to include costs
associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial
assistance through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon
demonstration that other options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor
Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party. When
Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor
Acres, to the extent of its available resources dedicated for financial assistance,
will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is needed. Termination of
residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under
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this Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial
viability of Arbor Acres and of its financial assistance program.

(¢c)  Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall
not affect Resident’s right to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of
residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an adjustment of Arbor
Acres’ Monthly Service Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident
shall continue to be charged and to pay such Monthly Service Fee and charges
during such absence.

(d)  Reguirement of Compliance with Recommendations for
Additional Services or Care

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or
impairment so that Resident requires additional services or a higher level of care
than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres, through its nursing and
continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs”), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options
for transfer to a higher level of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is
obligated to assure the care and safcty of residents and, (ii) that Resident will
comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding
additional services or transfer to a higher level of care. If such additional services
or higher level of care can be provided in a different accommodation at Arbor
Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to such
accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or
additional services when, in the judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the
best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other residents of Arbor Acres.
Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure
Resident’s understanding and cooperation with the required additional services or
change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.

() Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire
Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and
regulations relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to

6
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time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as
to the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in
other written information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right
to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable
efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance
and content of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules
and regulations relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request.
Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

(f)  Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres
to operate in the best interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres
community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of Resident’s family, friends,
responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable
policies, rules and regulations, Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any
such persons to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor
Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to accommodate Resident as a
resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor
Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot
be legally or adequately served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor
Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care that in the judgment of
Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to
terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in
an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres
will provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party to facilitate an orderly transfer of Resident to another, more
appropriate facility or setting.
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(h)  Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to
Arbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his
or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor
Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance
arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide
Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres.
Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the behavior or
any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon determination
that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has
been warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at
Arbor Acres.

(1)  Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s
residency at Arbor Acres for failure to comply with (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h)
above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, Arbor
Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot
be reached between the President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the
Board of Directors of Arbor Acres {the “Executive Committee) for hearing and
decision. The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be
heard, and shall render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The
decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by
the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence
of the Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is
understood and agreed that the written, signed decision of the Executive
Committee shall be final and binding.

()  Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency '

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another
accommodation when deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its
strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community. Arbor
Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts

8

WBD (US) 46451849v6



to relocate Resident to an accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s
Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate Resident will be discussed
thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need
for and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing
and moving costs, and all reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve
substantial comparability between the Accommodation and any new
accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate
Resident for the sake of enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and
other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may be appealed to the Executive
Committee as outlined in (i) above.,

(k)  Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor
Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless
of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to
Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor
Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency
Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if, after
Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres
becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres
may terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor
Acres. If there is more than one resident who is a party to this Agreement, the
termination of this Agreement in such instance shall only apply to the resident
listed on the sex offender registry.

() Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres

Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the
provision of residential or nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident
beyond those facilities and services from time to time established and provided by
Arbor Acres.

(m) Personal Belongings

Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to
any property belonging to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire,
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that Resident has the
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such
loss.
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9.

Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no
additional cost beyond the Monthly Service Fee, and has informed Resident of
these services and other services through written information available to all
residents. At the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services

include:
(1)
(2)
(3)
4)
(5)
(6)
(N

(8)

©)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)

Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance
of all standard equipment in the Accommodation;

Utilities, as described below;

Basic cable television and internet service;

Telephone jacks;

Emergency call system, nursing assessments and assistance in
emergencies;

Routine consultation regarding health concerns with nursing
personnel in the health clinic of Arbor Acres;

Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life
programs, to the extent provided by Arbor Acres;
Transportation to  routine, non-emergency medical
appointments within Forsyth County (transportation by
ambulance not included);

In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited
number of days;

Weekly housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the
Accommodation;

Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;
Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome
Center; and

Dining services with meals or a meal allowance, as included in
the Monthly Service Fee.

Water and sewer services are included in the Monthly Service Fee.
Electricity and gas is also included, except for residents in accommodations that
are individually metered who are billed directly by the gas and electricity service
providers. Resident has been informed that the Accommodation [is (is not)]
individually metered. Resident has been informed in writing of the terms
applicable to Resident’s meal plan.

WRBD (US}) 46451849v6
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Other services that are available and included in the Monthly Service
Fee are a daily, automatic check-in system, check-cashing services, package
shipping, access to washers/dryers and complete kitchens and sitting areas.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services,
at Resident’s request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which
may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Service Fees and other charges to
cover services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget
preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for
any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor
Acres reserves the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided
to residents and the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver
services efficiently and economically.

10.  Alterations and Refurbishment.

Resident must obtain the prior written approval of Arbor Acres before
making any alterations to the Accommodation. Customary refurbishment costs of
the Accommodation that are provided by Arbor Acres in accordance with its
policies and procedures are included in the Monthly Service Fee. Any
refurbishment costs beyond Arbor Acres’ customary refurbishment costs shall be
the responsibility of Resident.

11. Transfer to Higher Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the
Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility. Although Arbor Acres
cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled
Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate
Resident’s entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the Assisted
Living Facility and the Skilled Nursing Facility are fully occupied, Resident shall
relocate to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor
Acres will use recasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Assisted Living
Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility when accommodations become available.
Resident shall be responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident’s transfer
to the Assisted Living Facility, the Skilled Nursing Facility or an alternate
healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the Monthly
Service Fee; however, Resident shall not be responsible for the Monthly Service
Fee if such relocation is permanent. In the event that there are two Residents in the

11
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Accommodation, and only one Resident permanently transfers to a higher level of
care, the remaining Resident will pay the Monthly Service Fee for single
occupancy in addition to all other costs and charges.

12.  Application for Benefits: Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which
Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by
Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Monthly Service Fee or
other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

13. Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental
health insurance coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately
covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled nursing deductibles and co-
payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare
provider, or Resident shall be responsible for services rendered that otherwise
could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may
require Resident to reapply for suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to
obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be responsible for any healthcare
services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.

14. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in
the Skilled Nursing Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled
nursing care would qualify for Medicare payment on an “if and as available” basis.
In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would qualify for
Medicare payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will
depend upon the type of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor
Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s coverage.

(a)  Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres
at the time that Resident requires admission, then Resident may either choose to
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obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare facility at Resident’s cost
until such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-
certified bed) or be admitted to a bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s
cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until such time as a
Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.

(b) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional
Medicare.

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled
Nursing Facility and Resident has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will
accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care while Resident shall be
responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance
that Resident maintains.

(c) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network
provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s
Medicare Advantage coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement
amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance carrier while Resident
shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts
that are not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network
provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for
Resident’s admission into a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s
financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is paid by Resident’s Medicare
Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an
out-of-network provider, then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified
bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a Medicare-certified bed may
be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

13
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15.  United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

16. Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of
Attorney or other designation of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of
the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of residency, and deliver
any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at
Arbor Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current
Durable Power of Attorney for business management; (c) copy of current Health
Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the executor or other
legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will
documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate.

17. Multiple Residents.

(a)  Joint and Several Liability

When Resident includes more than one individual, the rights and
obligations under this Agreement are joint and several.

(b)  Transfer, Death or Termination by One Resident

If two Residents occupy a single Accommodation under the terms of
this Agreement and one Resident permanently transfers to the Assisted Living
Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, dies or terminates this Agreement, this
Agreement shall continue with respect to the remaining Resident, and such
Resident shall have the option to remain in the same Accommodation or relocate to
a smaller accommodation, and in such event the remaining Resident shall not be
entitled to any refund. The remaining Resident shall be responsible for the Monthly
Service Fee for one resident associated with the Accommodation occupied by such
Resident.

(c)  Sharing Occupancy After Entry

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an
accommodation with another resident of Arbor Acres, the two residents may
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occupy the accommodation of either resident, with the prior written consent of
Arbor Acres. In such event, the residents shall surrender the other accommodation
and no refund shall be paid for such surrender. Thereafter, Resident and the other
resident shall pay the Monthly Service Fee associated with the occupied
accommodation for double occupancy.

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an
accommodation with a person who is not a resident of Arbor Acres (the “Non-
Resident”), the Non-Resident must meet the then current requirements for
admission to Arbor Acres, enter into the then current version of the Residency
Agreement, and pay the then current second person entrance fee. Thereafier,
Resident and the new resident shall pay the Monthly Service Fee associated with
the occupied accommodation for double occupancy. If the Non-Resident does not
meet the requirements contained in this paragraph, Resident may voluntarily
terminate this Agreement as provided in this Agreement, If Resident subsequently
transfers to the Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, dies or
terminates this Agreement, the new resident shall be responsible to pay the full,
then-current Entrance Fee for the Accommodation occupied by such new resident,
less the second person entrance fee previously paid by the new resident.

(d)  Combination of Accommodation

If Arbor Acres determines that it is desirable to combine the
Accommodation with an adjoining accommodation, Resident agrees to surrender
occupancy of the Accommodation within a reasonable time after receiving notice
from Arbor Acres. In such event, Resident shall have the option to transfer into the
combined accommodation when ready for occupancy or transfer to another
accommodation, when available, of the same or similar type previously occupied
by Resident. If Resident elects to occupy the combined accommodation, Resident
shall be responsible for the Monthly Service Fee associated with occupancy of
such accommodation,

18. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs
incurred by Resident for moves into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as
provided in Section 8(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide assistance at an
additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for
Resident’s move within Arbor Acres.
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19. Entire Agreement,

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between
Resident and Arbor Acres, contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and
Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any
statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or
claiming to represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or
promises are set forth in this Agreement,

20. Capacity.

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor
Acres’ duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor
Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement.

21. Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any
respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any
right to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

22.  Waiver.

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise
any right, remedy, power or privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate
as a waiver thercof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any
exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.

23.  Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the
validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.
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24, Interpretation.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference
only, and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

25. Successors and Assigns.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors,
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of Resident.

26.  Assignment.

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident.

27. Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless
from any and all claims, damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees
and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury or death to persons and/or
damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests,
including private duty nurses, companions or others, This Section 27 shall survive
termination of this Agreement.

28. Governing Law: Venue: Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving
effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions that would cause
the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of
a dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising
out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of
the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States
District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby
irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably
waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of
any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the
non-prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees
incurred by the prevailing party.
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29,  Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their
terms survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to
their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or
her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

30. Management of Arbor Acres.

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and
its Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any
person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or
terms of acceptance of any other resident.

31. Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no
liability for injury to Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an
interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or
other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
(without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government
regulations and/or embargoes, shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood,
earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres shall make
reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event.

32. Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical,
and financial information Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential.
Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have
a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know.

33. Rights Subordinate to Mortgage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that
Resident’s rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future
by Arbor Acres.
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34. Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered
cither by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given
when delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to
have been given on the third business day after being deposited in the United
States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications
required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s
personal representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be
sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address

appearing after Resident’s signature below or such other address Resident provides
to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]

19

WBD (US) 46451849v6



IL Contract

Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement
to be executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year
written above,

Resident Name:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:

Title:

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Independeni Living Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



AL Contract

NORTH CAROLINA )
) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY )

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of

— , 20 , by and between (“Resident”) and

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.,
a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”).

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres
in , room number (the “Accommodation™), and has
received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement, dated
(the “Disclosure Statement™).

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following:

1. Entrance Fee and Dailv Fee.

The Entrance Fee established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor
Acres’ assisted living facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”), where it is
anticipated Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED
DOLLARS AND NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the “Entrance Fee”), the amount
being paid by Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinct
from Arbor Acres’ fees and charges to residents for food, maintenance, medical,
nursing and other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the Assisted Living
Facility is a non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves
to an independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance
Fee for that unit as provided in Section 7(1).

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the “Daily Fee”), which is the
established daily fee as of the date on this Agreement, and which is subject to
change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January 1% of each year.
Gratuities or bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be
accepted. As of the date of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the
Accommodation will be:

Daily Fee

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $
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2. Monthly Statements.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total
amount of the Daily Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident
shall pay such fees and charges by the 10* day of the month. If Resident’s payment
is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%)
interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late.
Upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing
date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any
Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident
to Arbor Acres.

3. Room Assignment,

Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in
any property at Arbor Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or
unit in the Assisted Living Facility is subject to reservation or permanent
assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident’s room assignment in the
Assisted Living Facility. Though Arbor Acres retains the right to change
Resident’s room assignment, Arbor Acres agrees that it will make changes only as
Arbor Acres finds such changes to be necessary or advisable.

4. Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for
occupancy by . Resident is not required to move into the
Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the expiration of thirty
(30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to
move into the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy
Date”). If Resident should wish to change the Occupancy Date, Resident will
advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon receipt
of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible,
Arbor Acres will undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable
Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres’ Daily Fees and other
charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of actual
occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved into the
Accommodation) or (b) (the “Residency Date”).
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5. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty
(30) Days or Resident’s Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this
Agreement or delivery of the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period”),
Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to Arbor Acres a signed,
written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the
Accommodation during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying
the Accommodation, or if, on account of illness, injury or incapacity Resident
should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement shall be
automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and
Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may
be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is
automatically cancelled as described in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is terminated by
cither Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will
receive a refund of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other
costs charged for the time Resident shall have resided at Arbor Acres; and (ii)
those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request of
Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the
refund is to be made from the Entrance Fec received by Arbor Acres from the next
occupant of the Accommodation.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission
Period, Resident should decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor
Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of fourteen (14) days advance
written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall
continue in effect until Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the
fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later (the “Date of Termination of
Occupancy”). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres
reserves the right to remove Resident’s personal property from the
Accommodation and store such personal property, and Resident shall be
responsible for the reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed
personal property will become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days,
and Arbor Acres may dispose of such personal property in its sole discretion.
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7. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to
reside at Arbor Acres subject to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the
following understandings, terms and conditions:

(a)  Health and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres
has determined that Resident qualifies for residency both with respect to mental
and physical condition and ability to take care of the anticipated Daily Fees and
other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the
Accommodation, but is qualified (financially and otherwise) to reside in other
accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such accommodation
when space permits.

(b)  Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and
Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit
basis, Arbor Acres has established fees and charges, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor
Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial
statements and current financial information for the purpose of demonstrating
capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience
financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability
to meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down
of assets that might result from payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor
Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a current
financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and
Arbor Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s
financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted
primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to include costs
associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial
assistance through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon
demonstration that other options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor
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Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party. When
Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor
Acres, to the extent of its available resources dedicated for financial assistance,
will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is needed. Termination of
residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under
this Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial
viability of Arbor Acres and of its financial assistance program.

()  Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall
not affect Resident’s right to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of
residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an adjustment of Arbor
Acres’ Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall
continue to be charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence.

(d)  Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for
Additional Services or Care

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or
impairment so that Resident requires additional services or a higher level of care
than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres, through its nursing and
continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs”), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options
for transfer to a higher level of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is
obligated to assure the care and safety of residents and, (ii) that Resident will
comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding
additional services or transfer to a higher level of care. If such additional services
or higher level of care can be provided in a different accommodation at Arbor
Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to such
accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or
additional services when, in the judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the
best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other residents of Arbor Acres.
Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure
Resident’s understanding and cooperation with the required additional services or
change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.
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(€) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire
Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and
regulations relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to
time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as
to the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in
other written information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right
to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable
efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance
and content of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules
and regulations relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request.
Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

()  Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres
to operate in the best interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres
community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of Resident’s family, friends,
responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable
policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any
such persons to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor
Acres that it 1s no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to accommodate Resident as a
resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor
Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot
be legally or adequately served by the facilitics or programs available at Arbor
Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care that in the judgment of
Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to
terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in
an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres
will provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party to facilitate an orderly transfer of Resident to another, more
appropriate facility or setting.
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(h)  Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to
Arbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his
or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor
Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance
arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide
Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres.
Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the behavior or
any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon determination
that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has
been warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at
Arbor Acres.

(1)  Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s
residency at Arbor Acres for failure to comply with (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h)
above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, Arbor
Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot
be reached between the President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the
Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee”) for hearing and
decision. The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be
heard, and shall render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The
decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by
the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence
of the Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is
understood and agreed that the written, signed decision of the Executive
Committee shall be final and binding.

(3) Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another
accommodation when deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its
strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community. Arbor
Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
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relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts
to relocate Resident to an accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s
Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate Resident will be discussed
thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need
for and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing
and moving costs, and all reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve
substantial comparability between the Accommodation and any new
accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate
Resident for the sake of enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and
other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may be appealed to the Executive
Committee as outlined in (i) above.

(k)  Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor
Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless
of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to
Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor
Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency
Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if, after
Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres
becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres
may terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor
Acres.

(I)  Relocation to Independent Living

If Resident’s health should improve sufficiently to permit
Resident to live in a residential unit at Arbor Acres other than in Arbor Acres’
skilled nursing facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility”) or the Assisted Living
Facility, such a move may be made subject to availability of a unit, payment of the
entrance fee established for the unit, less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an
appropriate Independent Living Residency Agreement.

(m) Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres

Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the
provision of residential or nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident
beyond those facilities and services from time to time established and provided by
Arbor Acres.
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(n)  Personal Belongings

Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to
any property belonging to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire,
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that Resident has the
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such
loss.

8. Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no
additional cost beyond the Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services
and other services through written information available to all residents. At the
time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

(1) Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards;
does not include private duty or individual nurse for each
resident), prescribed medication administration and assistance
with activities of daily living;

(2)  Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance
of all standard equipment in the Accommodation;

(3) Utilities, as described below;

(4) Basic cable television and internet service;

(5) Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance in
emergencies;

(6) Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life
programs, to the extent provided by Arbor Acres;

(7)  Transportation to  routine, non-emergency medical
appointments within Forsyth County (transportation by

~ ambulance not included);

(8) In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited
number of days;

(9) Daily housckeeping and annual deep cleaning of the
Accommodation;

(10) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;

(I1) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding,
not ironing or dry cleaning);

(12) Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome
Center; and

(13) Food service (3 meals daily).
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Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity
and gas is also included.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services,
at Resident’s request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which
may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover
services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation,
Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for any changes
in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves
the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and
the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services
efficiently and economically.

9. Transfer to Higher Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry imnto the
Skilled Nursing Facility. Although Arbor Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry
into the Skilled Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to
accommodate Resident’s entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the
Skilled Nursing Facility is fully occupied or unable to provide such higher level of
care, Resident shall relocate to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such
relocation, Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the
Skilled Nursing Facility when accommodations become available. Resident shall
be responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident’s transfer to the Skilled
Nursing Facility or an alternate healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall
remain responsible for the Daily Fee; however, Resident shall not be responsible
for the Daily Fee if such relocation is permanent. If Resident transfers to the
Skilled Nursing Facility, Resident shall not be required to pay an additional
Entrance Fee on transferring to the Skilled Nursing Facility.

10.  Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which
Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by
Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Daily Fee or other
charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.
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11. Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental
health insurance coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately
covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled nursing deductibles and co-
payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare
provider, or Resident shall be responsible for services rendered that otherwise
could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may
require Resident to reapply for suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to
obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be responsible for any healthcare
services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.

12.  Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in
the Skilled Nursing Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled
nursing care would qualify for Medicare payment on an “if and as available” basis.
In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would qualify for
Medicare payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will
depend upon the type of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor
Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s coverage.

(a)  Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres
at the time that Resident requires admission, then Resident may either choose to
obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare facility at Resident’s cost
until such time as a Medicarc-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-
certified bed) or be admitted to a bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s
cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until such time as a
Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.
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(b) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional
Medicare.

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled
Nursing Facility and Resident has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will
accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care while Resident shall be
responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance
that Resident maintains.

()  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network
provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s
Medicare Advantage coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement
amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance carrier while Resident
shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts
that are not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network
provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for
Resident’s admission into a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s
financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is paid by Resident’s Medicare
Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the
cvent that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an
out-of-network provider, then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified
bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a Medicare-certified bed may
be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

13. United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres 1s affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.
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14. Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of
Attorney or other designation of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of
the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of residency, and deliver
any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at
Arbor Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current
Durable Power of Attorney for business management; (c) copy of current Health
Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the executor or other
legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will
documenting the name of the executor of his or her cstate.

15. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs
incurred by Resident for moves into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as
provided in Section 7(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide assistance at an
additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for
Resident’s move within Arbor Acres.

16. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between
Resident and Arbor Acres, contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and
Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any
statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or
claiming to represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or
promises are set forth in this Agreement,

17.  Capacity.

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor
Acres’ duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor
Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement.

18.  Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be mddiﬁed, amended or changed in any
respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident, Each waives any
right to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
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Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

19. Waiver.

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise
any right, remedy, power or privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate
as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any
exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver,

20. Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the
validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

21. Interpretation.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference
only, and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

22.  Successors and Assigns.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors,
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of Resident.

23.  Assignment.

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident.

24. Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless
from any and all claims, damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees
and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury or death to persons and/or
damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests,
including private duty nurses, companions or others, This Section 24 shall survive
termination of this Agreement.
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25.  Governing Law: Venue; Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving
effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions that would cause
the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of
a dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising
out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of
the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States
District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby
irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably
waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of
any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the
non-prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees
incurred by the prevailing party.

26. Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their
terms survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to
their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or
her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

27. Management of Arbor Acres.

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and
its Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any
person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or
terms of acceptance of any other resident.

28.  Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no
liability for injury to Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an
interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or
other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
(without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government
regulations and/or embargoes, shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood,
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carthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident., Arbor Acres shall make
reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event.

29. Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical,
and financial information Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential.
Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have
a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know.

30. Rights Subordinate to Mortgage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that
Resident’s rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future
by Arbor Acres.

31. Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered
either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given
when delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to
have been given on the third business day after being deposited in the United
States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications
required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s
personal representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be
sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address
appearing after Resident’s signature below or such other address Resident provides
to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]
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AL Contract

Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement
to be executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year
written above.

Resident Name:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:

Title:

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Assisted Living Facility Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



SNF Contract

NORTH CAROLINA )
) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY )

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of

, 20 , by and between (“Resident™) and

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.,
a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (*Arbor Acres”).

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres
in , room number (the “Accommodation™), and
has received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement, dated
(the “Disclosure Statement”).

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following:

1. Entrance Fee and Daily Fee,

The Entrance Fee established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor
Acres’ skilled nursing facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility”), where it is
anticipated Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED
DOLILLARS AND NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the “Entrance Fee”), the amount
being paid by Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinct
from Arbor Acres’ fees and charges to residents for food, maintenance, medical,
nursing and other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the Skilled Nursing
Facility is a non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves
to an independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance
Fee for that unit as provided in Section 7(1).

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the “Daily Fee”), which is the
established daily fee as of the date on this Agreement, and which is subject to
change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January 1% of each year,
Gratuities or bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be
accepted. As of the date of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the
Accommodation will be:

Daily Fee

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $
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2. Monthly Statements.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total
amount of the Daily Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident
shall pay such fees and charges by the 10" day of the month. If Resident’s payment
is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%)
* interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late.
Upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing
date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any
Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident
to Arbor Acres.

3. Room Assignment.

Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in
any property at Arbor Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or
unit in the Skilled Nursing Facility is subject to reservation or permanent
assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident’s room assignment in the
Skilled Nursing Facility. Though Arbor Acres retains the right to change
Resident’s room assignment, Arbor Acres agrees that it will make changes only as
Arbor Acres finds such changes to be necessary or advisable.

4, Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for
occupancy by . Resident is not required to move into the
Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the expiration of thirty
(30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to
move into the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy
Date”). If Resident should wish to change the Occupancy Date, Resident will
advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon receipt
of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible,
Arbor Acres will undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable
Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres’ Daily Fees and other
charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of actual
occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved into the
Accommodation) or (b) (the “Residency Date™).
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5. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty
(30) Days or Resident’s Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this
Agreement or delivery of the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period™),
Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to Arbor Acres a signed,
written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the
Accommodation during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying
the Accommodation, or if, on account of illness, injury or incapacity Resident
should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement shall be
automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and
Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may
be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is
automatically cancelled as described in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is terminated by
either Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will
receive a refund of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other
costs charged for the time Resident shall have resided at Arbor Acres; and (ii)
those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request of
Resident and described in a sighed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the
refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next
occupant of the Accommodation,

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission
Period, Resident should decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor
Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of fourteen (14) days advance
written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall
continue in effect until Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the
fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later (the “Date of Termination of
Occupancy”). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres
reserves the right to remove Resident’s personal property from the
Accommodation and store such personal property, and Resident shall be
responsible for the reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed
personal property will become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days,
and Arbor Acres may dispose of such personal property in its sole discretion.
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7. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to
reside at Arbor Acres subject to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the
following understandings, terms and conditions:

(a)  Health and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres
has determined that Resident qualifies for residency both with respect to mental
and physical condition and ability to take care of the anticipated Daily Fees and
other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the
Accommodation, but is qualified (financially and otherwise) to reside in other
accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such accommodation
when space permits,

(b) Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and
Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit
basis, Arbor Acres has established fees and charges, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor
Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial
statements and current financial information for the purpose of demonstrating
capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience
financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability
to meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down
of assets that might result from payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor
Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a current
financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and
Arbor Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s
financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted
primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to include costs
associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial
assistance through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon
demonstration that other options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor
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Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party. When
Resident 1s deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor
Acres, to the extent of its available resources dedicated for financial assistance,
will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is needed. Termination of
residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under
this Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial
viability of Arbor Acres and of its financial assistance program.

(c}  Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall
not affect Resident’s right to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of
residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an adjustment of Arbor
Acres’ Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall
continue to be charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence.

(d) Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for
Additional Services or Care

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or
impairment so that Resident requires additional services or a higher Ievel of care
than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres, through its nursing and
continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs”), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options
for transfer to a higher level of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is
obligated to assure the care and safety of residents and, (ii) that Resident will
comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding
additional services or transfer to a higher level of care. If such additional services
or higher level of care can be provided in a different accommodation at Arbor
Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to such
accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or
additional services when, in the judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the
best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other residents of Arbor Acres.
Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure
Resident’s understanding and cooperation with the required additional services or
change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.
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(e) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire
Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and
regulations relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to
time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as
to the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in
other written information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right
to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable
efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance
and content of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules
and regulations relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request.
Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

(f)  Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres
to operate in the best interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres
community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of Resident’s family, friends,
responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable
policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any
such persons to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor
Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to accommodate Resident as a
resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor
Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot
be legally or adequately served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor
Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care that in the judgment of
Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to
terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in
an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres
will provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party to facilitate an orderly transfer of Resident to another, more
appropriate facility or setting.
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(h)  Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to
Arbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his
or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor
Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance
arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide
Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres.
Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the behavior or
any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon determination
that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has
been warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at
Arbor Acres.

(1)  Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s
residency at Arbor Acres for failure to comply with (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h)
above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, Arbor
Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot
be reached between the President/CEQO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Commiittee of the
Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee™) for hearing and
decision. The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be
heard, and shall render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The
decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by
the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence
of the Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is
understood and agreed that the written, signed decision of the Executive
Committee shall be final and binding.

()  Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another
accommodation when deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its
strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community. Arbor
Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
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relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts
to relocate Resident to an accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s
Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate Resident will be discussed
thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need
for and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing
and moving costs, and all reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve
substantial comparability between the Accommodation and any new
accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate
Resident for the sake of enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and
other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may be appealed to the Executive
Committee as outlined in (i) above.

(k)  Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor
Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless
of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to
Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor
Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency
Agreement. In addition, Resident hercby acknowledges and agrees that if, after
Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres
becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres
may terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor
Acres.

(1)  Relocation to Independent Living or Assisted Living

If Resident’s health should improve sufficiently to permit
Resident to live in other accommodations at Arbor Acres other than the Skilled
Nursing Facility, such a move may be made subject to availability of an
appropriate accommodation, payment of the entrance fee established for the
accommodation, less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an appropriate
Independent Living Residency Agreement or Assisted Living Residency
Agreement (as applicable).

(m) Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres

Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the
provision of residential or nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident
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beyond those facilities and services from time to time established and provided by
Arbor Acres.

(n)  Personal Belongings

Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to
any property belonging to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire,
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that Resident has the
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such
loss.

8. Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no
additional cost beyond the Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services
and other services through written information available to all residents. At the
time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

(1) Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards;
does not include private duty or individual nurse for each
resident), prescribed medication administration and assistance
with activities of daily living;

(2) Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance
of all standard equipment in the Accommodation,;

(3)  Utilities, as described below;

(4) Basic cable television and internet service;

(5) Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance in
emergencies;

(6) Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life
programs, to the extent provided by Arbor Acres;

(7) Transportation to  routine, non-emergency  medical
appointments within Forsyth County (transportation by
ambulance not included);

(8) In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited
number of days;

(9) Daily housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the
Accommodation;

(10) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;

(11) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding,
not ironing or dry cleaning);
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(12) Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome
Center; and
(13) Food service (3 meals daily).

Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity
and gas is also included.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services,
at Resident’s request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which
may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover
services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation,
Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for any changes
in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves
the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and
the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services
efficiently and economically.

9. Transfer to Another Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the
Arbor Acres’ assisted living facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”). Although
Arbor Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Assisted Living Facility,
Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate Resident’s entry. If
Resident requires a lower level of care, and the Assisted Living Facility is fully
occupied or unable to provide such lower level of care, Resident shall relocate to
an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor Acres will
use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Assisted Living Facility when
accommodations become available. Resident shall be responsible for all fees, costs
and expenses. If Resident’s transfer to the Assisted Living Facility or an alternate
healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the Daily
Fee; however, Resident shall not be responsible for the Daily Fee if such relocation
is permanent. If Resident transfers to the Assisted Living Facility, Resident shall
not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Assisted
Living Facility.

10. Application for Benefits: Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which
Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by
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Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Daily Fee or other
charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

11. Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental
health insurance coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately
covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled nursing deductibles and co-
payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare
provider, or Resident shall be responsible for services rendered that otherwise
could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may
require Resident to reapply for suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to
obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be responsible for any healthcare
services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.

12. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in
the Skilled Nursing Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled
nursing care would qualify for Medicare payment on an “if and as available” basis.
In the event that Resident’s admission would qualify for Medicare payment, then
Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will depend upon the type of
Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor Acres is a contractual
provider for Resident’s coverage.

(a) Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres
at the time that Resident requires admission, then Resident may either choose to
obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare facility at Resident’s cost
until such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-
certified bed) or be admitted to a bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s
cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until such time as a
Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.

11

WBD (US) 46488597v6



(b)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional
Medicare.

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled
Nursing Facility and Resident has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will
accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care while Resident shall be
‘responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance
that Resident maintains.

(c) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network
provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s
Medicare Advantage coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement
amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance carrier while Resident
shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts
that are not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network
provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for
Resident’s admission into a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s
financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is paid by Resident’s Medicare
Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an
out-of-network provider, then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified
bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a Medicare-certified bed may
be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

13. United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

12
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14, Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of
Attorney or other designation of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of
the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of residency, and deliver
any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at
Arbor Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current
Durable Power of Attorney for business management; (c) copy of current Health
Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the exccutor or other
legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will
documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate.

15. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs
incurred by Resident for moves into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as
provided in Section 7(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide assistance at an
additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for
Resident’s move within Arbor Acres.

16. Entire Agreement.

- This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between
Resident and Arbor Acres, contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and
Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any
statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or
claiming to represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or
promises are set forth in this Agreement.

17. Capacity.

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor
Acres’ duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor
Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement.

18.  Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any
respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any
right to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
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Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

19. Waiver.

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise
any right, remedy, power or privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate
as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any
exercise of the same or of any other Right, No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver. '

20.  Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the
validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

21. Interpretation.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference
only, and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

22.  Successors and Assigns.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors,
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of Resident.

23.  Assignment,

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident.

24, Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless
from any and all claims, damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees
and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury or death to persons and/or
damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests,
including private duty nurses, companions or others. This Section 24 shall survive
termination of this Agreement,
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25. Governing Law:; Venue: Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving
effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions that would cause
the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of
a dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising
out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of
the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States
District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby
irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably
waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of
any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the
non-prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees
incurred by the prevailing party.

26. Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their
terms survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to
their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or
her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

27. Management of Arbor Acres.

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and
its Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any
person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or
terms of acceptance of any other resident.

28.  Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no
liability for injury to Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an
interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or
other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
(without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government
regulations and/or embargoes, shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood,
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earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres shall make
reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event.

29.  Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical,
and financial information Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential.
Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have
a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know.

30. Rights Subordinate to Mortgage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that
Resident’s rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future
by Arbor Acres.

31. Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered
either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given
when delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to
have been given on the third business day after being deposited in the United
States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications
required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s
personal representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be
sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address
appearing after Resident’s signature below or such other address Resident provides

to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]
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SNF Contract

Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement
to be executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year

written above,

Resident Name:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:

Title:

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Skilled Nursing Facility Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



ADVANTAGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

This ADVANTAGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT (referred to as the “Agreement™) is
made this  day of , 20 between ARBOR ACRES UNITED
METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. (referred to as “Arbor Acres” or “We”,
“Our” or “Us™), a North Carolina non-profit corporation, and
(referred to as “Resident”, “You” or “Your”). You agree to take financial responsibility for this
Agreement on the above date (the “Date of Acceptance”).

WHEREAS, Arbor Acres owns and operates a retirement community located at 1240
Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27104; and

WHEREAS, the retirement community (referred to as the “Community™) consists of
independent living homes and apartments, common areas and amenities, and on-campus
facilities for certain outpatient services, assisted living care and skilled nursing care; and

WHEREAS, You desire to enter into this Agreement as an off-campus resident of the
Community in connection with Arbor Acres’ offering continuing care without lodging through
its “Advantage Program” in order for You to access some of the services provided by Arbor
Acres while remaining in Your home and not residing at the Community.

NOW THEREFORE, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement,
and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, You and Arbor Acres agree as follows:

L ACCEPTANCE AS ARBOR ACRES RESIDENT WITHOUT L.LODGING

A. General. You have gone through the admission process, and Arbor Acres has
accepted You as an off-campus Resident of the Community without lodging
through its “Advantage Program” in order for You to access some of the services
provided by Arbor Acres while remaining in Your home and not residing at the
Community. As a Resident without lodging of Arbor Acres, You will continue to
reside in Your own home and not at the Community, and You are hereby entitled
to the services specifically set forth in this Agreement. If there is a fee related to
particular services provided to You as a Resident, You will be charged the then
prevailing fee that corresponds to being a resident of Arbor Acres rather than a

guest,

As a Resident of Arbor Acres under this Agreement, if You are already on our
wait list for residency on our campus (“Wait List™), You will remain on our Wait
List unless You request that We remove You from the Wait List. Your status on
our Wait List and Your rights as a member of the Wait List will not change as a
result of entering into this Agreement. Your Wait List date for purposes of
priority will remain , which is the date on which You joined
Our Wait List originally. If You are not already on our Wait List, You may join




our Wait List, and Your Wait List date for purposes of priority will be the date
You are added to the Wait List. As a member of Our Wait List, You will have the
same rights as other members of Our Wait List and will be offered on-campus
accommodations in accordance with the then current Arbor Acres’ Wait List
Policy.

At the time You choose to accept an accommodation on Arbor Acres’ campus,
You will be required to go through our admissions process for residing at the
Community, including, but not limited to, providing Us updated medical and
financial information in order to determine Your ability to live independently and
to afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service fees required for
residency in the particular reserved unit. Arbor Acres reserves the right to decline
Your admission to the Community for residency if Your medical and financial
circumstances have changed so that You are not able to live independently or are
not able to afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service fees
required for residency in the particular reserved unit.

Execution of the Residence Agreement Following Acceptance. Prior to taking
occupancy and financial responsibility for a particular residential unit on Arbor
Acres’ campus, You agree to execute Arbor Acres’ Residence Agreement (the
“Regidence Agreement”) then in effect. Your occupancy of a residence shall be
expressly conditioned upon Your execution of such agreement. The executed
Residence Agreement shall supersede and replace this Agreement in its entirety.

If the Residence Agreement is subsequently terminated, as outlined in that
Residence Agreement, this Agreement may be re-executed upon mutual
agreement of the parties, allowing You to remain a Resident of Arbor Acres who
does not reside on campus, as long as the reason for termination of the Residence
Agreement does not preclude continuation of a contractual relationship with
Arbor Acres.

II. GENERAL SERVICES PROVIDED ON CAMPUS

A.

Community Commeon Areas and Amenities. We will provide common areas
and amenities for the use and benefit of all residents. These facilities currently
include the main dining room, private dining rooms, lobbies, assembly hall,
library, social, and recreational facilities (indoor and outdoor), and craft facilities.
Some common areas may require advance reservation. All common areas are
smoke-free environments.

Health Center, Arbor Acres will provide or arrange admission to the facilities
necessary for the medical care and services specified in this Agreement at the then
prevailing fees charged by Arbor Acres or other facilities, as applicable, and such
fees shall be the sole responsibility of Resident. In this Agreement, the term
“Health Center” includes the facilities for certain outpatient services, assisted
living care (“Assisted Living”) and skilled nursing care. A restraint-free policy is
upheld in Arbor Acres’ facilities.




1I1.

Parking. Arbor Acres will provide and maintain unassigned parking areas for
residents and guests.

Activities. Social, recreational, educational, and cultural activities are available
to residents and are provided through an active staff-directed program. Residents
may be required to pay additional fees for certain activities.

Meals. You may eat in the Arbor Acres dining rooms, and You will be charged
the prevailing resident meal charge and will be billed monthly.

Security. We will use reasonable care in providing security on the premises of
Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide twenty-four (24) hour security staffing on
site in the Community. You are responsible for taking appropriate security

‘measures to protect yourself and Your personal property at the Community. We

are not responsible to provide security to You in Your off-campus residence or for
loss, theft or damage to Your personal property at the Community or otherwise.

Other Services. Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional
services, at Resident’s request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor
Acres, which may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres.

Changes in Services and Fees. Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Fees and

other charges to cover services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during
budget preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the
need for any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges.
Arbor Acres reserves the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services
provided to residents and the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive
to deliver services efficiently and economically.

MEDICAL AND OTHER HEALTH CARE SERVICES PROVIDED OR

COORDINATED BY ARBOR ACRES

A,

General. You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible
for furnishing You or causing to be furnished to You medical services in Your
home. In consideration for the Entry Fee and Monthly Fee, Arbor Acres will
provide You (i) “Care Management” services, as more specifically described in
Section IILE. of this Agreement, and (it) nursing care services (but not medical
services by a physician or physician assistant) provided in Arbor Acres’ on-site
clinic,

In addition, Arbor Acres will make available to You or cause to be made available
to You the following medical and health care services at the Community that You
may choose to receive, and, subject to Sections VI E. and F. of this Agreement,
You will be responsible for all costs and expenses of such services at the then
prevailing rates of Arbor Acres or such other provider You choose:



1) Medical services provided by primary care physicians or physician
assistants who are part of Arbor Acres’ group practice, and who see You
at the Arbor Acres’ on-site clinic;

2) General nursing and personal care provided in Arbor Acres’ Health
Center, subject to availability of a bed or accommodation and subject to
Arbor Acres’ then-prevailing admissions policies and procedures;

3) General nursing and personal care provided in a similarly licensed nursing
facility when space is not available at Arbor Acres, and when coordinated
by Arbor Acres’ medical and other care management staff, and

4 Physical, occupational, and speech therapy when ordered by Arbor Acres’
physicians and provided at Arbor Acres outpatient rehabilitation facilities
or in an inpatient setting in the Health Center.

Community’s Physicians and Physician Assistants/Nurse Practitioners.
Arbor Acres will appoint a Medical Director and physicians and physician
assistants/nurse practitioners, as needed. They will be responsible for Your
medical care, including office visits, medical review, Health Center visits,
hospital attendance, and referral to specialists, if You choose to use them.

Hospitalization. When one of Arbor Acres’ physicians determines that it has
become necessary to hospitalize You, the physician will have the authority to
arrange such hospitalization, Such determination will be made by Us in
consultation with Your attending physician if not an Arbor Acres physician, and
You, to the extent possible, and Your personal representative, if appropriate,
When the conditions necessitating such hospitalization no longer exist, the
physician will have the authority, in consultation with Your attending physician if
not an Arbor Acres physician, and You, to the extent possible, and Your personal
representative, if appropriate, to arrange for Your discharge and transfer or return
to Your home, or to the Health Center at Arbor Acres if that is needed.

Medical Referrals. Arbor Acres will be responsible for coordinating and
following Your medical, surgical and other health care services when such
services either (i) are provided by Arbor Acres, or (ii) are provided by licensed
outside providers to whom You have been referred in writing by one of Arbor
Acres physicians or physician assistants/nurse practitioners for treatment or
consultation. Such responsibility will be limited to the specific condition for
" which referral was made. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for secondary
referrals or for follow-up visits unless approved in advance by one of Arbor
Acres’ physicians or physician assistants/nurse practitioners.

Arbor Acres cannot be responsible for filing for insurance reimbursement for
services provided by other providers of Your choice. However, Arbor Acres will
supply the referral provider with Your policy information upon request, and, upon
request, will assist You in coordinating with other providers to ensure they are



filing with Your insurance diligently, in order to help maximize Your Medicare
and supplemental insurance benefits,

Care Management and Transfer to Assisted Living, the Health Center, a
Special Service Facility, or a Hospital.

Arbor Acres shall furnish the following care management services (“Care
Management”) to You on site at the Community, unless Your health condition
prevents You from being able to leave Your home, in which case such Care
Management will be provided to You in Your home, by qualified staff who will
(1) assess Your needs; (ii) develop a plan of care with You to address needs that
are identified; (iii) help identify reputable providers in the area to whom You can
be referred for services to meet those needs; and (iv) follow up to ensure that
those services are meeting Your needs and the goals of Your care plan. The
assessments shall be conducted annually.

If more frequent assessments are needed, or if any needs are identified that may
require subsequent services, Arbor Acres staff will assist You either by providing
such services to You in the event Arbor Acres is licensed to provide such services
and You choose Arbor Acres to provide such services or by referring You to
services that may be available to You in the community outside of the
Community. If more frequent assessments are needed beyond the annual
assessment, or if any needs are identified that may require subsequent services of
Arbor Acres’ staff or other providers, those assessments and services will be
provided to You on a fee-for-service basis at Arbor Acres’ or the other providers’
then prevailing rates.

You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible for
furnishing You or causing to be furnished to You medical or other personal care
services in Your home, unless recommended and approved by Arbor Acres as part
of Your Care Management program and requested by You. All decisions
regarding Your Care Management plan, including the prospect of Your need for
support services in Your home, temporary or permanent transfer to Assisted
Living or Health Center, a special service facility, or to a hospital will be made
after consultation with You, to the extent possible, Your attending physician if not
an Arbor Acres physician, and with Your personal representative, if appropriate.

If it is determined by Arbor Acres’ Care Management staff that Your needs
require temporary or permanent transfer to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or
Health Center facilities, and if You choose not to make the move to those
facilities, then You must agree to sufficient services to provide for appropriate
care and safety in Your home. If, in Our sole judgment, the services You clect to
receive are insufficient for appropriate care and safety in Your home, You must
move to an appropriate care level at Arbor Acres, or We will have the right to
terminate this Agreement. Arbor Acres’ decision will be binding.



No Entry Fee adjustment is made with temporary or permanent transfer from
Your home to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or Health Center facilities or to
another special service facility. In the event You make a temporary or permanent
transfer from Your home to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or Health Center
facilities or to another special service facility, You will be charged Arbor Acres’
or other facility’s then prevailing Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates for such
services. The new Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates take effect on the date that
You make such a temporary or permanent transfer,

IV. MEDICAL, HEALTHCARE, AND OTHER SERVICES EXCLUDED IN THIS
AGREEMENT

A.

Use of Medical Practitioners and Facilities Not Referred by Arbor Acres.
You may engage the services of primary care physicians other than those who are
part of the Arbor Acres practice, and seek care at other hospital, specialty
medical, surgical or allied health services with whom Arbor Acres’ does not have
referral relationships. Arbor Acres will not be liable for any expenses relating to
such care, including, but not limited to, the cost of medical, surgical, hospital or
nursing care provided, ordered, prescribed or occasioned by any such practitioner
or such facilities. If a healthcare provider should seek payment for such services
from Arbor Acres, You will indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless
from all loss or liability arising from such claims for payment.

In situations when Arbor Acres’ medical staff is not involved in the referral to a
physician or other health care provider from whom You seck services, it is Your
responsibility to require those providers to furnish Arbor Acres, promptly in
writing and in confidence, with medical information regarding Your condition,
diagnosis, medications, and treatment,

You may not engage third parties for medical or other health-related services to
be rendered at Arbor Acres without prior notification to and written authorization
by Arbor Acres’ management.

Psychiatric Iliness, Dangerous Communicable Disease, Drug or_ Alcohol
Abuse. The Community’s facilitics and services are not designed to care for
persons who have an active psychiatric illness, who have a dangerous
communicable disease or who are involved with drug or alcohol abuse. Should
Arbor Acres determine that Your physical or psychiatric illness, or that Your
condition as a result of drug or alcohol abuse, is such that Your continued stay in
Your home or use of the Community facilities is either dangerous or detrimental
to Your life, health, safety or peace, or the life, health, safety, or peace of others in
Your home or in the Community, then Arbor Acres may transfer You to another
facility of Your choosing. You will continue to be responsible for payment of the
Monthly Fee as if You were at home. You will also be responsible for payment
of any additional amount needed for Your care at any other such facility. Arbor
Acres may terminate this Agreement if You refuse to make the recommended
transfer.




Transportation. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of
transportation to You during this Agreement, including but not limited to any
transportation to or from the Arbor Acres campus or to any medical appointments
or other locations and emergency transportation to any hospital or other health
care facility,

Security. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of security,
staff emergency response, emergency call devices, smoke detectors or the like to
Your home or personal residence during this Agreement.

Housekeeping, Maintenance and Grounds Keeping. Arbor Acres will not be
responsible for providing any type of laundry or housekeeping services to Your
home or personal residence during this Agreement. Arbor Acres will not be
responsible for providing any type of home maintenance or grounds keeping care
to Your home or personal residence during this Agreement.

Utilities. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for furnishing any type of utilities,
including, but not limited to, heating, air conditioning, water, electricity and/or
gas, sewage disposal, trash removal, television service, internet service and
telephone service, to You during this Agreement.

Taxes. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for paying any taxes owed by You,
including, without limitation, any income taxes or personal or real property taxes
assessed on Your personal or real property during this Agreement. You are solely
responsible for all taxes, owed by You, including, without limitation, all personal
income taxes and all taxes assessed on Your personal and real property.

Other Excluded Services. Other excluded services include, but are not limited
to, prescription and non-prescription medications, refractions, eye-glasses, contact
lenses, audiological tests, hearing aids, dentistry, dentures, dental inlays,
incontinent and other personal hygiene supplies, orthopedic appliances, podiatry,
chiropractic services, organ transplants, renal dialysis, treatment for alcohol and
drug abuse, and diagnosis and therapy for psychiatric disorders.

IIness or Accident. If You have an accident or if You are ill, We will have no
responsibility to pay for costs resulting from or in connection with such accident
or illness.

TERMS OF BEING AN ARBOR ACRES RESIDENT

A,

Rights of Resident. As a Resident, You have the right to use and enjoy the
common areas, amenities, programs, and services of Arbor Acres, as provided in
this Agreement, during Your lifetime unless this Agreement is terminated as
provided herein. It is understood that this Agreement does not transfer or grant
any interest in the real or personal property owned by Arbor Acres other than the
rights and privileges as described in this Agreement.




Policies and Procedures. In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest
of the Community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations
relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to time as
deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to the
current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other
written information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to
make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable efforts
to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and
content of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and
regulations relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request.
Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations.
Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the
best interest of both Resident and the Community, Arbor Acres must have the
cooperation of Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates
to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable policies, rules and regulations. Any
continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate and
comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible
for Arbor Acres to provide services to Resident. Upon such determination, Arbor
Acres will have a right to terminate this Agreement.

Relationships Between Residents and Staff. Arbor Acres is built on mutual
respect and instructs its staff to be cordial and helpful to You. The relationship is
to remain professional. Employees must not be delayed or deterred by residents
in the performance of their duties. Management is solely responsible for the
supervision of staff. Complaints or requests for special assistance must be made
to the appropriate supervisor. Giving gratuities or bequests to employees or
employees’ families is not permitted. You will not employ Arbor Acres’
employees nor hire former Arbor Acres’ employees without the prior written
consent of the management of Arbor Acres.

Loss of Property. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage
to any property belonging to You due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire,
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that You have the
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such
loss.

Representations. You affirm that the representations made in the Application for
Admission, Personal Health History, and Confidential Financial Statement are
true and correct and may be relied upon by Arbor Acres as the basis for entering
into this Agreement. You agree to provide updates of this information in a timely
way to Us. As one of those representations, You affirm that You are at least 62
years old.

Behavior Deemed Harmful to Arbor Acres. If Resident is deemed competent
and capable of controlling his or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed
by the President/CEQ to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to
others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate this
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Agreement. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter
thoroughly with Resident to provide Resident with knowledge of the behaviors
deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or
harmful behavior. Upon determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the
behaviors against which Resident has been warned, Arbor Acres will have the
right to terminate this Agreement.

Sex Offender Registry. Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of
Arbor Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident,
regardless of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for
admission to Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residence Agreement,
If the screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender,
Arbor Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a
Residence Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees
that if, after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residence Agreement,
Arbor Acres becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry,
Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident
from Arbor Acres.

VI. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

A,

Entry Fee. You agree to pay Arbor Acres an entry fee in the amount of
$12,500.00 as a condition to this Agreement (the “Entry Fee”). The Entry Fee is a
lump sum payment due as of the Date of Acceptance and will not be increased or
changed during the term of this Agreement, except for changes required by state
or federal programs or execution of a subsequent Residence Agreement should
You move to Arbor Acres some time in the future. In the event You decide to
move to Arbor Acres and enter into a Residence Agreement, notwithstanding the
amortization of the Entry Fee for refund purposes as set forth in Section VIILD.
of this Agreement, the full amount of the Entry Fee will be applied towards the
then prevailing entry fee for the apartment or home at the Community You select.
The ability to apply the full amount of the Entry Fee towards an entry fee for an
on-campus living accommodation at Arbor Acres shall survive the termination of
this Agreement, subject to the execution of a Residence Agreement between You
and Arbor Acres.

Monthly Fee and Other Charges. You agree to pay a monthly fee (the
“Monthly Fee”) during the term of this Agreement. The current Monthly Fee
associated with this Agreement is $400.00 per month, The Monthly Fee will
commence at the Date of Acceptance and will be subject to adjustment in
accordance with Section VLD. below. The Monthly Fee will be paid on a
prorated basis for any partial month.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of
the Monthly Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay



such fees and charges by the [15"]! day of the month. If Resident’s payment is
late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%) interest
fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon
thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date
and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any
Entry Fee repayment any unpaid Monthly Fees or other charges owed by Resident
to Arbor Acres. If You fail to comply with the terms of this provision, We may
terminate this Agreement.

C. Assisted Living or Health Center Charges. If You need care in Arbor Acres’
Assisted Living or Health Center facilities, You will be charged an additional
daily fee based on the particular level of care and type of accommodation at Arbor
Acres’ then prevailing rates. This fee is in addition to the Monthly Fee, which
You will continue to be charged.

D. Adjustments in the Monthly Fee and Other Charges. Arbor Acres may adjust
the Monthly Fee, the Assisted Living and Health Center fees, and any and all
other charges from time to time on the basis of experience or to reflect changes in
the cost of achieving the mission or purposes of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres agrees
that, in the exercise of its discretion, which will be binding on You, Arbor Acres
will endeavor to maintain all fees and charges at the lowest feasible amounts
which, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres, is consistent
with sound financial operation and maintenance of the quality of facility, program
and service provided.

E. Health Care Insurance Requirements. You shall be responsible for carrying
both Medicare Part A and Medicare Part B insurance coverage, or a substitute
policy acceptable to Arbor Acres. You shall also carry a supplemental insurance
policy acceptable to Arbor Acres, which adequately covers the hospital, medical,
and skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments required of Your primary
insurance plan. Both Your primary and supplemental health insurance policies
must recognize Arbor Acres as a health care provider. You assume the financial
responsibility for services provided that otherwise could be covered by Medicare
or insurance.

You shall be responsible for ensuring that the health insurance coverage that was
approved does not lapse, and You shall provide Arbor Acres with evidence of
such coverage upon request. If Your health insurance coverage should lapse,
Arbor Acres may require that You reapply for suitable coverage. If You are
unable to obtain adequate new coverage, Arbor Acres shall charge You for any
costs of medical and other health care services provided to You that otherwise
would have been covered by an approved policy.

F. Arbor Acres’ Filing'for - and Rights to Insurance Benefits. Arbor Acres shall
be responsible for filing for reimbursement from Your Medicare and

L [NTD: Please note the Residence Agreements contemplate payment by the 10 day of the month.]
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supplemental health insurance plans for covered medical, nursing, and outpatient
therapy services when provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres has a right to the
benefits payable under the insurance You carry for services provided by Arbor
Acres as, required in this Agreement, except where costs of care were borne
solely by You and not Arbor Acres. You hereby authorize Arbor Acres to file
claims for benefits to which You are entitled under this Agreement and to execute
all documents necessary to enable Arbor Acres to collect or enforce such claims.
If, for any reason, Arbor Acres cannot apply directly for benefits payable under
insurance required by this Agreement, You agree to make such application and to
pay Arbor Acres the proceeds received that are due for services provided by
Arbor Acres.

For those services provided by Arbor Acres that are covered by Medicare, We
will accept Medicare Assignment, billing Medicare first and accepting Medicare’s
allowable reimbursement rates as payment in full. You shall be responsible for
amounts allowed by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance that arc treated as
deductibles, co-payments or other cost-sharing amounts imposed by Medicare or
Your supplemental insurance. For those services provided by Arbor Acres that
are not covered by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance, You shall be
responsible for all costs and expenses related to such services at the then
prevailing rates. For all services not provided by Arbor Acres but are provided by
another provider, You shall be responsible for all costs and expenses related to
such services.

Automobile Accident Tnsurance. If You are a licensed driver, You are
responsible for maintaining automobile accident insurance to cover medical costs
from automobile accidents causing injury.

Arbor Acres’ Rights in Case of Injury Caused by a Third Party. In the event
Arbor Acres has incurred costs, expenses and damages on Your behalf relating to
injuries or illnesses caused to You by a third party (including, but not limited to,
reasonable costs of care Arbor Acres may furnish You because of such accident
or injury), You hereby agree that any amount recovered by You or on Your behalf
from any and all sources relating to Your injuries or illnesses shall first be paid to
Arbor Acres in an amount to reimburse Arbor Acres for its costs, expenses and
damages incurred, with the balance of any amount recovered then paid to You or
credited to Your account, or, in the event of Your death, paid to Your estate.

Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits. Resident shall apply for any
federal, state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or entitled upon
request by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will
be applied to the Monthly Fee or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor
Acres.
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VII. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as
deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all
required fees and charges. Resident has received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current
fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current
financial information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial
obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might
result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to meet the financial obligations
under this Agreement, including any spend down of assets that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres
immediately, and submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate,
Resident’s responsible party, and Arbor Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a
plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents
whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees associated with this
Agreement, to include costs associated with their medical care, may be eligible for
consideration for financial assistance through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is
conditional upon demonstration that other options for fulfilling this financial obligation to
Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party. When
Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to
the extent of its available resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to
furnish financial assistance when it is needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s
inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this Agreement shall be an
option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program.

VIII. TERMINATION AND REFUNDS

A, Yoluntary Termination After Date of Acceptance. This Agreement may be
terminated by You at any time by providing Arbor Acres sixty (60) days
advanced written notice of such termination. You may be entitled to a prorated
refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIILD.

B. Termination Upon Death. In the event of Your death at any time after the Date
of Acceptance, this Agreement will terminate upon the date of death. Your estate
may be entitled to a pro-rated refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIILD.

C. Termination by Arbor Acres.? Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement at
any time (i) pursuant to Section IILE., Section IV.B., Section V.B., Section V.F.
or Sectton V.G. of this Agreement, (ii)if there has been any material
misrepresentation or omission made by You in the application forms, (iii) if You
fail to make payment to Arbor Acres and Arbor Acres gives notice provided for in

% [NTD: Please advise whether an appeal process is contemplated, similar to the other Residence Agreements.]
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IX.

X.

Section VLB, (iv) if You fail to abide by Arbor Acres’ policies and procedures,
or (v) if You breach the terms of this Agreement. In such events, You may be
entitled to a pro-rated refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIILD, subject
to the terms of this Agreement. Arbor Acres will provide timely advance written
notice of termination that is in compliance with prevailing laws, regulations and
Arbor Acres’ policies. Arbor Acres shall exercise such right of termination only
after first attempting to work out satisfactory solutions with Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the
President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the
President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the Board of
Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee™) for hearing and decision.
The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and
shall render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it, The decision of the
Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by the Chair of
the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the
Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood
and agreed that the written, signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be
final and binding,

D. Calculation for Pro-Rated Refunds. If termination of this Agreement occurs
during the first fifty (50) months of this Agreement, You or Your estate will be
entitled to a partial refund of the Entry Fee, subject to the terms and conditions of
this Agreement. You will receive a refund in the amount equal to: (i) the Entry
Fee less a non-refundable fee in the amount of $1,000 (the *“Net Entry Fee”); less
(ii) two percent (2%) of the Net Entry Fee for each month that this Agreement has
been in effect for up to fifty (50) months; less (iii) any amounts due to Arbor
Acres. After fifty (50) months, there is no refund of the Entry Fee. The fifty (50)
month period begins with the Date of Acceptance. Payment, if any, shall be made
within sixty (60) days of written notice of termination.

RIGHT OF RESCISSION

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be rescinded by
You giving written notice of such rescission to Arbor Acres within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of this Agreement or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of Section 58-64-1 et. seq. of the North Carolina
General Statutes. In the event of such rescission, if it is conditioned by a change in Your
health status, You will receive a full refund of the Entry Fee, less a non-refundable
application fee of § . If the rescission is for a reason other than change
in Your health status, You will receive a refund of the Entry Fec less a non-refundable
fee in the amount of $1,000. Any such refund will be paid by Arbor Acres within sixty
(60) days following receipt of written notice of rescission pursuant to this Section IX.

GENERAL

A. Assignment. This Agreement and the rights and privileges for You under this
Agreement to the common areas, amenities, and services and programs of Arbor
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Acres are personal to You and may not be transferred or otherwise assigned by
You.

Management of the Community. The absolute rights of management are

reserved by Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the
right to accept or reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right
to determine admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement
between Arbor Acres and You, constitutes the entire Agreement between Arbor
Acres and You. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any
statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or
claiming to represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or
promises are set forth in this Agreement.

Capacity. This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by
Arbor Acres’ duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of
Arbor Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement.

Amendments and Modifications. This Agreement shall not be modified,
amended or changed in any respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and
Resident. Each waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations,

Waiver.  Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise
any right, remedy, power or privilege (“Right”} under this Agreement shall
operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right
preclude any exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in
effect unless in writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such
waiver.

Severability.  The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of
this Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the
validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

Interpretation. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and
reference only, and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this
Agreement.

Successors and Assigns. Except as set forth herein, this Agreement will bind and
inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and Your heirs,
executors, administrators, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and permitted
assigns.

Rights Subordinate to Mortgage. Pursuant to the requirements of any lender,
You agree that Your rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of

14



Initials

the lender under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or
in the future by Arbor Acres.

Durable Power of Attorney, Will, Living Will, and Health Care Power of
Attorney. You agree to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney
designating some competent person as attorney-in-fact. You agree to execute a
Will, Living Will, and designate a Durable Health Care Power of Attorney.
Within ninety (90) days of the Date of Acceptance, You will deliver to Arbor
Acres copies of the following documents, and will promptly deliver any changes
to such documents to Arbor Acres during this Agreement: (a) health insurance
coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney; (c) copy of
current Durable Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence
of the executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a
copy of Resident’s will documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate,

Uncontrollable Interruption of Services. No breach of Arbor Acres’
obligations under this Agreement and no liability for injury to Resident or
Resident’s property shall result from an interruption of, or failure to provide,
contracted services due to an act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable
control of Arbor Acres, specifically including (without limitation) strikes or other
forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes, shortages
of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the
Resident. Arbor Acres shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the
usual services in such event.

Confidentiality. Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal,
medical, and financial information You have supplied to Arbor Acres
confidential. You agree that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those
who have a need, in Our judgment, or right to know.

Indemnity. You agree to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from
claims, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs, resulting
from any injury or death to persons and/or any damages to property caused by,
resulting from, attributable to or in any way connected with, directly or indirectly,
Your act or omission or those of Your guests, including private duty nurses or any
other third party service contracted by You. This Section X.N. shall survive
termination of this Agreement.

Affiliations. Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

Notice Provisions. Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and
delivered either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be
sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and
charges prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been
given when delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be
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deemed to have been given on the third business day after being deposited in the
United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to You or to
Your personal representative at the address provided to Us. Notices shall be sent
to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Your address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Your
signature below or such other address You provide to Us in writing.

No Guarantee of Residence. Arbor Acres’ execution of this Agreement does not
guarantee that any apartment or home will be available for Your occupancy
during Your lifetime or prior to the termination of this Agreement for any reason.

Governing Law; Venue, This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted,
construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North
Carolina, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or
provisions that would cause the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than
North Carolina. Except to the extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative
mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any
action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be
brought and enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in
Forsyth County or of the United States District Court for the Middle District of
North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now
or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such
courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-prevailing party shall pay all
reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.

Survival. Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their
terms survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to
their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses under this
Agreement that remain unpaid as of such termination.

[Signature page follows.]
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Resident hereby acknowledges the receipt of the Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement
dated . Resident acknowledges that the Disclosure Statement was
received prior to the execution of this Agreement and the payment of the Entry Fee to Arbor
Acres. Resident understands this matter involves a financial commitment and associated risk, as
well as a legally binding contract. Resident has had the opportunity to consult with an attorney
and/or financial advisor who could advise Resident concerning this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Arbor Acres has executed this Agreement and You have read
and understand this Agreement and have executed this Agreement.

Resident Name:

Your Address

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

Name:

Title;
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BINDING RESERVATION AGREEMENT

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
Winston-Salem, North Carolina

The undersigned applicant(s) [NAME(S)] (“you” — In the event
two people enter into this Agreement (defined below), the term “you” shall apply to them jointly and
severally, except where the context otherwise applies.) hereby tender(s) this Binding Reservation
Agreement (“Agreement”), together with payment of the Reservation Fee (described below), to Arbor
Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (hereinafter
the “Corporation”, “we”, us” or “our”), for the purpose of reserving a living accommodation at the
continuing care retirement community known as Arbor Acres that is owned and operated by the

Corporation.

WHEREAS, Arbor Acres, a continuing care retirement community, is located at 1240 Arbor
Road in Winston-Salem, North Carolina; and

WHEREAS, you desire to reserve a residence at Arbor Acres in new independent living units that
are planned to be constructed at Arbor Acres (“New ILUs™), and the Corporation has approved your
preliminary application for admission.

NOW, THEREFORE, you and the Corporation agree as follows:

L TERM. This Agreement becomes effective when signed by both you and the Corporation, and
the Corporation receives your Reservation Fee (described below). The Agreement terminates in
accordance with Section V of this Agreement.

1L, THE RESERVED LIVING ACCOMMODATION. You have reserved the living
accommodation identified below. This Agreement gives you first priority to enter into a
Residence and Care Agreement for the Reserved Accommodation (defined below) before the
accommodation is made available to other applicants,

Living accommodation (address) , an apartment (as
described in materials presented to you and/or as shown to you during a physical tour), located at
Aldersgate Square in Arbor Acres (hereinafter referred to as the “Reserved Accommodation™).

The Corporation has made every effort to accurately describe the Reserved Accommodation, the
New ILUs and the Arbor Acres community in the information materials and Disclosure Statement
furnished to you. The Reserved Accommodation, the New ILUs and the Arbor Acres community
may vary somewhat from the information furnished to you.

L. PROJECTED DATE OF AVAILABLITY. The date of availability is the actual date at which
the Reserved Accommodation will be declared by the Corporation to be available for occupancy
(“Availability Date”). Such Availability Date is projected to occur in December 2022, It is
understood that such a projected Availability Date for occupancy is an estimate and may vary due
to the actual availability of the Reserved Accommodation. The Corporation will provide you
with reasonable notice of the actual Availability Date.

IVv. FEES.
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A. Entrance Fee Choices. You agree to pay the Corporation an Entrance Fee in the amount of
b (“Entrance Fee”) as a condition of becoming a resident of Arbor
Acres (“Resident™).

B. Terms of Payment. The Reservation Fee (defined below) and Entrance Fee for the Reserved
Accommodation shall be payable as follows:

¢ Ten Percent Deposit. You shall pay to the Corporation a reservation fee equal to ten
percent 10% ( ) of the Entrance Fee (“Reservation Fee™) less non-
binding reservation deposit of $1,000.00. The Reservation Fee shall be paid upon
execution of this Agreement. The Reservation Fee will be placed in an escrow account
with an FDIC-insured financial institution by the Corporation, subject to applicable law.
Interest earned on the Reservation Fee will be retained by the Corporation and will not be
paid to you or credited toward the fees due by you to the Corporation. The Reservation
Fee and any priority deposit you paid to the Corporation, if any, pursuant to a Non-
Binding Reservation Agreement, will be credited to the total Entrance Fee. The Entrance
Fee for your Reserved Accommodation shall not be increased above the Entrance Fee set
forth herein.

e Balance of Entrance Fee. The Entrance Fee balance will be due and payable on or
before the Availability Date. We will give you reasonable notice prior to the Availability
Date.

¢ Monthly/Daily Fee. In addition to the Entrance Fee, you agree to pay a Monthly/Daily
fee for services. As ofthe date of this Agreement, the Monthly/Daily Fee (including
dining plan, if applicable) based on the Reserved Accommodation reserved is currently
$ per month, for occupancy (single or dual). The initial
Monthly/Daily Fee will be equal to the then current Monthly/Daily Fee for the Reserved
Accommodation charged by the Corporation as of the Availability Date and will begin on
the Availability Date, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Corporation. The
Monthly/Daily Fee is subject to change as described in the Disclosure Statement.

If you do not take occupancy by the Availability Date, you shall accept financial responsibility
for the Reserved Accommodation and pay the balance of the Entrance Fee, balance of any unpaid
non-standard costs, and begin paying the applicable Monthly/Daily Fees beginning with the 1st
day after the Availability Date, unless this Agreement is terminated prior to the Availability Date.

TERMINATION AND REFUND, This Agreement will terminate upon any of the following
occurrences:

A. You fail to pay the Reservation Fee;

B. You die (or one of you dies if co-applicants) or if, on account of illness, injury, or incapacity,
you (or one of you if co-applicants) would be precluded from occupying a living
accommodation under the terms of the Corporation’s Residence and Care Agreement, before
the Residence and Care Agreement becomes effective;

C. You submit to the Corporation written notice of termination of this Agreement for any
reason,

D. You fail to sign a Residence and Care Agreement or to pay the balance of applicable fees in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement;

Binding Reservation Agreement—2020 Page 2 of 7



VL

VIL

VIIL

E. You experience changes in your financial status prior to occupancy at Arbor Acres that cause
you to fail to meet Arbor Acres’ financial qualifications for admission;

F. Your future health care needs exceed the level of service provided in the Health Center of
Arbor Acres; or

G. The Corporation terminates this Agreement for good and sufficient cause (such as the New
ILUs are not constructed).

If either you or the Corporation terminates this Agreement, the Corporation shall have the right to
reassign the Reserved Accommodation, and you will have no further rights to that unit except that
a surviving co-applicant shall be given the opportunity to enter into a new Reservation Agreement
for the Reserved Accommodation based on single occupancy or on joint occupancy with another
co-applicant before the Reserved Accommodation is offered to others.

In the event this Agreement is terminated for any reason, the Corporation shall refund any funds
paid toward the Entrance Fee without interest, less an administrative fee equal to two percent
(2%) of the Reservation Fee for the Reserved Accommodation, less any non-standard costs
incurred by the Corporation at your request. Your refund will be paid within sixty (60) days of
receipt of your or the Corporation’s written notice to terminate.

RIGHT OF RESCISSION

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be rescinded by yvou by
giving written notice of such rescission to the Corporation within thirty (30) days following the
later of the execution of this Agreement or the receipt of a disclosure statement that meets the
requirements of Section 58-64-1, et seq. of the North Carolina General Statutes. In the event of
such rescission, you shall receive a refund of any funds paid toward the Entrance Fee without
interest, less any non-standard costs incurred by the Corporation at your request. You will not be
required to move into Arbor Acres before the expiration of such thirty (30) day period. Any such
refund shall be paid by the Corporation within sixty (60) days following receipt of written notice
of rescission pursuant to this paragraph.

PRECEDENT AGREEMENT, This Agreement is precedent to the Residence and Care
Agreement. Upon execution, the Residence and Care Agreement will immediately replace this
Agreement. Before you are entitled to enter into the Residence and Care Agreement, we must
determine that you qualify for residency at Arbor Acres.

GENERAL

A. Compliance with Applicable Laws. You and the Corporation will operate in full
compliance with all laws, rules, regulations and ordinances promulgated by lawful
governmental authorities.

B. Confidentiality. The Corporation has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical
and financial information you have supplied to it confidential. You consent to the release of
any of your personal and medical records maintained by the Corporation (i) to the
Corporation’s employees, staff and agents; (ii) to persons and organizations from whom you
receive health care services; (iii) to third-party payors of health care services provided by the
Corporation or other organizations; and (iv) to others deemed reasonably necessary by the
Corporation for purposes of treatment, payment and operations of the Corporation, consistent
with applicable state and federal health care privacy laws. You understand and agree that
authorized agents of the state or federal government, including the Long Term Care
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Ombudsman, may obtain your records without your written consent or authorization. Release
of your records for other purposes shall be made in accordance with applicable law, with a
specific authorization from you or your legal representative where required.

C. Assipnment. Your rights and privileges under this Agreement are personal to you and may
not be transferred or assigned by you or otherwise.

D. Management of the Corporation. Your rights will not include any managerial or ownership
interest in your Reserved Accommodation, Arbor Acres, or the Corporation. The absolute
rights of management are reserved by the Corporation, its Board of Directors and its
administrators as delegated by said Board of Directors. The Corporation reserves the right to
accept or deny any person for residency. Residents do not have the right to determine
admission or terms of admission of any other Resident. The Corporation reserves the right to
amend, implement or terminate policies and/or guidelines related to the operation of Arbor
Acres in its sole discretion,

E. Affiliation, The Corporation has no formal affiliations with any religious, charitable, or
other nonprofit organization.

F. Indemnity. You agree to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless from claims, damages or
expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs, resulting from any injury or death to
persons and any damages to property caused by, resulting from, attributable to or in any way
connected with your negligent or intentional act or omission.

G. Separability. The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity or
enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

H. Schedule of Fees. You have been given a current copy of the Schedule of Fees as adopted by
the Corporation. You understand that these documents will change from time to time as
described in the Disclosure Statement.

I. Entire Apreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire contract between the Corporation
and you. The Corporation shall not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements,
representations or promises made by any person representing or assuming to represent the
Corporation, unless such statements, representations or promises are set forth in this
Agreement or in an amendment to this Agreement signed by the Corporation’s
President/CEOQ and by you. Electronic (¢.g., pdf) versions of this Agreement shall have the
same legal effect as originals, and all of which, when fully executed, shall constitute one and
the same instrument.

J. Successors and Assigns. Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to
the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Corporation and the heirs, executors,
responsible parties, powers of attorney, administrators and assigns of you.

K. Transfer of Property. You agree not to make any gift or other transfer of assets for the
purpose of evading your obligations under this Agreement, or if such gift or transfer would
render you unable to meet such obligations under this Agreement. Gifts or transfers of assets
in this manner, which result in your inability to meet your financial obligations in accordance
with this Agreement, will entitle the Corporation to terminate this Agreement.
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L. Capacity. This Agreement has been exccuted on our behalf by our duly authorized agent,
and no officer, director, agent or employee of ours shall have any personal liability hereunder
to you under any circumstances.

M. Tax Considerations. You should consult with your tax advisor regarding the tax
considerations associated with this Agreement.

N. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of North
Carolina without regard to conflict of laws principles.

0. Amendments and Partial Invalidation. Generally, this Agreement can be changed only by
mutual written consent, However, we can make changes without your consent to keep the
Agreement in compliance with applicable laws and regulations; provided, that the changes we
make do not substantially reduce your benefits under the Agreement, we provide notice of
such change not less than thirty (30) days before the change, and we provide an amendment
to this contract for your review and signature. If any provision in this Agreement is
invalidated, all other provisions will remain in force.

P. Waivers. Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any right,
remedy, power, or privilege ("Right") under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof,
nor shall any single or partial exercise of any Right preclude any other or further exercise of
the same or of any Right, nor shall any waiver of any Right with respect to any other
occurrence. No waiver shall be effective unless it is in writing and is signed by the party
asserted to have granted such waiver.

Q. Survival. Those rights and obligations that have accrued as a result of the operation of this
Agreement shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their
terms survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to their terms,
as shall any obligation of a Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or her stay at Arbor Acres
that remain unpaid as of such termination.

R. Gender. Throughout this Agreement, the use of the masculine gender shall include the
feminine, and the use of singular shall include the plural.

S. Interpretation. Headings are for convenience and reference purposes only and shall not
affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

T. Notice Provisions. Any notices, consents, or other communications to the Corporation
hereunder (collectively “notices”) will be in writing and addressed as follows:

Arbor Acres:

Office of the President/CEO

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc..
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27104

Applicant:
Your address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after your
signature below.

You are responsible for notifying us of any changes in address and/or telephone number.

[Signatures Follow on Next Page]
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The Corporation will stand behind all of the statements, promises and representations in this
Agreement, but no others. If you feel something has been promised to you, but it is not specifically
mentioned in this Agreement, now is the time to discuss it — before you sign this Agreement.

I (we) understand this matter involves a financial commitment and associated risk as well as a
legally binding contract. I (we) was (were) encouraged to consult with an attorney and/or fimancial
advisor who could advise me (us) concerning this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement in duplicate, as of the
day and year first above written, one duplicate copy of this Agreement being retained by each

party.

Your signature below certifies that you have read, understand and accept this Agreement as of this
{current date) day of R

ARBOR ACRES UNITED APPLICANT(S)

METHODIST RETIREMENT (or Applicant(s)’s Attorney in Fact) (*)
COMMUNITY, INC.

By (signature) (signature) (SEAL)
Printed Name (signature) (SEAL)
Title Current Address: Street

City, State, Zip Code

Telephone

(*} If Attorney—in-Fact signs on behalf of the Applicant(s), a Filed Power of Attorney document must be
attached to this Agreement.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT
OF
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road
Winston-Salem, N. C, 27104

As of the day and year above written in this Binding Reservation Agreement, the undersigned
Applicant(s) acknowledges receipt of the Disclosure Statement of Arbor Acres United Methodist
Retirement Community, Inc. dated , 20____. The Disclosure Statement was
received prior to the execution of this Agreement or prior to or at the time of the transfer of any money or
other property to the facility, whichever occurred first.

As a prospective resident, the facility’s representatives have encouraged me to read the Disclosure
Statement in its entirety before entering into any contract or written agreement or paying any fee.

I understand the facility, like all other continuing care facilities in the State of North Carolina, is subject
to an act concerning registration and disclosure by continuing care facilities (the “Act”). Registration
under the Act does not constitute approval, recommendation, or endorsement of the facility by the
Department of Insurance or the State of North Carolina, nor does such registration evidence the accuracy
or completeness of the information in the Disclosure Statement.

I understand this matter involves a financial commitment and associated risk as well as a legally binding
contract. In evaluating the Disclosure Statement and the Financial Statements prior to any commitment, I
was encouraged to consult with an attorney and/or financial advisor who could review these documents
with me, if any matters contained herein are not clear, including an understanding of solvency and deficit
fund balance levels for this and other continuing care facilities.

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST APPLICANT(S)

RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. (or Applicant(s)’s Attorney in Fact) (*)
By (signature) (signature) (SEAL)
Printed Name (signature) (SEAL)
Title

(*) If Attorney-in-Fact signs on behalf of the Applicant(s), a Filed Power of Attorney document must be
attached to this Agreement,
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VOLUNTARY ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

This is a voluntary agreement, and it is not a condition for admission to this facility. You may
receive care and treatment even if you do not sign this agreement.

This Voluntary Arbitration Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC., a North
Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”), and

(“Resident”) [and
(“Resident’s Representative’}], collectively
referred to as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party.” This Agreement is an addendum to the
residence and admission agreement between the Parties (the “Residency Agreement™), for which
consideration has been given and received by the Parties. In further consideration for this
Agreement, the Parties acknowledge they will receive mutual benefits from resolution of any
dispute or controversy through efficient arbitration and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by the Parties.

1. Parties Defined. Arbor Acres includes, but is not limited to, the operator, governing
body, officers, directors, members, administrator, employees, managers, agents, and any
parent company, subsidiary, or affiliates, and any person or entity alleged to be
responsible for the acts or omissions of Arbor Acres. Resident includes, but is not limited
to, Resident, Resident’s Representative, guardian, conservator, attorney-in-fact, agent,
sponsor, or any other person whose claim is derived through or on behalf of Resident,
including, without limitation, his or her spouse, child, parent, executor, administrator,
personal representative, heir, survivor, and anyone entitled to bring a wrongful death
claim relating to Resident,

2. Agreement to Arbitrate All Disputes. This is a voluntary agreement by the Parties to
have all disputes resolved through binding arbitration. Arbitration is an out-of-court
alternate form of dispute resolution, decided by an impartial third party. Arbitration is
different than traditional litigation in the court system, which has a judge, sometimes a
jury, and trial. In the event of any dispute or controversy between the Parties, including
those arising out of the diagnosis, treatment, or care of Resident by Arbor Acres, the
dispute or controversy shall be submitted to binding arbitration.

3. Application of Federal Arbitration Act. The Parties agree that the Residency
Agreement involves interstate commerce, through Arbor Acres’ Medicare participation
and with any purchase of items from outside the state of North Carolina. Accordingly, the
Federal Arbitration Act applies to this Agreement.

4. Duty to Demand Arbitration. It is the claimant’s responsibility to demand arbitration
by giving notice to the other Party describing the nature of the controversy and the
remedy sought. If a Party overlooks its obligation to arbitrate all disputes and participates
in litigating a matter in the court system, such Party will not be deemed to have waived
the right to compel arbitration, as long as the motion to compel arbitration is served
before the first day of trial. '

5. Waiver of Judge, Jury, and Trial. No Appeal. By signing this Agreement, you are
waiving the right to have any and all disputes decided by a judge or by a jury trial. The
arbitrator’s decision is final and binding. There is no right to an appeal unless permitted
by state statute.
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10.
11.

12.

13.

14.

Arbitrator, Within fifteen (15) days after a Party has given written notice to the other
Party of demand for arbitration of a dispute or controversy, the Parties to the dispute or
controversy agree that American Healthy Lawyers Association (“AHLA™) will
administer the arbitration. In the event AHLA is unavailable, unwilling, or unable to
administer the arbitration or appoint an arbitration panel, the Parties will agree on an
arbitrator, If the Parties are unable to agree on the arbitrator, a sole arbitrator shall be
appointed, upon request of a Party, by the court. The arbitrator shall hold a hearing within
a reasonable time from the date of notice of selection of the neutral arbitrator,

Expenses. The arbitration expenses will be apportioned equally among the Parties, or
will be paid as provided in the award,

Representation by Lawyer(s). The Parties may be represented by a lawyer prior to,
during, and after arbitration. '

Grievances and Discharge/Transfers. Despite this Agreement, Resident may file its
grievances directly with Arbor Acres, with the long term care ombudsman, or with any
applicable regulatory agency. Appeals of involuntary discharges or transfers will be heard
by an administrative law judge as required by state/federal laws and regulations.
Confidentiality. The discovery, arbitration, and arbitration award are confidential.
Severability. If any term, phrase, or provision in this Agreement is held to be invalid or
unenforceable by law, this Agreement will be deemed amended to conform with such law
and will otherwise remain in full force and effect, as it is the Parties” intent to ensure that
any dispute is resolved solely by arbitration.

Survival. This Agreement applies to Resident’s readmissions to Arbor Acres and
survives any termination of the Residency Agreement.

Care Will Be Provided Regardless. Care, diagnosis, or trcatment will be provided
whether or not Resident signs this Agreement.

Right to Revoke. Resident may revoke this Agreement by providing written notice to
Arbor Acres within ten (10) days of signature. Any disputes arising prior to revocation
will remain subject to this Agreement.

You are strongly encouraged to consult with an attorney or a trusted advisor before signing
this Agreement. You have the opportunity to ask questions before signing this document,
Please do not hesitate to ask any questions that you may have.

Signature of Resident Date
Signature of Resident’s Representative (if applicable) Date
Signature of Arbor Acres Representative™® Date

*Provision  of  services by  Arbor  Acres  will  conmstitute  acceptance
in absence of Arbor Acres’ signature.
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